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THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION UNDER
ITS GUARANTY ARE OBLIGATIONS SOLELY OF THE CORPORATION AND ARE NOT
BACKED BY THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE UNITED STATES. THE
CERTIFICATES ARE EXEMPT FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND ARE “EXEMPTED SECURITIES” WITHIN
THE MEANING OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.

The Guaranteed Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates (“Certificates”) are issued and guaranteed
by the Federal National Mortgage Association (the “Corporation” or ‘“Fannie Mae”), a corporation
organized and existing under the laws of the United States, under the authority contained in Section
304(d) of the Federal National Mortgage Association Charter Act (12 11.S.C. 1716 et seq.).

Each Certificate offered hereby and by the Supplement related hereto will represent an undivided
interest in a pool of mortgage loans (a “Pool”) to be formed by the Corporation. Each Pool will
consist of either first lien or (if the related Prospectus Supplement so provides) second lien-residential
mortgage loans or participation interests therein (“Mortgage Loans”) either previously owned by the
Corporation or purchased by it in connection with the formation of the Pool. Each Pool will consist
entirely of one of the following: (i) fixed-rate level installment Mortgage Loans and/or fixed-rate
graduated payment Mortgage Loans having deferred interest features that have expired prior to the
issuance of the Certificates, (ii) fixed-rate growing equity Mortgage Loans that provide for scheduled -
annual increased payments, with the full amount of the increase applied to principal, (iii) fixed-rate
graduated payment Mortgage Loans having deferred interest features that have not expired for some
or all of such Mortgage Loans prior to the issuance of the Certificates, (iv) conventional variable-rate

California Mortgage Loans, (v) other adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans, some of which may have
deferred interest features, (vi) fixed-rate Mortgage Loans secured by multifamily projects consisting
of five or more dwelling units, some of which may have balloon payments or other unique features and
(vii) adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans secured by multifamily projects consisting of five or more
dwelling units, some of which may have balloon payments, deferred interest or other unique features.

Interests in each Pool will be evidenced by a separate issue of Certificates. Information regarding
the aggregate principal amount and characteristics of the related Pool (including the type of Mortgage
Loans in the Pool) will be furnished in the related Prospectus Supplement at the time of the
identification of the Pool.

Unless the related Prospectus Supplement provides otherwise, Certificates will be available in
book-entry form only.

The Corporation will have certain contractual servicing responsibilities with respect to each Pool.
In addition, the Corporation will be obligated to distribute scheduled monthly installments of principal
and interest (adjusted to reflect the Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee) to Certificateholders,
whether or not received. The Corporation also will be obligated to distribute to Certificateholders the
full principal balance of any foreclosed Mortgage Loan, whether or not such principal balance is
actually recovered.

The date of this Prospectus is November 1, 1990

Retain this Prospectus for future reference, This Prospectus may not be used to consummate sales
of Certificates unless accompanied by a Prospectus Supplement.



No salesman, dealer, bank or other person has been authorized to give any information
or to make any representation other than those contained in this Prospectus and, if given
or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been
authorized by the Corporation. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a
solicitation of an offer to buy any securities other than the Certificates offered hereby and
by the related Supplement nor an offer of the Certificates to any person in any state or
other jurisdiction in which such offer would be unlawful.

The Certificates have not been approved or disapproved by the Securities and Ex-
change Commission or any state securities commission nor has the Commission or any state
securities commission passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Prospectus. Any
representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Caption Page
Summary of Prospectus . A- 3
The Mortgage Pools A- 6
Yield Considerations .. . . . . . A- 8
Maturity and Prepayment Assumptions . . A-14
Purchase Program . . . A-17
Description of Certificates . A-19
Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences . .. A-27
Legal Opmion . . . A-32
ERISA Considerations . . A-32
Federal National Mortgage Association ' . B-1
Capitalization . . B- 2
Selected Financial Data B- 3
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations . B- 4
Government Regulation and Charter Act. . B-18
Business B-20
Recent Legslative and Regulatory Developments B-38
Management . B-40
Index to Financial Statements and Independent Auditors’ Report C-1



SUMMARY OF PROSPECTUS

The following summary of certain pertinent information is qualified in its entirety by reference to
the detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus and by reference to the information
with respect to each pool of either first lien or second lien residential mortgage loans or participation
interests therein (“Mortgage Loans”) contained in the supplement to this Prospectus (a “Prospectus
Supplement”) to be prepared in connection with the issue of Guaranteed Mortgage Pass-Through
Certificates (the “Certificates”) evidencing undivided interests in such pool of Mortgage Loans

(“POOI”) .

Title of Security ............. Guaranteed Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates.

Issuer and Guarantor......... Federal National Mortgage Association (the “Corporation”), a
corporation organized and existixif under the laws of the United
States. See “Federal National Mo Association” and the

remainder of the Prospectus following that section. The obliga-
tions of the Corporation under its iuaranty are obligations solel
of the Corporation and are not backed by, nor entitled to, the fuﬂ
faith and credit of the United States.

Description of Security ....... Each Certificate will represent a fractional undivided interest in a
Pool of Mortgage Loans to be formed by the Corporation. A
Certificate in book-entry form will initially represent at least
$1,000 unpaid principal amount of Mortgage Loans. Unless the
related Pros s Supplement provides otherwise, Certificates
will be available in book-entry form only and will not be converti-
ble to definitive form. :

Interest ..................... Interest on each Mortgage Loan will be passed through monthly to
Certificateholders, commencing on the 25th day of the month
following the month of initial issuance of the related Certificates
(or, if such 25th day is not a business day, on the first business
day next succeeding such 25th day). For all Pools containing
fixed-rate Mortgage Loans, interest will be passed through at a
uniform Pass-Through Rate which will be specified in the Pro-
spectus Supplement and will not be greater than the lowest
annual interest rate borne by any Mortgage Loan in the related
Pool, less a specified minimum annual percentage represenﬁng
compensation for servieing and the Corporation’s guaranty an
less, in the case of Pools containing graduated payment Mort-
gage Loans with deferred interest features that have not expired,
deferred interest, which is added to the principal balances of the
underlying Mortgage Loans. For Pools containing variable-rate
Mortgage Loans (“VRM Pools”), interest will be passed through
on the basis of a Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate, which is
le\zual at any time to the then-current weighted average of the

ortgage Interest Rates of all Mortgage Loans in the related
VRM Pool, less a specified fixed annual percentage representing
compensation for servicing and the Corporation’s guaranty. For
Pools containing adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans (“ARM
Pools”), interest will be passed through on each Mortgage Loan
at the interest rate at the time applicable thereto less (i) the
Corporation’s servicing fee and guaranty fee applicable to such
Mortgage Loan and (ii) any deferred interest that is added to
the principal balance of such Mortgage Loan pursuant to its
terms. See “Yield Considerations.”

Principal (including
prepayments) .............. Passed through monthly, commencing on the 25th day of the
month following the month of initial issuance of the related
Certificates (or, if such 25th day is not a business day, on the
first business day next succeeding such 25th day). See “Matur-
ity and Prepayment Assumptions” and “Description of Certifi-
cates.”
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Guaranty The Corporation 1s obhgated to distnbute scheduled monthly
installments of principal and interest (adjusted to refiect the
Corporation’s servicing and guarantv fee} on the Morigage
Loans 1n a Pool, whether or not received. The Corporation 1s
also obhigated to distribute to Certificateholders the full prnincipal
balance of any foreclosed Mortgage Loan. whether or not such
principal balance 15 actually recovered. If the Corporation were
unable to perform these guaranty obhigations, distnbutions to
Certificateholders would consist solely of payments and other
recovenes on Mortgage Loans and. accordingly. dehinquencies
and defaults would affect monthly distmbutions to Certificate-
holders. See “Description of Certificates— The Corporation’s
Guarantv

Servicing The Corporation will be responsible tor servicing the Mortgage
Loans and will, in most cases. contract with mortgage lenders to
perform certain servicing functions on its behalf See “Descrnp-
uon of Certificates— Servicing Through Lenders

The Mortgage Pools Each Pool will consist enurely of Mortgage Loans of only one of
the following types: (1) fixed-rate level mstallment Mortgage
Loans and/or fixed-rate graduated pavment Mortgage Loans
having deferred interest features that have expired prior to the
1ssuance of the Certificates, (1} fixed-rate growing equity Mort-
gage Loans that provide for scheduled annual mcreased pay-
ments, with the full amount of the increase applied to principal,
(m) fixed-rate graduated payment Mortgage Loans with de-
ferred interest features that have not expired for some or all of
the Mortgage Loans prior to the issuance of the Certificates,
(1v) conventiona! variable-rate Califorma Mortgage Loans,
{v) other adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans. some of which may
have deferred interest features, (vi) fixed-rate Mortgage Loans
secured by multifamily projects consisting of five or more dwell-
Ing umits, some of which may have balloon payments or other
unique features and {vii) adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans se-
cured by multifamily projects consisting of five or more dwelling
unis, some of which may have balloon payments, deferred
interest or other unmique features Unless the related Prospectus
Supplement provides. otherwise, the Mortgage Loans in each
Pool will have unpaid principal balances aggregating not less
than $1,000.000. Each Mortgage Loan will meet the apphicable
standards set forth under “Purchase Program™ and. unless the
related Prospectus Suppiement provides otherwise, will be se-
cured by a first lien on a residential property. Pool intormation
as to the tvpe of Mortgage Loans uncluding whether such
Mortgage Loans are conventional Mortgage Loans or are insured
by the Federal Housing Admmnistration or guaranteed by the
Department of Veterans Affairs), the aggregate principal balance
of the Mortgage Loans as of the Issue Date the Pass-Through
Rate for Certaficates evidencing interests in fixed-rate Mortgage
Loans (other than fixed-rate graduated pavment Mortgage
Loans with deferred interest features that have not expired for
some or all of the Mortgage Loans prior 1o the 1ssuance of the
Certificates ). the Pool Accrual Rate for Certificates evidencing
mnterests in pools of graduated pavment Mortgage Loans with
deferred interest features that have not expired for some or all of
the Mortgage Loans prior to the 1ssuance of the Certaficates, the
then-current Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate for Certifi-
cates evidencing interests in VRM Poois. the then-current Pool
Accrual Rate for Certificates evidencing interests in ARM Pools,
and the latest matumty date of any Mortgage Loan will be
contained 1n the related Prospectus Suppiement. For a VRM
Pool or an ARM Pool, the related Prospectus Supplement will
also contain information respecting the index upon which adjust-
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Financial Resuits .

ments are based, the frequency of interest rate and pavment
adjustments and any maximum or minimum hmtations thereon,
the Corporation’s fixed or weighted average servicing and guar-
anty fee, and, 1n the case of an ARM Pool, whether the underly-
ing Mortgage Loans contain provisions for the deferral of
nterest.

Fanme Mae earned net income of $807 million in 19892, compared

with $507 million in 1988 and $376 million 1n 1987 Net mcome
for the first nine months of 1990 was $866 milhon, compared
with $570 million 1n the first nme months of 1989

The primary reasons for the growth 1n net income in the first mne

months of 1990 from the corresponding period 1n 1989 were
Increases mn net interest income, guaranty fee income and miscel-
laneous income. The increase in net interest income was primar-
1ly due to growth 1n both the average investment balance and the
net interest margin (i.e., net yield on interest-earming assets)
Increased guaranty fee income was a result of growth in MBS
outstanding The higher miscellaneous income was pnmaniy
due to an increase 1n fees earned for 1ssuing real estate invest-
ment conduit (REMIC) secunties.

The growth in net income in 1989 resulted primanly from a

continued increase in the spread between the vield on the Corpo-
ration’s mortgage and other investments and 1ts cost of debt and
from growth 1n the size of the average investment balance. Other
factors that contributed to the higher net income 1n 1989 include
increased guaranty fee income and a reduction 1n the provision
for losses. Net income in 1988 surpassed 1987 net ncome
mainly because of increased interest spread and a larger earning
asset base, incressed guaranty fee income, a gamn on sale of
mortgages, and a lower effective tax rate.

The Corporation’s net mortgage portfolio totaied $110.9 billion at

September 30, 1990, compared with $104.0 bilhon at Septem-
ber 31, 1989. Mortgage-backed securities outstanding at Sep-
tember 30, 1990 totaled” $281.8 billion, compared with $208.9
billion at September 30, 1989.
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THE MORTGAGE POOLS

The Federal National Mortgage Association (the “Corporation” or “Fannie Mae’') has 1mmple-
mented a program for (a) the setting aside of residential mortgage loans or participation interests
theremn (the “Mortgage Loans”) into separate pools (the “Pools”) bearng distinctive identification
and (b) the issuance and sale of trust certificates of beneficial interest evidencing pro rata undivided
ownership interests in the Mortgage Loans compnsing each separate Pool (the “Guaranteed Pass-
Through Certificates” or “Certificates”}. If so specified in the related Prospectus Supplement, each
Pool will consist of participation interests representing a spectfied undivided percentage interest in
residential mortgage loans, rather than whole residential mortgage loans. The Mortgage Loans may be
purchased by the Corporation expressly for the Pools or may be Mortgage Loans that have been held
by the Corporation m its own portfolio. Each Pool will consist of Mortgage Loans evidenced by
promissory notes (the “Mortgage Notes”) secured by first (or second, if the related Prospectus
Suppiement so provides), mortgages or deeds of trust (the “Mortgages™) on either one- to four-family
(aiso referred to as “single-family”’) residential properties or multifamily projects consisting of five or
more dwelling units (the “Mortgaged Properties”). A Pool will contain Mortgage Loans of only one of
the following types: (i) fixed-rate level payment Mortgage Loans (“Level Payment Mortgage Loans”)
and/or GPMs (as defined below) with deferred interest features that have expired pnior to the
ssuance of the Certificates (“Fully Graduated GPMs”), (ii) fixed-rate growing equity Mortgage
Loans that provide for scheduled annual increased payments, with the full amount of the increase
applied to principal (“GEMs”), (iii) fixed-rate graduated payment Mortgage Loans with deferred
nterest features (“GPMs”) that have not expired for some or all of the Mortgage Loans prior to the
1ssuance of the Certificates (“Graduating GPMs”), (iv) conventional vanable-rate California Mort-
gage Loans (“VRMs”}, (v) other adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans (“ARMs"”), some of which may
have deferred interest features, (v1) fixed-rate Mortgage Loans secured by multifamily projects
consisting of five or more dwelling units (“Multifamily Mortgage Loans”), some of which may have
balloon payments or other unique features and (vii) adjustable-rate Multifamily Mortgage Loans,
some of which may have balloon payments, deferred interest or other unique features. The Mortgage
Loans may be either conventional Mortgage Loans (1.e., not insured or guaranteed by any United
States government agency) or Mortgage Loans that are either insured by the Federal Housing
Adminstration or guaranteed by the Department of Veterans Affairs (‘‘Conventional Mortgage
Loans” and “FHA/VA Mortgage Loans,” respectively). The Mortgage Loans purchased expressly for
the Pools will be sold to the Corporation by eligible institutions that meet certain requirements set
forth under “Purchase Program” and are referred to herein as “Lenders.” Unless the related
Prospectus Supplement provides otherwise, no Pool will consist of Mortgage Loans having an
aggregate unpaid principal balance of less than $1,000,000 on the first day of the month of issuance of
the related Certificates See ‘““Purchase Program—Mortgage Loan Ehgibility” for a description of
certain critena applicable to the ehgibility of Mortgage Loans for inclusion n Pools.

Interests 1n each Pool will be evidenced by a separate series of Certificates (an “Issue”). The
Corporation will acquire the Mortgage Loans that it has purchased expressly for Pools under purchase
contracts. By entering into such contracts, the Corporation will obligate 1tself to issue Certificates to,
or to the order of, the Lenders named in the contracts, upon delivery to the Corporation of the
required Mortgage Loans conforming to the Corporation’s standards. The Corporation will not
insure or guarantee the performance by any Lender of its obligation to deliver Mortgage
Loans and, correspondingly, does not insure or guarantee the performance by any person
of amy obligation to deliver Certificates.

The Mortgage Loans in each Pool of Level Payment Mortgage Loans, Fully Graduated GPM:s,
GEMs or fixed-rate Multifamily Mortgage Loans (collectively, the “Fixed-Rate Mortgage Loans”),
will be held for the benefit of the holders of Certificates (“Certificateholders” or “Holders”) pursuant
to the combined terms of a trust indenture, as amended, executed by the Corporation 1 its corporate
capacity and in its capacity as Trustee (the Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 1981, as
modified and amended by a First Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 15, 1982, a Second
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Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 1, 1982, a Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of
August 1, 1983, a Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 1, 1984, a Fifth Supplemental
Indenture dated as of July 1, 1984, a Sixth Suppiemental Indenture dated as of May 1, 1985, a
Seventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 1, 1986, and an Eighth Supplemental Indenture
dated 8s of January 1, 1987, being heren called the “Fixed-Rate Trust Indenture”), and a supplement
thereto for the related Issue (the “Issue Supplement”). The Mortgage Loans in each Pool of VRMs
will be held for the benefit of Certificateholders pursuant to the combined terms of an Issue
Supplement and a Trust Indenture dated as of July 1, 1982, as modified and amended by a First
Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 1, 1983, a Second Suppiemental Indenture dated as of
September 1, 1984, a Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 1, 1985, a Fourth
Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 1, 1985, and a Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated as of
January 1, 1987, each executed by the Corporation 1 its corporate capacity and in its capacity as
Trustee (such Trust Indenture, as amended, being hereinafter called the “VRM Trust Indenture”).
The Mortgage Loans 1n each Pool of Graduating GPMs and ARMs will be held for the benefit of the
Certificateholders pursuant to the combined terms of an Issue Supplement and a Trust Indenture
dated as of July 1, 1984, as modified and amended by a First Supplemental Indenture dated as of
January 1, 1987 (the “GPM Trust Indenture”) and a T'rust Indenture dated as of July 1, 1984, as
modified and amended by a First Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 1, 1985, and a Second
Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 1, 1987 (the “ARM Trust Indenture”), respectively,
each executed by the Corporation 1n its corporate capacity and 1n its capacity as Trustee. The Fixed-
Rate Trust Indenture, the VRM Trust Indenture, the GPM Trust Indenture, and the ARM Trust
Indenture are herem, collectively, referred to as the “Trust Indenture” or “TI"” where common terms
and provisions are being referred to or described. Certain capitalized words or series of words in this
Prospectus refer to and are further defined in the Trust Indenture. The Corporation will be
responsible for the adminstration and servicing of the Mortgage Loans in the Pool, including the
supervision of the servicing activities of Lenders, if appropriate, the collection and receipt of payments
from Lenders, and the remttance of distributions and certain reports to Certificateholders. The
Corporation will be entitled to receive a fee for its guaranty obligations and its services pursuant to the
Trust Indenture. The fee to the Corporation for any Mortgage Loan (out of which it will compensate
Lenders for servicing the Mortgage Loans) will, as to any Pool containing Fixed-Rate Mortgage Loans
(a “Fizxed-Rate Pool”), be equal to the difference between the annual interest rate borne by the
Mortgage Loan and the annual rate of interest paid to Certificateholders at the Pass-Through Rate for
the related Fixed-Rate Pool or the Accrual Rate for Pools contaning Gradusting GPMs (a “"GPM
Pool”). For any Pool containing ARMs or VRMs (an “ARM Pool” or “VRM Pool”), the Corporation
will sumilarly compensate 1tself from interest payments on the underlying ARMs or VRMs as to each
ARM or VRM Pool. The Corporation will reserve the right to remove the servicing responsibility
from a Lender at any time 1f 1t considers such removal to be in the best interest of Certificateholders.
In such event, the Corporation will meet its obligation to provide servicing either by directly servicing
the Mortgage Loans 1tself or by finding a replacement Lender.

The Corporation’s obligations with respect to the Mortgage Loans will be limited to the servicing
responsibilities under the Trust Indenture, and, 1n the event of any delinquency in payment or loss on
any Mortgage Loan, 1ts obligation to make supplemental payments in amounts described herein under
“Description of Certificates—The Corporation’s Guaranty.”

Because the principal amount of the Mortgage Loans in a Pool will decline (with the exception of
GPM Pools and certain ARM Poois that contain ARMs providing for deferred interest) monthly as
principal payments, including prepayments, are received, each Certificate Principal Balance (defined
as to any Certificate to be the principal amount of Mortgage Loans in the related Pool evidenced
thereby) will also dechne over time. See “Maturity and Prepayment Assumptions.”



YIELD CONSIDERATIONS

Effect of Delay

The effective yield to Certificateholders mn all Pools will be reduced shghtly below the yeld
otherwise produced by the apphcable Pass-Through Rate, Pool Accrual Rate or Weighted Average
Pass-Through Rate because the distribution of interest that accrues from the first day of each month
will not be made until the 25th day of the month following the month of accrual.

Fixed-Rate Pools

Each Fizxed-Rate Pool will consist of Mortgage Loans that bear interest at annual rates
{“Mortgage Interest Rates”) that are fixed (and may inciude Fully Graduated GPMs). Such a Fixed-
Rate Pool may mclude Mortgage Loans that bear different Mortgage Interest Rates. The Pass-
Through Rate of mterest payable to Certificatehoiders of each such Issue wili be equal to the lowest
Mortgage Interest Rate borne by any Mortgage Loan in the related Pool, less a specified mmimum
annual percentage representing compensation for servicing and the Corporation’s guaranty. Because
the Pass-Through Rate payable with respect to each Mortgage Loan 1n a Pool will be the same, any
disproportionate principal prepayments among Mortgage Loans beanng different Mortgage Interest
Rates will not affect the return to Certificateholders.

When a Mortgage Loan 1s prepaid or otherwise liquidated, the proceeds of such prepayment or
liquidation wall, uniess the Corporation elects 1 its discretion to make any distribution thereof in the
following month, be passed through to Certificateholders 1n the second month following the month of
such prepayment or other liquidation. Because the Corporation agrees to distribute on each
Distribution Date to each Certificateholder an amount as to interest representing one month’s interest
at the Pass-Through Rate on the Certificate Principal Balance, any prepayment or other liqmdation of
a Mortgage Loan and the timing of the distribution of the proceeds thereof will have no effect on the
interest return to Certificateholders.

Assuming performance by the Corporation of its obhgations under 1ts guaranty, the net effect of
each distribution respecting interest will be the pass-through to each Certificateholder of an amount
that is equal to one month’s interest at the Pass-Through Rate on the Certificate Principal Balance of
such Holder’s Certificate. See “Description of Certificates—Payments on Mortgage Loans; Distribu-
tions on Certificates.”

GPM Pools

A GPM Poot will consist of fixed-rate fully amortizing Mortgage Loans providing for monthly
payments that increase annually for a period of years (generally between three to seven) and are level
thereafter. During all or part of the penod 1n which monthly payments are increasing, those payments
will not be sufficient to cover the full amount of interest on the Graduating GPM at the Mortgage
Interest Rate borne thereby The amount of each such interest nsufficiency will be added to the
principal balance of the Graduating GPM, which will accrue interest thereafter on this new increased

amount.

GPM Pools will have charactenstics sumilar to Fixed-Rate Pools descnibed above commencing
with the time at which payments are sufficient to cover interest on the principal balances of the
underlying Graduating GPMs. Pror to that time, the Certificates evidencing interests in GPM Pools
will provide for the monthly distribution of the scheduled mnterest payment on each Mortgage Loan in
the Pool less the Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee attributable thereto, the amount of any such
fee being equal to the difference between the fixed Mortgage Interest Rate at which interest accrues on
the Graduating GPM and the Pool Accrual Rate borne by the related Certificates.

The Prospectus Supplement relating to a GPM Pool wili set forth the period over which payments
on the Graduating GPMs increase.
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The Corporation’s guaranty of Certificates evidencing interests in GPM Pools will cover the
pnncipal amount of each underlying Graduating GPM, including any portion thereof representing
deferred interest. The Corporation will, following the period (the “Deferred Interest Period™) dunng
which such payments are insufficient to cover interest at the Mortgage Interest Rate on their then-
outstanding principal balances, including deferred interest that has been added thereto, also be
obligated to distribute on each Distribution Date one month’s interest at the Pool Accrual Rate on the
then-outstanding principal balances of the underlymg Graduating GPMs. During the Deferred
Interest Penod. the Corporation’s guaranty will cover, as to each underlying Graduating GPM, the
amount of each scheduled payment less the Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee apphcable

thereto.

VRM Pools

A VRM Pool will be composed of Califorma home Mortgage Loans bearing mterest at rates that
will vary in response to a cost of funds mndex published by the Federal Home Loan Bank of San
Francisco as described 1n the Prospectus Supplement. The mterest rates will be adjusted penodically
at uniform specified intervals. The Prospectus Supplement to be prepared with respect to each Issue
will specify the fixed annual percentage servicing fee or “Spread” (out of which the Corporation will
compensate Lenders) that the Corporation wil retain from interest payments on Mortgage Loans in
the related Pool. The resultant interest rate, equal as to each Mortgage Loan to the related Mortgage
Interest Rate less this fixed percentage servicing fee, is the “Pass-Through Rate” for that Mortgage
Loan. The Corporation has agreed in the VRM Trust Indenture to pass through payments of interest
on the Mortgage Loans m a Pool, whether or not received, in an amount equal to one month's interest
at the then-current weighted average of the Pass-Through Rates of all Mortgage Loans n that Pool
(the *“Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate”) multiplied by the Certificate Principal Balance as of
the preceding Distribution Date (or, respecting the imtial distribution. as of the Issue Date). The
Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate as of the Issue Date as well as information regarding the
onginal indexes, the imitial Mortgage Interest Rates and the then-current Mortgage Interest Rates of
all Mortgage Loans in a VRM Pool will be set forth in the Prospectus Supplement. This Weighted
Average Pass-Through Rate will change with any changes 1n the underlying Mortgage Interest Rates
and as disproportionate payments of principal are made on Mortgage Loans bearmng different
Mortgage Interest Rates.

When a Mortgage Loan 1s prepaid or otherwise liquidated, the proceeds of such prepayment or
liquidation will, uniess the Corporation elects 1n 1ts discretion to make any distribution thereof in the
following month, be passed through to Certificateholders in the second moenth after such prepayment
or other hiquidation. Since the Corporation will agree in each Certificate to distribute on each
Distribution Date to the Holder thereof an amount as to interest representing one month’s interest at
the then-current Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate on the related Certificate Principal Balance,
any prepayment or other hquidation of a Mortgage Loan and the timing of the distribution of the
proceeds thereof will have no effect on the interest return to Certificateholders.

Assuming performance by the Corporation of 1ts obligations under 1ts guaranty, the net effect of
each distribution respecting interest will be the pass-through to each Certificateholder of an amount
which 18 equai to one month’s interest at the then-current Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate on
the Certificate Principal Balance of such Holder’s Certificate. See “Description of Certifi-
cates— Payments on Morigage Loans; Distributions on Certificates.”

ARM Pools
General Characteristics

An ARM Pool wnll contain Mortgage Loans that bear interest at rates that will vary in response to
a single specified index (such as, but not limited to, the indexes described below) and will adjust
perodically at certain intervals specified in the related Prospectus Supplement. The actual Mortgage
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Interest Rate at any time borne by an ARM after any initial fixed-rate period of the ARM will, subject
to any applicable adjustment caps, be equal to the sum, rounded to the extent specified in the related
Prospectus Supplement, of a specified percentage, or “Mortgage Margm,” and the index value then
applicable thereto. ARMs may or may not contain provisions limiting the amount by which rates may
be adjusted upward or downward and may or may not limit the amount by which monthly payments
may be increased or decreased to accommodate upward or downward adjustments in the Mortgage
Interest Rate. Certain ARMs may provide for periodic adjustments of scheduled payments in order to
fully amortize the Mortgage Loan by 1ts stated matunty while other ARMs may permit substantial
balloon payments at maturity or permit that matunty to be extended or shortened in accordance wath
the portion of each payment that 1s apphed to interest in accordance with the pericdic interest rate
adjustments. Unless a Prospectus Supplement specifies otherwise, each ARM in the related Pool will
provide for payment adjustments in the month following any interest rate change, each such adjusted
payment being in the amount necessary to pay wmterest at the Mortgage Interest Rate in effect during
the month immediately prior to the month in which the first payment in the new amount 1s due and to
fully amortize the outstanding principal balance of the ARM on a level debt service basis over the

remamder of its term.

For ARMs with provisions hmiting the amount by which rates may be adjusted, the Mortgage
Interest Rate for each ARM, when adjusted on each interest rate change date, typically may not be
more than a specified percentage amount greater or less than the initial Mortgage Interest Rate, n the
case of the first change date, or, in the case of any subsequent change date, the Mortgage Interest Rate
that was in effect immediately preceding such change date. Such periodic adjustment caps will be
specified in the related Prospectus Supplement. In addition, the Mortgage Interest Rate for an ARM
1s generally also subject to lifetime maximum and minimum caps, as specified in the related Mortgage
Note. Whenever an ARM 1s limited by a maximum mnterest rate cap, the Mortgage Interest Rate shall
be less than the sum of the applicable index value and the Mortgage Margin; whenever an ARM is
limited by a minimum interest rate cap, the Mortgage Interest Rate shall be greater than the sum of
the applicable index value and the Mortgage Margin.

If an ARM provides for hmitations on the amount by which monthly payments may be increased
or if changes to the Mortgage Interest Rate of the ARM are made more frequently than payment
changes, 1t 15 possible that interest due on scheduled payment dates at an increased rate of interest will
not be covered by the amount of the scheduled payment. In that case, the uncollected portion of
interest will be deferred and added to the principal balance of the Mortgage Loan.

Certain ARMs may be converted to fixed-rate mortgage loans at the option of their borrowers at
the times and 1n accordance with the procedures specified 1n the Mortgage Loan documents. These
“convertible” ARMs will not be included in the same Pool with “non-convertible” ARMs. If a Pool
consists of “convertible” ARMzs (a “Convertible ARM Pool”), the tumes at which converted ARMs
may begin to accrue mterest at a fixed rate will be specified in the related Prospectus Supplement.
The method of calculating the new fixed rate of interest borne by the converted ARM will be specified
in the Mortgage Note and generally will be based on a spread ranging from .375% to 1.25% above
erther the Corporation’s or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation’s required net yield for the
purchase of 30-year {15-year 1f the onginal term of the ARM was 15 years or less) fixed-rate mortgage
ioans covered by short-term mandatory delivery commitments generally contemporaneous with the
conversion date. Durng the month prior to the month in which a converted ARM begins to accrue
interest at the new fixed rate, the Corporation will repurchase the converted ARM from the Pool at a
price equal to 1ts unpaid prnincipal amount, together with one month's interest at its then-current
Accrual Rate (as defined below) As a result, the weighted average life of the Certificates evidencing
interests 1 a Convertible ARM Pool may be sigmficantly shorter than for similar Pools where no such
option to convert and obligation to repurchase exst.

The Corporation’s guaranty of Certificates evidencing interests in ARM Pools will cover the
principal of each underlying Mortgage Loan, including any portion thereof representing deferred
interest. Its guaranty of interest will cover all interest due and payabie by the mortgagor (net of the
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Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee). The Corporation also will add to the amount of interest
accompanying the prepayment of an underiying Mortgage Loan any amount by which such interest 15
less than one month’s interest at the rate that accrues to Certificateholders on the Mortgage Loan on
the prepaid principal balance thereof. As a consequence, the timing of the prepayment of a Mortgage
Loan will have no effect on the interest return to Certificateholders.

Pool Accrual Rate

Because the interest rates borne by Mortgage Loans in an ARM Pool will, following an initial
fixed-rate period, adjust from trme to time, and because a portion of the interest accrued thereon may
be deferred and payable at a future time, Certificates evidencing interests 1n such Pools will not
provide for the distnbution of interest at a fixed Pass-Through Rate. Rather, interest on each ARM in
an ARM Pool will accrue to Certificateholders during any period at a monthly rate (the “Accrual
Rate”) that 1s always equal to the corresponding Mortgage Interest Rate at which interest accrued on
such ARM duning such period net of the Corporation’s percentage servicing and guaranty fee. This
percentage servicing and guaranty fee may either (i) vary among the ARMs in a Pool for which the
Mortgage Margins vary in order to produce a uniform margin (the “MBS Margin”') specified in the
related Prospectus Supplement that will be used to determune the rate over the applicable index value
at which interest accrues to Certificateholders (a “Uniform MBS Margin Pool™) or (ii} be uniform as
to all ARMs 1n a Pool {a “Uniform Fee Poal”), resulting, if the Mortgage Margins vary, in varymng
MBS Margins among the ARMs in that Pool. For example, 1f the MBS Margn 1s fixed at & uniform
1.75% among the ARMs m a Umform MBS Margin Pool, an ARM in that Pool that has a Mortgage
Margin of 300 basis points would be assigned a servicing and guaranty fee of 125 basis ponts and
another ARM in that Pool having a Mortgage Margin of 275 basis points would be assigned a servicing
and guaranty fee of 100 basis points. Conversely, if the servicing and guaranty fee is fixed at 1.25% for
all ARMs in a Uniform Fee Pool, an ARM in that Pool that has a Mortgage Margin of 300 basis points
would be assigned an MBS Margin of 1.75%, and another ARM in that Pool having a Mortgage
Margin of 275 basis points would have an MBS Margn of 1.50%. To the extent no interest rate cap 1s
applicable and the Mortgage Interest Rate of an ARM 1s freely floating, the Accrual Rate of that ARM
will always be equal, before giving effect to any rounding, to the sum of the applicable Index value and

the ARM’'s MBS Margin.

At any tume, interest for any month will acerue to Certificateholders at a rate that equals the
weighted average of the individual Accrual Rates of the ARMs (the “Pool Accrual Rate”). If the
Mortgage Interest Rates for all ARMs in a Pool are freely floating and not affected by an interest rate
cap, the Pool Accrual Rate will at any such time be equal, before giving effect to any rounding, to the
sum of the then applicable index value (or the weighted average of the applicable index values if the
ARM:s 1n the Pool have different interest rate change dates as described under Maturity, Interest Rate
Change Dates below ) and, n the case of a Uniform MBS Margin Pool, the uniform MBS Margmn or, 1n
the case of a Uniform Fee Pool, the weighted average of the individual MBS Margins. The Pool
Accrual Rate for a Pool cannot, however, be determined solely on the basis of applicable index values
and MBS Margmns if the Mortgage Interest Rate of any ARM in that Pool 15 in its mutial fixed-rate
period or 1s restricted by a penodic or lifetime adjustment cap. In any case, the Pool Accrual Rate for
a Pool will always be equal to the weighted average of the Mortgage Interest Rates of the ARMs in the
Pool net of, 1n the case of a Uniform Fee Pool, the umform fixed servicing and guaranty fee or, in the
case of a Umform MBS Margin Pool. net of the weighted average of the individual fixed servicing and

guaranty fees.

The range of Mortgage Margns for the ARMs in a Pool will be set forth in the related Prospectus
Suppiement. The Prospectus Supplement for a Uniform MBS Margin Pool will also set forth the fixed
MBS Margin for that Pool. For Uniform Fee Poois, the imtial weighted average MBS Margin at the
Issue Date will be specified in the Prospectus Supplement. Because differences in the amortization or
prepayment of ARMs with diffennng Mortgage Margins will cause any such initial weighted average
MBS Margin to change, Fanme Mae will publish each month for each Uniform Fee Pool an updated

A-11



weighted average MBS Margin in the Fannie Mae Monthly ARMs Report supplement to the Fannie
Mae Monthly Factor Report published by The Bond Buyer (the “Monthiy ARMs Report”) that will be
applicable to the distribution to be made in the month of the publication of such Monthly ARMs
Report (which distribution refiects the Accrual Rates of the ARMs in the month preceding the month
of publication), subject to any deferral of interest. Although changes in the weighted average of the
Mortgage Margins of ARMs in a Uniform MBS Margin Pool will affect the weighted average of the
fizxed servicing and guaranty fees applicable to the ARMs included therein (with a corresponding effect
on the Pool Accrual Rate during any imtial fixed rate period or whenever Mortgage Interest Rate caps
may be applicable), no such updated information will be published for Pools of this type.

Information as to the approximate maximum and minimum (if applicable) Pool Accrual Rates of
a Pool (1.¢., the weighted averages of the maximum and mimmum Accrual Rates of the ARMs in the
Pool) will be included in the Prospectus Supplement. These rates will be computed using the
maximum and minimum Accrual Rates of the ARMs in a Pool weighted on the basis of their Issue
Date Principal Balances. Differences in the amortization, prepayment, or maturity dates of ARMs
with differing maximum and minmmum Mortgage Interest Rates, and, in the case of Uniform MBS
Margin Pools, fixed servicing and guaranty fees, are likely to cause the nitial maximum and minimum
Pool Accrual Rates for a Pool to change over the life of that Pool. In addition, if a Prospectus
Supplement discloses that any assumption of an ARM in the related Pool by a new morigagor may
result in a change in the maximum and/or minimum Mortgage Interest Rates applicable thereto, any
such assumption may also affect the maximum and minimum Pool Accrual Rates

Maturity, Interest Rate Change Dates

The weighted average remaining term to maturity of the ARMs in a Pool will be set forth in the
related Prospectus Supplement. The Prospectus Supplement also will specify whether or not the
ARMs in a Pool all have the same interest rate change dates on and after the Issue Date. If the
interest rate change dates for ARMs in a Pool are uniform, the Accrual Rates for all ARMs in a Pool
will, subsequent to the first interest rate change date on or after the Issue Date of the Pool, be based
on Mortgage Interest Rates that have been calculated using the same mndex value. If the Prospectus
Supplement indicates that the ARMs in a Pool have varving interest rate change dates, the Pool
Accrual Rate for any month will be calculated based on Mortgage Interest Rates that, after the initial
fixed-rate period of each of the ARMs, have been determined based on varying index values. For
instance, with respect to a Pool that contains ARMs with both March 1 and August 1 annual interest
rate change dates and a 45-day *“look-back” period, nterest will accrue to Certificateholders during the
month of August with respect to the March 1 interest rate change date ARMs on the basis of the index
value most recently available 45 days prior to March 1, and with respect to the August 1 interest rate
change date ARMs on the basis of the index value most recently available 45 days prior to August 1
This results in the likelihood of a Pool Accrual Rate that, even in the case of a Uniform MBS Margin
Pool, represents a weighted average of the different Accrual Rates of the ARMs included therein. The
uniform or varying interest rate change dates of the ARMs in a Pool will be specified in the related
Prospectus Supplement. In addition, the Prospectus Supplement will specify a “Weighted Average
Months to Roll” that represents the weighted average amount of time from the Issue Date of the
related Pool to the next interest rate change dates of all ARMs in the Pool.

Assumptions

The ARM:s in each Pool are assumable by a new mortgagor and the Corporation’s general policy,
described herein under “Description of Certificates—Collection and Other Servicing Procedures,” to
require acceleration in the event of certain transfers of the underlying property is inapplicable.

The Indexes

The index for each ARM Pool will be identified in the related Prospectus Supplement. Two
commonly used indexes are the weekly average yield on United States Treasury Securities adjusted to
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a constant maturnty of one vear or three years as published by the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System 1n the Federal Reserve Statistical Release: Selected Interest Rates H.15 (519} (the
“One Year Treasury Index” and the “Three Year Treasury Index”). Another frequently used index 1s
currently published by the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco (the “FHLB of San
Francisco’) on or about the last working day of each month and 1s designed to represent the monthly
weighted average cost of funds for savings institutions in Arizona, California, and Nevada that are
member institutions of the Eleventh Federal Home Loan Bank District (the “Eleventh District”) for
the month pnor to publication (the “COFI Index”) The COFI Index for a particular month reflects
the interest costs paid on all types of funds held by Eleventh District member 1nstitutions and 1s
calculated by dividing the cost of funds by the average of the total amount of those funds outstanding
at the end of that month and of the prior month and annualizing and adjusting the result to refiect the
actual number of days in the particular month. If necessary, before these calculations are made, the
component figures are adjusted by the FHLB of San Francisco to neutralize the effect of events such
as member institutions leaving the Eleventh District or acquiring institutions outside the Eleventh
District. The COFI Index 1s weighted to refiect the relative amount of each type of funds held at the
end of the relevant month. There are four major components of funds of Eleventh District member
institutions: (i) savings deposits, (1i) time deposits, (iii) FHLB of San Francisco advances, and
(1v) all other borrowings. Unlike most other interest rate measures, the COFI Index does not
necessanly reflect current market rates because the component funds represent a vanety of maturities
whose costs may react in different ways to changmg conditions.

A number of factors affect the performance of the COFI Index that may cause 1t to move mn a
manner different from indexes tied to specific interest rates, such as the One Year Treasury Index and
the Three Year Treasury Index. Because of the various maturities of the habilities upon which the
COFI Index 1s based, the COFI Index may not necessanily reflect the average prevailing market
interest rates on new liabilities of similar matunties. Additionally, the COFI Index may not
necessarily move 1n the same direction as market interest rates at all times, because as longer term
deposits or borrowings mature and are renewed at prevailing market interest rates, the COFI Index is
influenced by the differential between the pnor and the new rates on those deposits or borrowings. In
addition, such movement of the COFI Index, as compared with other indexes tied to specific interest
rates, may be affected by changes instituted by the FHLB of San Francisco in the method used to
calculate the Index. The FHLB of San Francisco publishes” the COFI Index 1n 1ts monthly Federal
Home Loan Bank of San Francisco Information Bulletin and such bulletins may be obtamned from its

Office of Public Information.

Listed below are some histonical values for the above-mentioned indexes which are provided for
selected months from June 1982 to December 1989 and monthly from January 1990 to Septem-
ber 1990. The values for the One Year Treasury Index and the Three Year Treasury Index are the
first weekly values published 1n a given month. The values for the COFI Index represent the weighted
average cost of funds for the given month, as published the month thereafter



One Three

Year Year
Treasury Treasury COFI
Year-Month index Index Index
1982-June . ... 13.000% 13.710% 12.673%
-December .. . . 9.070 9.920 11.093
1983-June .. . .. 9.230 9.950 9,824
-December . 10.010 10.980 10.192
1984-June .. . - 12.100 13.250 10.434
-December ; 9.550 10.670 10.520
1985-June . . 8.090 9.360 9.565
-December C 7.870 8.750 8.867
1986-June. . . . 6.790 7.470 8.374
-December .. . . 5.770 6.390 7.509
1987 -June. . .. €.950 8.010 7.274
-December . . . 7.020 8.050 7.645
1988-June . . . 7.580 8.400 7.618
-December . B.750 B.980 8.022
1989-June . . 8.800 8710 8.923
-December 7.730 7760 8.476
1990-January . . 7.800 7.900 8.369
-February 8.090 8.380 8.403
-March . . .. . £.140 8.440 8.258
-Apral . . . . 8.340 8.630 8.211
-May . . . .. 8.560 9.010 8.171
-June . L. e 8.180 8.500 8.086
-July 8.130 8.420 8.109
-August. . . .. . 7.670 8.010 8.075
-September . . 7.850 8.330 8.091

Unless otherwise specified in the Prospectus Supplement, the index value for each ARM's mterest
rate change date 1s that value that 1s most recently available 45 days prior to such interest rate change
date. For a particular Distnbution Date, the applicable index value is the value (which will be a
weighted average value 1f the ARMs in a Pool have varying interest rate change dates) that was used
to determine the interest rates of the ARMs in a Pool for the prnor month.

MATURITY AND PREPAYMENT ASSUMPTIONS

The onginal maturities of substantially all of the Convenuonal Level Pavment Mortgage Loans
are expected to be between either 8 to 15 years or 20 to 30 years. The maturities of substantially all of
the FHA /VA Level Payment Mortgage Loans at ongination are expected to be 30 years. Each Level
Payment Mortgage Loan with an ongnal matunty of 30 years will provide for amortization of
principal according to a schedule that, in the absence of prepayments, would result 1n repayment of
one-half of the original pnncipal amount of such Mortgage Loan by approximately the 23rd to 27th
vear, with higher Mortgage Interest Rates resuiting in slower amortization of principal A 15-year
fully amortizing Level Payment Mortgage Loan would, in the absence of prepayvments, result in
repayment of one-half of the onginal principal amount by approximately the 10th to 12th year, with
higher Mortgage Interest Rates resulting in slower amortization of principal. The onginal matuntes
of the Mortgage Loans in an ARM Pool may range from 15 to 30 years.

A significant number of the Conventional Mortgage Loans may provide by their terms that i the
event of the sale of all or some of the underlying property the full unpaid principai balance of the
Mortgage Loan 1s due and payabie at the option of the holder. FHA/VA Mortgage Loans contain no
such “due-on-sale” provisions. As set forth under “Description of Certificates—Coliection and Other
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Servicing Procedures,” the Trust Indenture or related Issue Supplement requires the Corporation to
exercise its night to accelerate the matunty of a Conventional Mortgage Loan other than a VRM or
ARM 1n such an event so long as acceleration 1s permitted under applicable law unless it elects to
repurchase such Mortgage Loan. Further, the Corporation will not enforce “due-on-sale’ provisions
1n the event that a property is transferred from one co-borrower to an unrelated co-borrower under the
circumstances specified in the published guidehnes of Fannie Mae goverming assumability of the

related Conventional Mortgage Loan.

The ability of mortgage lenders and their assignees and transferees to enforce “due-on-sale”
clauses was addressed by the “Garn-St Germamn Depository Institutions Act of 1982,” which was
passed by Congress and signed into law on October 15, 1982. This legisiation, subject to certain
exceptions, pre-empts state statutory and case law that prohibits the enforcement of “due-on-sale”
clauses. Exempted from this pre-emption are mortgage loans (originated other than by federally
chartered lenders) that were made or assumed during the penod beginning on the date a state, by
statute or statewide court decision, prohibited the exercise of “due-on-sale” clauses and ending on
October 15, 1982 (the “window peniod”). Mortgage lenders, however, may require any successor or
transferee of the borrower to meet customary credit standards. The exemption for such loans ended
on October 15, 1985 unless the state acted to otherwise regulate these loans by that date. Several
states passed legislation extending the assumability of the mortgage loans that were made or assumed
during the window period. In the case of those states, the enforceability of “due-on-sale” clauses in
loans made or assumed during the window penod is limited by the provisions of the applicable state
legislation. The federal legislation also enumerates nine circumstances under which a lender may not
enforce “due-on-sale’” clauses, e.g., the creation of a subordinate encumbrance that does not relate to a
transfer of rights of occupancy m the property, a transfer by devise, descent, or operation of law on the
death of a joint tenant or tenant by the entirety, and the granting of a leasehold interest of three years
or less not contaiming an option to purchase.

Conventional Mortgage Loans purchased by the Corporation from November 10, 1980, to
October 15, 1982, in junsdictions where, on the date of ongnation, the law substantiaily restricted
ienders from enforcing “due-on-sale” provisions may provide that they are due and payable at the
holder’s option at the end of seven years. As described in “Description of Certificates—Collection and
Other Servicing Procedures,” the Trust Indenture provides that the Corporation will exercise or
refrain from exercising any such “call option rider” in a manner that is consistent with then-current
policies or practices employed by the Corporation respecting comparable mortgage loans held in its

own portfolio.

Past expenence of the Federal Housing Administration (“FHA”) relating to government-insured
single-family mortgage loans at various interest rates with ongnal maturities of 26 to 30 years
indicates that, while some of such mortgage loans remain outstanding until the scheduled maturity, a
pool of 30-year FHA-insured single-family mortgage loans will produce an average loan life of 12 years.
A 12-year prepayment assumption 1s the industry norm for quoting y1elds on 30-year single-family
mortgage loans and is used in generally accepted yield tables. FHA data also indicate that for a pool of
15-year single-family mortgage loans a 7-year average loan life 1s produced.

There can be no assurance that the rate of prepayment will conform to past FHA experience.
Based upon published information and the Corporation’s own experience, the rate of prepayments on
30-year single-family loans has fluctuated significantly in recent years. For example, the tabie under
“Business— Mortgage Loan Portfolio—Repayments, Assumptions, and Sales” shows that repayments
(including foreclosures) during 1989 compared with 1988 decreased only slightly, whereas repayments
during 1988 were 29 percent less than in 1987. The decrease in 1988 and the slight decrease in 1989 is
primarily due to greater stability of interest rates. In 1987, 1988 and 1989, there were $15.4 billion,
$10.7 billion and $11.0 billion, respecuvely, in mortgage repayments (exclusive of foreclosures) that
the Corporation recewed, which included approximately $13.3 bilhon, $8.4 billion and $8.5 billion,

respectively, for mortgages that were prepaid.
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In an environment of declining interest rates, lenders servicing mortgage loans often are agked by
mortgagors to refinance the mortgage loans through issuance of new loans secured by mortgages on
the same properties. The resultant prepayments, if they involve Mortgage Loans in Pools, result in
the distribution to Certificateholders of the principal balances of the prepaid Mortgage Loans and
their removal from the Pools. Under the Corporation’s current policy, Lenders servicing Mortgage
Loans are permitted to advertise in a general manner their availability to handle refinancings,
although they may not specifically target mortgagors whose Mortgage Loans are in Pools. The
Corporation does not, however, permit Lenders to remove Mortgage Loans from Pools for the purpose
of Mortgage Loan modifications. .

In general, when the level of interest rates declines significantly below the interest rates on
mortgage loans, the rate of prepayment is likely to increase, although the prepayment rate is
influenced by a number of other factors, including general economic conditions and homeowner
mobility. In addition, certain Mortgage Loans may have provisions for prepayment penalties in
varying amounts that may or may not influence prepayment rates. Accordingly, the Corporation
cannot estimate what the prepayment experience of the Mortgage Loans in Pools will be or how it
might compare with the FHA 12-year prepayment assumption respecting insured mortgage loans. See
also ‘“Description of Certificates—Termination” for a description of the Corporation’s option to
repurchase the Mortgage Loans in any Pool when the aggregate principal balance thereof becomes less
than 10 percent of the aggregate principal balance of the Mortgage Loans in the Pool on the Issue
Date. '

A GEM provides for scheduled annual increases in the mortgagor’s monthly payments. Because
the additional scheduled portion of the monthly payments is applied to reduce the unpaid principal
balance of a GEM, the scheduled maturity of a GEM will be significantly shorter than the 25- or 30-
year term used as the basis for calculating the initial level installment of principal and interest
applicable until the first adjustment. The latest maturity date and weighted average remaining term
set forth in the Prospectus Supplement for a Fixed-Rate Pool containing GEMs are calculated without
regard to the original term used for purposes of calculating the initial monthly payment amount, but
are based on the term required to amortize the Issue Date Principal Balance of each GEM, based on
its interest rate and current monthly installment assuming only scheduled increases in monthly
payments and no prepayments of principal. No GEM that matures by its terms more than 15 years
subsequent to the Issue Date of the related Certificates will be eligible for inclusion in a Pool.

As set forth above under “Yield Considerations,” GPMs provide for payments that increase
annually for a period of years (generally between three and seven) and then amortize on a level
payment basis to their stated maturity. Because the principal amount of a GPM will increase during
its Deferred Interest Period, the time at which one-half of the principal amount of a GPM will be paid
in accordance with its amortization schedule will be longer than for a Level Payment Mortgage Loan
bearing a similar Mortgage Interest Rate. The maturities of substantially all VRMs at origination are
expected to be 30 years, but the maturity of each Mortgage Loan may at the option of the mortgagor
be increased to a term not in excess of 40 years in the event of certain increases in the Mortgage
Interest Rate. ARMs vary substantially as to their terms and it is impossible to generalize other than
that, because of their adjustable feature, ARMs may be less subject to prepayment than fixed-rate
Mortgage Loans should interest rates decline below levels prevailing at origination. Because both
GPMs and ARMs have not been originated in quantity until recent periods, there are no reliable data
available regarding their prepayment experience.

Second Lien Mortgage Loans

The original maturities of second lien Mortgage Loans are expected to be between 8 and 15 years.
All of the Mortgage Loans may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without penalty. The
Corporation is not aware of any reliable studies or statistics on the rate of prepayment of second lien
Mortgage Loans. Generally, second lien Mortgage Loans are not viewed by mortgagors as permanent
financing because in most instances the term is shorter and the interest rate is higher than on first lien
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Mortgage Loans placed under similar circumstances. Accordingly, they may prepay at a higher rate
than traditional fixed-rate first lien Mortgage Loans with substantially similar coupons. In addition,
any future limitation on the nght of borrowers to deduct interest payments on second lien Mortgage
Loans for federal income tax purposes also may contribute to a higher rate of prepayments of such
Mortgage Loans. Prepayment experience may aiso be affected by a wide variety of additional factors,
including general economic conditions, interest rates, the availability of alternative financing and
homeowner mobility. The Corporation will enforce the “due-on-sale” provisions of such Mortgage
Loans (other than an ARM) or, 1n the alternative, will repurchase such Mortgage Loans subject to the
same conditions as its general obhigation with respect to fixed-rate first lien Conventional Mortgage

Loans described above.

PURCHASE PROGRAM

Set forth below 18 a descrniption of certain aspects of the Corporation’s purchase program for
mortgage loans eligible for mclusion 1n a Pool (the “Program”). The Prospectus Supplement to be
prepared with respect to each Issue will contamn information on the Mortgage Loans in the Pool,
including information as to the type of Mortgage Loans, the aggregate prnncipal balance of the
Mortgage Loans ¢s of the Issue Date, for Fixed-Rate Pools the Pass-Through Rate, for GPM Pools the
Pool Accrual Rate, for ARM Pools the imtial Pool Accrual Rate, for VRM Pools the initial Weighted
Average Pass-Through Rate, and the latest maturity date of any Mortgage Loan.

Lender Eligibility

The Corporation will purchase Mortgage Loans from eligible federally and state-chartered savings
and loan associations, mutual savings banks, commercial banks, credit unions, and similar financial
institutions, the deposits or accounts of which are msured by a fund administered by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) or the National Credit Union Administration from certain
other state-insured financial institutions and from certain institutions, principally mortgage bankers,
that are mortgage sellers approved by the Corporation. The Corporation, on an individual mstitution
basis, will determine whether such nstitutions will be approved as Lenders for the Program by
applying certamn cntena, which may nclude depth of mortgage ongination experience, servicing
experience, and financial capacity. Approved Lenders will be party with the Corporation to a
Mortgage Selling and Servicing Contract.

Mortgage Loan Eligibility
General

The Mortgage Loans to be imncluded in each Pool will be Mortgage Loans on residential propertaes.
Each Mortgage Loan purchased for inclusion i a Pool will be subject to and must comply with the
terms of the current Selling Guide or the MBS Selling and Servicing Guide, as applicable, unless
Fannme Mae grants an exception with respect to certain requirements. These Mortgage Loans are
permanent loans (as opposed to construction and land development loans) secured by Mortgages on
properties compnsed of (i) single-family dwelling units, including units in condominium projects and
planned unit developments or (ii) muitifamily projects consisting of five or more dweiling units. The
Prospectus Supplement to be prepared with respect to each Issue backed by Multifamily Mortgage
Loans will descnibe the eligibility critena for such loans, which will differ in certamn respects from the
criteria described below. Each Mortgage Loan will be documented by the appropriate FNMA /FHLMC
Uniform Instrument in effect at the time of ongination, or an FHA or VA mortgage instrument or
other instrument acceptable to the Corporation, and will comply with all applicabie federal and local
laws, including laws relating to usury, equal credit opportunity, and disclosure.

There 1s no requirement that Mortgage Loans be payable on the first day of the month in order to
be eligible for inciusion in a Pool. The Mortgage Loans generally must have had maturities of not
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more than 30 years from their date of ongination, although VRMs can be extended to 40 years at the
option of the mortgagor 1n the event of certaimn increases in the Mortgage Interest Rates.

Conventional Mortgage Loans

Pursuant to the requirements of the Selling Guide, first lien Conventional Mortgage Loans must
be real estate loans secured by first Mortgages on residential properties, with original pnncipal
balances that {when combined with the oniginal principal balance of any second hen Mortgage Loan mn
which the Corporation has an 1nterest) did not exceed certain federally imposed maximum principal
balance limitations applicable to the Corporation. In 1989, the maximum dollar purchase limitations
for Conventional Mortgage Loans were as follows: $187,600 for mortgages secured by one-family
residences {$281,400 1n Alaska and Hawan); $239.950 for mortgages secured by two-family residences
($359.925 1n Alaska and Hawaii); $290,000 for mortgages secured by three-family residences
($435,000 in Alaska and Hawan), and $360,450 for mortgages secured by four-family residences
($540,675 i Alaska and Hawaii) In 1990, the maximum dollar purchase hmitations for Conven-
tional Mortgage Loans were reduced to the following levels: $187,450 for mortgages secured by one-
farmly residences ($281,175 n Alaska and Hawaii), $239,750 for mortgages secured by two-family
residences ($359,625 in Alaska and Hawan); $289,750 for mortgages secured by three-family
residences {($434,625 n Alaska and Hawan), and $360,150 for mortgages secured by four-farmly
residences ($540,225 in Alaska and Hawaii). Conventional Mortgage Loans at the higher 1989
maximum dollar purchase hmitations may be included in Pools, provided that such Conventional
Mortgage Loans have been recewved by Fanme Mae no later than May 1, 1990 pursuant to an
agreement entered into by Fanme Mae prior to January 1, 1990 The maximum mortgage amount for
a second lien Mortgage Loan 1s 50 percent of the Corporation’s conventional first mortgage hmit for a
single-family dwelling. Additionally, the Corporation will acquire the second hen Mortgage Loan only
if the combined original balance of both the first lien Mortgage Loan and the second lien Mortgage
Loan do not exceed $187,450 ($281.175 in Alaska and Hawan).

First lien Conventional Mortgage Loans (other than Multifamily Mortgage Loans) with loan-to-
value ratios exceeding 80 percent must have the prnincipal amount of the mdebtedness 1n excess of 75
percent of the appraised value of the Mortgaged Property insured by a policy of primary mortgage
guaranty nsurance. Second lien Conventional Mortgage Loans (other than Muitifamily Mortgage
Loans) where the combined loan-to-value ratio of the first lien and the second hen exceeds 70 percent
must be insured by a policy of primary mortgage guaranty insurance in an amount equal to 25 percent
of the unpmd principal balance of such second lien Conventional Mortgage Loan. Each mortgage
insurer must be licensed to transact a mortgage guaranty insurance business in the state where the
Mortgaged Property 1s located and be acceptable to the Corporation as a mortgage nsurer. As an
alternative to the requirement to obtain mortgage nsurance for such Conventional Mortgage Loans,
Lenders may contract with the Corporation to repurchase such Conventional Mortgage Loans for such
penod and under such circumstances as the Corporation may require n the event the Conventional
Mortgage Loans are n default.

The maximum loan-to-value ratio at the time of purchase for a Conventional Mortgage Loan
secured by a first Mortgage on an owner-occupied one-family property (other than second homes)
that does not secure any subordinate financing is 95 percent (90 percent in the case of ARMs or
fixed-rate Mortgages with balloon payments). Where such a property also secures subordinate
financing, the maximum loan-to-value ratio of the sum of the Conventional Mortgage Loan and the
subordinate financing is 90 percent. In the case of a Conventional Mortgage Loan secured by a first
Mortgage on an owner-occupied one-family second home that does not secure any subordinate
financing, the maximum loan-to-value rati0 1s 80 percent. In addition, if such a property aiso secures
subordinate financing, the maximum loan-to-value ratio of the sum of the Conventional Mortgage
Loan and the subordinate financing is 90 percent.

The maximum loan-to-value ratio {including the unpaid principal balance of all subordinate
financing) at the time of purchase for a Conventional Mortgage Loan secured by an owner-occupied
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two-family property 1s generally 90 percent. The maximum loan-to-value ratio (including the unpaid
principal balance of all subordinate financing) at the time of purchase for a Conventional Mortgage
Loan secured by an owner-occupied three- to four-family property 1s 80 percent. In the case of a first
lien Conventional Mortgage Loan secured by an investment property, the maximum loan-to-vaiue
ratio (including the unpaid prnincipal balance of all subordinate financing) at the time of purchase is
70 percent. The maximum combined loan-to-value ratio of a second lien Conventional Mortgage Loan

and the first hen financing 18 80 percent.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Selling Guide, each Lender that sells a Conventional
Mortgage Loan to the Corporation for the purposes of the Program must assume responsibility for
underwriting such Conventional Mortgage Loan using the same underwriting criteria, as from time to
time 1n effect, that must be met by mortgage loans eligible for Fannie Mae portfolio purchases. As
provided above, exceptions to these underwriting critena (including the maximum loan-to-value ratio
limitations) may be granted by the Corporation from time-to-time. After delivery of the Conventional
Mortgage Loans, the Corporation will conduct reviews of the quahty of credit and property underwrit-
g used in the ongination of certan randomly seiected Conventional Mortgage Loans.

FHA /VA Mortgage Loans

Pursuant to the requirements of the Selling Guide, FHA/VA Mortgage Loans must be real estate
loans with stated constant annual rates of interest, secured by first mortgages on residential
properties. The principal balance and loan-to-value ratio of each FHA Mortgage Loan must comply
with the standards established by the FHA. In the case of VA Mortgage Loans, the Corporation has
1mposed a maximum principal balance hmitation of $184,000. In addition, the unguaranteed portion
of the VA Mortgage Loan amount cannot be greater than 75 percent of the lesser of (1) the purchase
price of the property or (i1} the VA's estimate of reasonable value. Each FHA/VA Mortgage Loan
must be mnsured or guaranteed by a valid and subsisting policy or guaranty m full force and effect.

DESCRIPTION OF CERTIFICATES

Each Issue of Certificates will be 1ssued pursuant to the applicable Trust Indenture described
above The apphcable Trust Indenture will, as to each Issue, be supplemented by an Issue
Supplement, which will be prepared at the time of the creation of such Issue. The Issue Supplement
will set forth the specific terms of the Issue, such as the Pass-Through Rate applicable thereto n the
case of Fixed-Rate Pools and the Issue Date. The Issue Supplement wll aiso contain any vanation
from the basic Trust Indenture applicable to a particular Issue, any such vanation also being described
1n the Prospectus Supplement relating to such Issue. As set forth under “‘Legal Opimon,” the validity
of each Issue of Certificates, the Trust Indenture, and the applicable Issue Supplement will be passed
upon by the General Counsel of the Corporation upon the request of any Holder of Certificates of such

Issue

Mortgage Loans not previously heid in the Corporation’s portfolio will be purchased pursuant to a
Pool Purchase Contract for cash or 1n exchange for Certificates in the related Pool. Such Mortgage
Loans will be serviced by one of the Corporation-approved Lenders, normally the same entity as the
loan ongnator. pursuant to the terms of the Pool Purchase Contract, as supplemented by the Selling
Guide, the Servicing Guide or the MBS Selling and Servicing Guide as apphcable (collectively, the
“Guides” ), which 1s incorporated therein by reference. Copies of the Trust Indenture may be obtained
from the Corporation’s Washington, D.C. office, or from any of the Corporation’s regional offices 1n
Philadelphia, Atlanta, Chicago, Dallas. and Pasadena.
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'The following summaries describe certain provisions of the Trust Indenture. These summaries do
not purport to be compiete and are subject to, and qualified in their entirety by reference to, the more
complete provisions of the Trust Indenture.

General

The Certificates will represent Fractional Undivided Interests n the Trust Fund created pursuant
to the Trust Indenture and Issue Supplement for each Issue. The Fractional Undivided Interest
represented by a particular Certificate will be equal to the initial principal denomination of such
Certificate entered on the books of a Federal Reserve Bank divided by the aggregate Stated Principal
Balance!!} of the Mortgage Loans 1n the Pool (the “Pool Principal Balance”) as of the Issue Date.
The Trust Fund for an Issue consists of (1) such Mortgage Loans as from time to time are subject to
the Trust Indenture and Issue Supplement, (ii} such payments or other recoveries on Mortgage Loans
as from time to time may be considered to be held by the Corporation for Certificateholders,
(iii) property acquired by foreclosure of Mortgage Loans or by deed in heu of foreclosure, and ( iv) the
interest of Certificateholders 1n the obligation of the Corporation to supplement payments and other
recoveries on Mortgage Loans to the extent necessary to make required distributions to

Certificateholders.

Unless the related Prospectus Supplement provides otherwise, Certificates will be available in
book-entry form only and wiil not be convertible to definitive form. A Fiscal Agency Agreement
between the Corporation and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York makes generally applicable to
Certificates in book-entry form (i) regulations governing the Corporation’s use of the book-entry
system, contained in 24 C.F R. Part 81, Subpart E, (i1) such procedures, mnsofar as applicable, as may
from time to time be estabhshed by regulations of the United States Department of the Treasury
governing United States secunties, as now set forth in Treasury Department Circular Number 300,
31 C.F.R. Part 306 (other than Subpart Q), and (iii) the Federal Reserve Bank’s operating circulars
and letters. Certificates can be accommodated on the Federal Reserve Bank’s book-entry system in a
minimum denomination of $1,000 and in additional increments of one dollar and will be freely
tranaferable on the records of a Federal Reserve Bank.

Certificates will be maintained on the book-entry system of a Federal Reserve Bank in a manner
that permits separate trading and ownership, The Federal Reserve Bank of New York will make
payments on the Certificates on behalf of Fannie Mae on the applicable Distnbution Dates by
crediting accounts on its records or on the records of other Federal Reserve Banks, Certificates may
be held of record only by entities eligible to maintain book-entry accounts with a Federal Reserve
Bank. Such entities are not necessarily the beneficial owners of the Certificates. Beneficial owners
will ordinarily hold Certificates through one or more financial intermediaries, such as banks. brokerage
firms and securities clearing organizations. A Certificateholder that is not the beneficial owner of a
Certificate, and each other financial intermediary 1n the chain to the beneficial owner, will have the
responsibility of establishing and maintaining accounts for its respective customers. The rights of the
beneficial owner of a Certificate with respect to Fannie Mae and the Federal Reserve Bank may be
exercised only through the financial intermediaries thereof. Fanme Mae and the Federal Reserve
Bank will have no direct obligation to a beneficial owner of a Certificate that 1s not alsc the owner of
record according to the account maintained by the Federal Reserve Bank. The Federa] Reserve Bank
will act only upon the instructions of the record owner in recording transfers of a Certificate.

{1) All references herein to the Stated Principal Balance of a Mortgage Loan or to the aggregate
Stated Principal Balance of all Mortgage Loans in a Pool are to the principal balance or aggregate
principal balance, as the case may be, utilized by the Corporation in calculating the then-outstanding
principal balances of Certificates. Such Stated Principal Balances may differ from actual principal
balances for a number of reasons, including supplemental payments by the Corporation on delinquent
Mortgage Loans pursuant to 1ts guaranty obligations and delays in the dwstribution of certain

Mortgage Loan receipts.
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Distnbutions of principal and interest on each Issue of Certificates will be made by the
Corporation on the 25th day of each month (the *‘Distribution Date”) to the persons in whose names
the Certificates are entered on the books of a Federal Reserve Bank as of the close of business on the
last day of the preceding month (the ‘“Record Date”). The first distribution for each Issue of
Certificates will be 1n the month following the month in which the Issue Date occurs. Distributions for
each Issue will be made by wire to the person entitled thereto as it appears on the Certificate not later

than the 25th day of each month.

As described under “Rights Upon Event of Default,” Holders of Certificates will have the nght
under certain circumstances 1o appomnt a successor Trustee.

Transfer of Mortgage Loans to Pools

Each Mortgage Loan transferred to a Pool will be identified 1n a Mortgage Loan Schedule
appeanng as an exhibit to the Issue Supplement for the related Issue of Certificates. In addition, in
the case of whole Mortgage Loans, the Corporation, as Trustee of the Morigage Loans, will hold on
behalf of Certificateholders the onginal Mortgage Note, endorsed in blank, and an assignment to the
Corporation of the mortgage mstrument. Usually assignments are in a form suitable for recording but
they are not recorded. However, a blanket assignment may be used for the transfer of a large number
of Mortgage Loans, even if the properties are not located in the same recording jurisdiction, depending
on the Lender’s servicing expernience and its financial condition. At 1ts option, the Corporation may
choose to mamntain such documents either with a custodian institution (the Lender or another
institution) whose deposits or accounts are msured by a fund administered by the FDIC or a state
agency, or with a subsidiary or affiliate of the Lender. The Corporation will review the Mortgage Loan
Schedule prior to the 13suance of the Certificates and will conduct random spot checks to confirm the
sufficiency of the documents after issuance of the Certificates.

Although the above procedures are intended to protect the interests of the Holders of Certificates
1in the Mortgage Loans in the related Pool, the law applicable to a liquidation, reorganization, or
similar proceeding involving the assets of & Lender or of the Corporation is unclear and as a result no
optmon can be rendered as to the status of Certificateholders’ interests in the event of any such
proceeding. The Corporation’s guaranty would, however, by its terms be available in the event of any
such proceeding involving the assets of a Lender.

Servicing Through Lenders

Pursuant to the Trust Indenture, the Corporation 1s responsible for servicing and administering
the Mortgage Loans but, 1n its discretion, 1s permitted to contract with the origmnator of each
Mortgage Loan, or another eiigible servicing institution, to perform such functions under the
supervision of the Corporation as more fully described herein. Any servicing contract or arrangement
by the Corporation with a Lender for the direct servicing of Mortgage Loans is a contract solely
between the Corporation and that Lender, and the Certificateholders are not deemed to be parties
thereto and have no claims, nghts, obligations, duties, or liabilities wath respect to such Lender. (TI

Section 5.01)

Lenders will be obligated pursuant to the applicable Guide to perform diligently all services and
duties customary to the servicing of mortgages, as well as those specifically prescribed by the
applicable Guide. The Corporation will monitor the Lender’s performance and has the right to remove
any Lender for cause at any time it considers such removal to be in the best interest of Certificate-
holders. The duties performed by Lenders inciude general loan servicing responsibilities, collection
and remittance of principal and interest payments, administration of mortgage escrow accounts,
collection of insurance claims, and, if necessary, foreclosure.

The Corporation retains as to each Fixed-Rate Mortgage Loan the difference in interest between
the annual Mortgage Interest Rate borne by the Mortgage Loan and the Pass-Through Rate on the
Ceruficates. For example, if a Mortgage Loan with a 12.25 percent Mortgage Interest Rate is included
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in a Pool against which a Certificate with an 11.25 percent Pass-Through Rate is issued, the
Corporation would be entitled to receive total compensation of one percent per annum on the
Mortgage Loan. For VRMs, the Corporation will retain from interest payments a fixed annual
servicing fee, or “Spread,” as described under “VRM Pools” above. For ARMs and Graduating
GPMs, the Corporation will retain an amount equal to the percentage spread applicable thereto
applied to the outstanding principal balance as increased by any deferred interest that has been
included therein. See “Yield Considerations.” The Corporation is also entitled to retain prepayment
fees, late charges, assumption fees, and similar charges to the extent they are collected from borrowers.
The Corporation will compensate Lenders in an amount up to, but never exceeding, the amount of
interest retention described above, less a prescribed minimum amount to be retained by the
Corporation for itself in consideration of its guaranty obligations and servicing responsibilities.

Payments on Mortgage Loans; Distributions on Certificates

On the 25th day of each month (beginning with the month following the month of the Issue
Date), or, if such 25th day is not a business day, on the first business day next succeeding such 25th
day, the Corporation will, respecting each Issue, distribute to Certificateholders an amount equal to
the total of (i) the principal due on the Mortgage Loans in the related Pool during the period
beginning on the second day of the month prior to the month of such distribution and ending on the
first day of such month of distribution (the “Due Period”), (ii) the Stated Principal Balance of any
such Mortgage Loan that was prepaid in full dunng the second month next preceding the month of
such distribution (including as prepaid for this purpose any Mortgage Loan repurchased by the
Corporation as described herein because of the Corporation’s election to repurchase the Mortgage
Loan after it is delinquent, in whole or 1n part, with respect to four consecutive installments of
principal and interest, because of the Corporation’s election to repurchase such Mortgage Loan under
the cireumstances described under “Collection and Other Servicing Procedures” below, or, as provided
in the related Issue Supplement, because of the Corporation’s repurchase of converted ARMs under
the circumstances described under “ARM Pools— General Characteristics” above), (iii) the amount
of any partial prepayment of a Mortgage Loan received in the second month next preceding the month
of distribution, and (v} in respect of all Fixed-Rate Mortgage Loans, one month’s mterest at the
Pass-Through Rate on the Certificate Principal Balance as reported to Certificateholders in connec-
tion with the previous distribution tor, respecting the first distribution, the Certificate Principal
Balance on the Issue Date). For purposes of distributions, a Mortgage Loan will be considered to have
been prepaid in full if, in the Corporation’s reasonable judgment, the full amount finally recoverabie on
account of such Mortgage Loan has been recesved, whether or not such full amount 1s equal to the
Stated Principal Balance of the Mortgage Loan The Corporation may, 1n its discretion, mclude with
any distribution principal prepayments, both full and partial, recewved during the month pnor to the
month of distribution but is under no obhgation to do so.

For each Graduating GPM during 1ts Deferred Interest Period and each ARM, the Corporation
will, on each monthly Distribution Date, distribute an amount as to interest equal to the amount of
interest payable on such Mortgage Loan during the apphcable Due Period (which will, in the case of
Graduating GPMs during their Deferred Interest Period, and may, in the case of ARMs having
deferred interest features, be less than one month’s interest at the Mortgage Interest Rate) less the
amount retained by the Corporation as described under “Servicing Through Lenders” above. For each
VRM Pool, the Corporation will, on each Distribution Date, distribute an amount as to interest equal
to one month’s interest at the then-current Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate on the Certificate
Principal Balance of each Certificate.

Distributions on any Distribution Date will be made to Certificateholders of record on the prior
Record Date (the close of business on the last day of the immediately preceding month). Each
Certificateholder will be entitled to receive an amount equal to the total amount chstributed multiplied
by the Fractional Undivided Interest evidenced by such Holder's Certificate
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The Corporation’s Guaranty

The Corporation’s obligation described above to distribute amounts representing scheduled
principal and interest, whether or not received, and 1its obligation to distribute the full pnncipat
amount of any foreclosed or otherwise finally liquidated Mortgage Loan, whether or not such principal
amount is actually recovered, constitute the Corporation’s guaranty obligations in respect of the
Certificates. If the Corporation were unable to perform such obligations. distributions to Certificate-
holders would consist solely of payments and other recoveries on Mortgage Loans and, accordingly,
delinquencies and defaults would affect monthly distributions to Certificateholders.

Reports to Certificateholders
With respect to each distribution, the Corporation will cause to be forwarded to each Certificate-
holder with respect to all Certificates held by such Certificateholder 1n each Pool, a statement setting
forth, to the extent applicable, the foliowing information:
(i) the amount, if any, due on such Certificates on the related Distribution Date on account
of total scheduled and unscheduled principal (including any Deferred Interest);
{(ii) the amount due on such Certificates on the related Distribution Date on account of
nterest;
(iii} the total of the cash distribution on such Certificates on the related Distribution Date;
(iv) the Certificate Principal Balances of such Certificates on the related Distribution Date

after gaiving effect to any distribution of principal made on such date and to any Deferred Interest
added to the principal balances of the underiying Mortgage Loans dunng the preceding Due

Period;
(v) the total amount of any Deferred Interest that was added to the principal balances of the
underlying Mortgage Loans during the preceding Due Penod;

(vi) the amount, if any, of (1) above that is ailocable to Deferred Interest;
(vii) the amount, if any, of (1v) above that is aliqcable to Deferred Interest;

{viii) for VRM Pools, the Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate appiicable to such Distribu-
tion Date; and
{ix} for ARM Pools, the Pool Accrual Rate appiicable to such Distribution Date.

Within a reasonable pericd of time after the end of each calendar vear, the Corporation will
furmish to each Person who at any time dunng the calendar vear was a Certificateholder a statement
contawning the information set forth in 1items (i), (ii), (v), and (v1) above, 1n summary form for such
calendar year, or for any portion thereof during which such Person was a Certificateholder.

Servicing Compensation and Payment of Certain Expenses by the Corporation

As compensation for its activities and obligations under the Trust Indenture, the Corporation will
be entitled to retain the amounts applicable to interest that are not required to be distributed to
Certificateholders as described above. In addition, the Corporation 1s entitled to retain any amounts
by which the proceeds of the hquidation of a Mortgage Loan exceed (i) the Stated Principal Balance
of that Mortgage Loan and (ii) interest thereon at the Pass-Through Rate in the case of a Fixed-Rate
Mortgage Loan or 8 VRM or interest thereon at the Accrual Rate 1n the case of a Graduating GPM or
an ARM. The Corporation will pay all expenses incurred by it in connection with its servicing
activities, including, without limitation, the fees to Lenders, and 18 not entitled to reimbursement
therefor out of the Trust Fund.

Additional servicing compensation in the form of prepayment charges, assumption fees, late
payment charges, or otherwise will be retained by the Corporation.
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Collection and Other Servicing Procedures

The Corporation is responsible for servicing the Mortgage Loans in each Pool and may, as set
forth above, conduct such servicing through Lenders or through other Corporation-approved mortgage
servicers. In connection with its servicing activities, the Corporation has fuil power and authornty to
do or cause to be done any and all things as it may deem necessary or appropriate in its sole discretion,
including the foreclosure or comparable conversion of a defaulted Mortgage Loan. In lieu of
undertaking any such foreclosure, the Corporation may, in its discretion and without obligation,
repurchase from the Trust Fund any Mortgage Loan that is delinquent, in whole or 1n part, as to four
consecutive nstallments of principal and interest. The purchase prce will be equal to the Stated
Principal Balance of the delinquent Mortgage Loan together with accrued interest at the Pass-
Through Rate (or the Accrual Rate in the case of a Graduating GPM or an ARM) and will be
distributed to Certificateholders in the same manner as full prepayments of Mortgage Loans. See
“Description of Certificates—Payments on Mortgage Loans; Distnbutions on Certificates.” (TI

Sections 5.01 and 5.03)

With respect to each Mortgage Loan 1n a Pool, the Lender makes certain warranties to the
Corporation concerning such matters as the recordation of the orginal Mortgage, the vahdity of the
Mortgage Loan as a first or second lien (as the case may be) on the Mortgaged Property, and
compliance by such Mortgage Loan with applicable state and federal laws. In the event of a matenal
breach of any such warranty or a material defect mn the Mortgage Loan documentation, the
Corporation may withdraw such Mortgage Loan from the Trust Fund at a price equal to its Stated
Principal Balance together with interest thereon at the Pass-Through Rate (or the Accrual Rate in the
case of a Graduating GPM or an ARM). Alternatively, the Corporation may, at its option, for all
Pools other than Pools containing Multifamily Mortgage Loans, substitute a new Mortgage Loan for a
defective Mortgage Loan; provided, however, that no such substitution may take place more than two
years subsequent to the date of the original issue of the related Certificates, and any such substitute
Mortgage Loan must satisfy certain eligibility criteria designed to assure that the nature of the Pool
will not be altered by any such substitution. Any amount by which the Stated Principal Balance of the
defective Mortgage Loan exceeds the principal balance of the substitute Mortgage Loan (the
substitute Mortgage Loan may not be larger than the Mortgage Loan it 18 replacing) will be passed
through to Certificateholders.

Subject to the following paragraphs and to the extent consistent with then-current policies of the
Corporation respecting morigage loans held in its own portfolio, the Corporation in 1ts discretion may
enforce or wave enforcement of any of the terms of any Mortgage Loan or enter into an agreement for
the modification of any of the terms of any Mortgage Loan, or take any action or refrain from taking
any action In servicing any Mortgage Loan. (However, certan modifications are prohibited by the
"Trust Indenture, e.g., reducing the Mortgage Interest Rate, except as may be required by the terms of
the Mortgage Note.) In such connection, the Corporation may waive any prepayment charge,
assumption fee, or late payment charge or may exercise or refrain from exercising any “‘call option
rider”; provided, however, that any decision to exercise or refrain from exercising any “call option
rider’” must be consistent with then-current policies or practices employed by the Corporation
respecting comparable mortgage loans held in its own portfolio and must be without consideration of
the ownership status of the related Mortgage Loan.

In the VRM Trust Indenture, the Corporation agrees that any decision as to whether or not (i) to
increase 8 Mortgage Interest Rate (where any such increase is permitted by the terms of such
Mortgage Loan and by applicable law) or (ii) to shorten the maturity of any Mortgage Note, will be
made in accordance with the then-current practice of the related Lender respecting similar Mortgage
Notes and without consideration of the ownership status of the related Mortgage Note. If the
Corporation is then directly servicing a VRM, it will increase the related Mortgage Interest Rate and
shorten the maturity whenever any such change is permitted by the terms of such Mortgage Loan and
by applicable law. Any adjustment downward by reason of a decrease in the applicable index is
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mandatory. See the Prospectus Supplement for critena and procedures governing changes in
Mortgage Interest Rates.

In connection with the transfer or prospective transfer of titie to a Mortgaged Property (other
than a Mortgaged Property securing a VRM), the Corporation is obligated to accelerate the maturity
of the related Mortgage Loan where that Mortgage Loan contains & “‘due-on-sale” clause permitting
acceleration under those conditions unless the Corporation 1s restricted by law from enforcing the
“due-on-sale” clause, the transfer 1s from one co-borrower to another co-borrower under the
circumstances specified in the Corporation’s pubhshed guidelines or the Corporation elects to
withdraw such Mortgage Loan from the Pool. In the case of a VRM, the Corporation will enforce or
refrain from enforeing any “‘due-on-sale” clause 1n the related Mortgage Note 1n accordance with the
then-current practice of the related Lender without consideration of the ownership status of the
Mortgage Note. If the Corporation 1s then directly servicing the Mortgage Loan, it will enforce the
“‘due-on-saie”’ clause unless such enforcement 1s prohibited by law or the Corporation elects to
withdraw such Mortgage Loan from the Pool. See “Maturity and Prepayment Assumptions.” In the
case of an ARM, the related Issue Supplement will provide that the Corporation will not enforce the
“due-on-sale clause,” but will permit creditworthy transferees of the Mortgaged Property securing the

ARM to assume the ARM.

In the event that, for any reason, the Corporation 1s not obligated to accelerate the maturity of a
Conventional Mortgage Loan upon the transfer. or prospective transfer, of title to the underlying
Mortgaged Property, the Corporation may enter mnto a transaction by which the obligor 1s released
from liability on the related Mortgage Loan and the transferee assumes such habtlity, provided,
however, that no such transaction shall (i) be entered into which would not have been entered into
had the Mortgage Loan been held in the Corporation’s own portfolio, (ii) provide for reduction of the
Mortgage Interest Rate or, in the case of any ARM, provide for any change in any interest rate
adjustment prowvision or provision governing the caiculation of scheduled payments if any such change
would be adverse to the interests of Certificateholders, or (iii) in the case of any VRM, provide for any
change in the original index applicable thereto.

The Trust Indenture provides that the Corporation may repurchase from the related Pool, at a
price equal to the Stated Prnincipal Balance thereof plus accrued interest thereon at the applicable
Pass-Through Rate (or the applicable Accrual Rate 1n the case of a Graduating GPM or an ARM),
any Mortgage Loan respecting which the underiying Mortgaged Property 1s transferred, or proposed
to be transferred, under circumstances permitting the Corporation to accelerate the maturity of such
Mortgage Loan pursuant to the terms of any ‘‘due-on-sale” clause contained therein.

Certain Matters Regarding the Corporation

The Trust Indenture provides that the Corporation may not resign from 1its obligations and duties
thereunder, except upon determmnation that those duties are no longer permissible under applicable
law. No such resignation will become effective until a successor has assumed the Corporation’s
obligations and duties under the Trust Indenture; provided, however, that no successor will succeed to
the Corporation’s guaranty obligations described above, the Corporation continuing to be responsible
thereunder notwithstanding any termination of 1ts other duties and responsibilities under the Trust
Indenture. In the event that the Corporation 1s unable to fulfill its continuing guaranty obligations,
the Trust Indenture may be modified to provide for monthly distmbutions to be made from then-
availlable Mortgage Loan payments and other recovernes mn a manner sumiar to practices and
procedures followed in the servicing of whole loans for mstitutional investors. (TI Section 9.01)

The Trust Indenture also provides that neither the Corporation nor any director, officer,
employee, or agent of the Corporation will be under any liability to the Trust Fund or to Certificate-
holders for any action taken, or for refraiming from the taking of any action, 1n good faith pursuant to
such Trust Indenture or for errors in judgment; provided, however, that nerther the Corporation nor
any such person will be protected against any liability that would otherwise be 1mposed by reason of
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willful misfeasance, bad faith, or gross negligence or by reason of willful disregard of obhgations and
duties.

In addition, the Trust Indenture provides that the Corporation 18 not under any obligation to
appear in, prosecute, or defend any legal action that is not mcidental to 1ts responsibilities under the
Trust Indenture and that in its opinion may involve 1t in any expense or liability. The Corporation
may, however, in 1ts discretion undertake any such legal action that 1t may deem necessary or desirable
in the interests of the Certificateholders. In such event, the legal expenses and costs of such action
and any liability resulting therefrom will be expenses, costs, and liabilities of the Corporation that will
not be reimbursable to the Corporation out of the Trust Fund. (TI Section 8.02)

Any corporation into which the Corporation may be merged or consolidated, or any corporation
resulting from any merger, conversion, or consolidation to which the Corporation is a party, or any
corporation succeeding to the busiess of the Corporation, will be the successor to the Corporation
under the terms of the Trust Indenture. (TI Section 9.02)

Events of Default

Events of Default under the Trust Indenture will consist of (i) any failure by the Corporation to
distnibute to Certificateholders any required payment that continues unremedied for 15 days after the
giving of written notice of such failure to the Corporation by the Holders of Certificates evidencing
Fractional Undivided Interests aggregating not less than five percent of the related Trust Fund,;
(i) any failure by the Corporation duly to observe or perform in any material respect any other of its
covenants or agreements in the Trust Indenture which failure continues unremedied for 60 days after
the giving of wntten notice of such failure to the Corporation by the Holders of Certificates evidencing
Fractional Undivided Interests aggregating not less than 25 percent of the related Trust Fund; and
(iii) certain events of insolvency, readjustment of debt, marshalling of assets and liabilities, or similar
proceedings and certain actions by or agamst the Corporation indicating its msolvency, reorganiza-
tion, or 1nability to pay its obligations. (TI Section 9.03)

Rights Upon Event of Default

As long as an Event of Default under the Trust Indenture for any Issue remains unremedied, the
Holders of Certificates evidencing Fractional Undivided Interests aggregating not less than 25 percent
of the related Trust Fund may, in wnting, terminate all of the obligations and duties of the
Corporation as Trustee and in 1ts corporate capacity under the Trust Indenture 1n respect of such
Issue {(other than its guaranty obligations described above which continue notwithstanding any such
termination) and name and appoint, in writing, a successor to succeed to all such responsibilities,
duties, and obligations of the Corporation thereunder (other than the Corporation’s guaranty

obligations) and to the legal title to the Mortgage Loans held in such Trust Fund. (TI Section 9.03)

Amendment

The Corporation may amend the Trust Indenture as it relates to any Issue without the consent of
or notice to any of the Certificateholders, for one or more of the following purposes: (i) to add to the
covenants of the Corporation; {(i1) to evidence the succession of another party or parties to the
Corporation and the assumption by such successor or successors of the obligations of the Corporation
thereunder in its corporate capacity or in its capacity as Trustee or in both such capacities; (iii) to
eliminate any nght reserved to or conferred upon the Corporation in its corporate capacity; (iv) to
make provisions for the purpose of cuning any ambiguity or correcting or supplementing any provision
1o the Trust Indenture or any lssue Supplement, provided such provisions do not adversely affect the
interests of any Certificateholder; or (v) to modify the Trust Indenture under the circumstances and
for the purposes set forth in the final sentence of the first paragraph under “Certain Matters
Regarding the Corporation” above. (TI Section 11.01)
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The Corporation may amend the Trust Indenture as 1t relates to any Issue with the consent of the
Holders of Certificates evidencing Fractional Undivided Interests aggregating not less than 66 percent
of the related Trust Fund so as to waive compliance by the Corporation with any terms of the Trust
Indenture or related Issue Supplement, or to aliow the Corporation to elimnate, change, add to, or
modify the terms of the Trust Indenture or Issue Supplement. However, no such waiver or
amendment may, without the consent of all Certificateholders, terminate or modify the guaranty
obligations of the Corporation or reduce the percentages of Certificates the Hoiders of which are
required to consent to any waiver or amendments. In addition, no waiver or amendment shall,
without the consent of each Certificateholder affected thereby, reduce in any manner the amount of, or
delay the timing of, payments received on Mortgage Loans that are required to be distributed on any

Certaficate. (TI Section 11.02)

Termination

The Trust Indenture as 1t relates to each Issue terminates upon the final payment or hquidation
of the last Mortgage Loan remaining 1n the related Pool and distribution of all proceeds thereof. The
Trust Indenture as it relates to each Issue will terminate also upon repurchase by the Corporation, at
its option, of all remaining Mortgage Loans 1n the related Pool at a price equal to 100 percent of the
Stated Principal Balance of each such Mortgage Loan together with one month’s interest thereon at
the Pass-Through Rate (or, 1n the case of a VRM Pool, one month's interest on the Stated Principal
Balance at the Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate, or, 1n the case of a GPM Pool or an ARM Pool,
one month’s interest on the Stated Principal Balance of each Graduating GPM or ARM, as the case
may be, at the applicable Pool Accrual Rate). (TI Section 10.01) The exercise of such option will
effect early retirement of the Certificates of that Issue, but the Corporation’s right to repurchase is
condrtioned upan the Pool Principal Balance at the time of repurchase being less than ten percent of
the Pool Principal Balance on the lssue Date. In addition, the Corporation has stated that it will be its
policy not to exercise any such option 1n respect of any Pool if (i) it has knowledge that any related
Certificate has been pledged to secure an 1ssue of cash flow obligations or is included in a pool
underlying an 1ssue of cash flow obligations and (ii) the exercise of such option would take place prior
to the earliest date upon which the issuer of such cash flow obligations or the sponsor of such Pool can
exercise an option to redeem such obligations or purchase such Certificates without premium. In no
event, however, will the trust relating to each Pool as created by the Trust Indenture continue beyond
the expiration of 21 years from the death of the last survivor of the persons named in the Trust
Indenture. For each Issue, the Corporation will give wnitten notice of termination of the Trust
Indenture as 1t relates to such Issue to each affected Certficateholder, and the final distrbution will be
made to the person entitled thereto. (TI Seetion 10.01)

CERTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

This 1s a discussion of certain federal imncome tax consequences to persons purchasing Certificates.
For purposes of this discussion, in applying a federal income tax rule that depends upon the
ongination date of a mortgage note or the characteristics of a mortgage note at its origination, the
term “‘Mortgage Loan,” in the case of a participation interest, shall mean the underlying mortgage
note and not the participation interest therein.

The discussion does not purport to deal with all aspects of federal taxation that may be relevant to
particuiar investors. Prospective investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the
federal income tax consequences of holding and disposing of Certificates as well as any tax conse-
quences ansing under the laws of any state or other taxing junsdiction.

Revenue Ruling 84-10, 1984-1 C.B. 155, sets forth certain federal income tax consequences
relating to investments in the Certificates issued with respect to a Pool. Pursuant to Revenue
Ruling 84-10, a Pool will not be classified as an association taxable as a corporation, but will be
classified as g trust of which the beneficial owners of the Certificates (the “Owners”} are the owners
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under Subpart E of Part I of Subchapter J of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”). Each Owmer will be treated as the owner of a pro rata undivided interest in the ordinary
income and corpus of the trust attributable to that particuiar Pool and will be considered to be the
equitable owner of a pro rata undivided interest i each of the Mortgage Loans included therem,
subject to the discussion below concerning a possible recharactenzation of a portion of the servicing
compensation. Although Revenue Ruling 84-10 does not specifically address participation interests in
mortgage notes, other IRS pronouncements clearly indicate that the holdings of Revenue Ruling 84-10
are equaily applicable to a Certificate backed by a Pool consisting (in whole or in part) of

participation interests.

Accordingly, Owners of a particular seres will be required to report on their federal income tax
returns, consistent with their methods of accounting, their pro rata share of the entire income from
the Mortgage Loans in that particular Pool, including interest, prepayment penalties, assumption fees
and late payment charges attnibutable to the Mortgage Loans the Pool, plus any amount paid by the
Corporation as interest under 1ts guaranty. Owners will be entitled to deduct their pro rata share of
the servicing compensation paid to the Corporation, as provided 1n section 162 or section 212 of the
Code, consistent with their methods of accounting and subject to the discussions below.

The deduction for an Owner’s share of the Corporation’s servicing compensation 1s limited under
section 67 of the Code n the case of (1) estates and trusts, and (i1} individuals owning an interest i a
Certificate directly or through an investment n a “pass-through entity” (other than n connection
with such individual’s trade or business). Pass-through entities nclude partnerships, S corporations,
grantor trusts, and non-publicly offered regulated investment companies but do not include estates,
nongrantor trusts, cooperatives, real estate investment trusts and publicly offered regulated invest-
ment companies. Generally, such deduction, when aggregated with certain of the Owner’s other
miscellaneous itemized deductions, is allowable only to the extent that such aggregate amount exceeds
2 percent of the Owner’s adjusted gross income. Adjusted gross mcome for an estate or nongrantor
trust is to be computed in the same manner as in the case of an individual except that deductions for
admimstrative expenses of the estate or trust that would not have been incurred if the property were
not held in such trust or estate are treated as allowable in armving at adjusted gross income.

Revenue Ruling 84-10 does not contemplate the mandatory repurchase of ARMs from Pools
pursuant to the borrower’s exercise of an option to convert the ARM to a fixed-rate mortgage loan.
However, Dewey Ballantine, special tax counsel to the Corporation. has rendered its opinion to the
Corporation that the conclusions of Revenue Ruling 84-10 wiil be applicable, notwithstanding the
mandatory repurchase from the Pool of ARMs with respect to which the borrowers exercise thewr
options to convert the ARMs to fixed-rate mortgage loans.

Owners must also report as ordinary mncome their pro rata share of any onginal 1ssue discount on
each of the Mortgage Loans 1n a manner consistent with the special rules of section 1272 of the Code.
Under these rules, Owners are required to include their share of any onginal issue discount in income
as 1t accrues, possibly before the receipt of cash attributable to that income, regardless of their
methods of accounting. The speci rules of section 1272 of the Code will not apply. however, with
respect to Mortgage Loans originated before March 2, 1984, 1f the mortgagors of such Mortgage Loans
were natural persons.

Proposed reguiations were issued in April 1986 by the Treasury Department relating to the
determnation and treatment of onginal issue discount under sections 1271 through 1275 of the Code
(the “Proposed Regulations”). Under the Proposed Reguiations. certain arrangements in connection
with the origination of the Mortgage Loans, such as the charging of points, may give rise to onginal
jssue discount subject to the special rules of section 1272 of the Code. In the case of Mortgage Loans
originated after May 8, 1986, the Proposed Regulations provide that lenders that made the Mortgage
Loans must give notice of ongnal issue discount on such Mortgage Loans at the time they sell them to
the Corporation. The Corporation will report annually to hoiders of record their share of any such
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ongmnal issue discount. However, the Owner’s share of any original 1ssue discount 1s mcome to the
Owner regardiess of whether 1t 1s reported to the Corporation by the Lender.

With respect to ARMs that provide for an incentive interest rate, the Proposed Regulations may
require a reallocation of a portion of the interest from the periods when such rate 18 not 1n effect to the
period during which such rate 1s 1n effect. Under the Proposed Regulations, an Owner 1s also required
to treat any interest, the payment of which 1s deferred, as mcludible m mcome at the time such
interest would have been payable in the absence of such deferral. Owners are advised to consult their

own tax advisors concerning these matters.

With respect to any undivided mnterest 1n a Mortgage Loan purchased at a premum, an Owner
may elect to allocate the premium among the interest payments received on the Mortgage Loan on a
yield to maturnty basis under the rules of section 171 of the Code if the Mortgage Loan was ongmnated
after September 27, 1985. The amount of any such prem:um so allocated shall be applied against (and
operate to reduce) the amount of any such interest inciudible in income. Correspondingly, an Owner’s
basis mn its undivided interest shall be decreased by the amount of premium applied to reduce any
interest income. For Mortgage Loans onginated before September 28, 1985, an Owner will be entitled
to premium amortization under section 171 only if the mortgagor is not an individual and the other
conditions for the application of that section are met. If section 171 1s inapplicable or if an Owner
does not make an election thereunder, (1) such an Owner must include the full amount of each interest
payment in income, and (1i) the premium must be allocated to the principal distributions on the
Mortgage Loan and, when each such distnbution 18 received, a loss equal to the premium allocated to
such distribution will be recognized. Any tax benefit from the premium not previously recognized will
be taken 1nto account in computing gan or loss upon the sale or disposition of the Certificate.

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS™) also ruled in Revenue Ruling 84-10 as follows:

1. A Certificate owned by a domestic building and loan association is considered as
representing “loans secured by an interest in real property” within the meaning of section
7701(a) (19) (C) (v) of the Code, provided the real property underlying each Mortgage Loan is
{or, from the proceeds of the Mortgage Loans, will become) the type of real property described in
that section of the Code. .

2. A Certaficate 15 considered as representing “qualifying real property loans” within the
meaning of section 533(d) of the Code, provided the real property underlying each Mortgage
Loan 1s (or, from the proceeds of the Mortgage Loans, will become) the type of real property
described in that section of the Code. Thus, a Ceruficate owned by a domestic building and loan
association or any other thrift insutution described 1n section 593 (a) of the Code will represent
“qualifying real property loans” within the meaning of section 593(d) of the Code, provided the
real property underlying each Mortgage Loan is (or, from the proceeds of the Mortgage Loans,
will become ) the type of real property described in that section of the Code.

3. A Certificate owned by a real estate investment trust is considered as representing “real
estate assets” within the meaning of section 856(c) (5) (A) of the Code, and the interest income
1s considered “‘interest on obligations secured by mortgages on real property” within the meaning
of section 856(c) (3) (B) of the Code.

In certain cases, a Mortgage Loan may be secured by additional collateral consisting of an escrow
account held with a financial institution (an “Escrow Mortgage Loan”). The escrow account consists
of an interest rate buydown account that meets the requirements of the Corporation’s Selling Guide,
an achievement escrow that meets the requirements of the Corporation’s Multifamily Guide, or any
other escrow account described in the related Prospectus Suppiement. Although the rulings deacribed
n the preceding paragraphs do not specifically refer to Escrow Mortgage Loans, the conclusions
reflected in paragraphs 1 and 2 should be generaily applicabie to an Owner’s investment in an Escrow
Mortgage Loan 1f the escrow account does not represent an account with the Owner. Owners and their
tax advisors are advised to review section 1.593-11(d) of the Treasury Regulations and to compare
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Revenue Ruling 81-203, 1981-2 C.B. 137. In the case of the rulings referred to 1n paragraph 3, an
investment in an Escrow Mortgage Loan by a real estate investment trust should also be treated in 1ts
entirety as a “real estate asset’’ within the meamng of section 856(c) (5) (A) of the Code 1if the fair
market value of the real property securing the Escrow Mortgage Loan equals or exceeds the principal
amount of such Escrow Mortgage Loan at the time the real estate investment trust makes a
commitment to acquire a Certificate. This conclusion is supported by Treasury Regulation section
1.856-5(c) (1) (i), which specifies that if a mortgage loan is secured by both real property and by other
property and the value of the real property alone equals or exceeds the amount of the loan, then all
interest income will be treated as ‘“‘interest on obligations secured by mortgages on real property”
within the meaning of section 856(c)(3)(B) of the Code. Since there are no directly applicable
precedents with respect to the federal income tax treatment of investments n Escrow Mortgage
Loans, Owners should consult with their tax advisors concerning such tag treatment.

Lenders may provide the monies for the interest rate buydown accounts that secure certain
Escrow Mortgage Loans (“Lender Buydown Loans”). Under the Corporation’s Seiling Guide, the
borrower 18 liabie for the entire payment on a Lender Buydown Loan, without offset by any payments
due from the buydown account. Accordingly, the Corporation plans to treat Lender Buydown Loans

entirely as the obligation of the horrower.

It is possible, however, that the IRS will take the position that a Lender Buydown Loan should be
treated as if the borrower were obligated only to the extent of the net payment after application of the
interest rate buydown account. If the IRS were able to maintain this position successfully, an Owner
of a Lender Buydown Loan would be treated as holding two debt instruments: one 1ssued by the
Lender (to the extent of payments from the buydown account), and the other 1ssued by the borrower
(to the extent of the net payment by the borrower}. Such treatment would require a reallocation of &
portion of the interest to the period when the buydown account is 1n existence from the remaining
term of the Certificate. Moreover, dunng the buydown pernod and to the extent of the buydown
account, the three rulings described above would be mapplicable. Owners are advised to consult with
their tax advisors concermng the tax treatment of Lender Buydown Loans.

In general, for purposes of sections 1276 and 1277 of the Code, an Owner’s interest in a Mortgage
Loan will be considered to be acquired at a market discount if the face amount of such interest exceeds
the Owner’s basis in such interest. Pursuant to section 1276 of the Code, an Owner will be required to
include as ordinary income, with respect to any Mortgage Loan originated after July 18, 1984 that 18
acquired at a market discount, (i) any partial pnncipal payment on such Mortgage Loan to the extent
such payment does not exceed the accrued market discount (as defined in section 1276 of the Code)
on such Mortgage Loan, and (ii) gain realized on the disposition of such Mortgage Loan or of such
Owner’s Certificate representing an interest in such Mortgage Loan that is attnbutable to accrued
market discount on such Mortgage Loan to the extent not previously included as ordinary income
under section 1276 of the Code. Pursuant to section 1277 of the Code, an Owner’s deduction for
interest paid or accrued to purchase or carry a Certificate that represents Mortgage Loans acquired
(by virtue of the acquisition of the Certificate) at a market discount after July 18, 1984 may have to
be deferred to the extent such interest is attributed under section 1277 of the Code to the portion of
such market discount that accrued during the taxable year. A deduction for such deferred interest or a
portion thereof will, in general, be allowed only when such Mortgage Loans are disposed of or when an
Owner disposes of its Certificate. Although the matter s not free from doubt, such a deduction should
also be allowed to the extent that such market discount is included in ordinary income by virtue of a
partial principal payment. Any gain recognized upon a disposition of a Mortgage Loan originated on
or before July 18, 1984 or of a Certificate representing an interest in such Mortgage Loan will have to
be recognized as ordinary income to the extent of the deferred interest deduction. The Treasury
Department has not yet issued regulations implementing the market discount rules, and Owners
should consult their tax advisors regarding the application of these rules as well as the adwisability of
making any elections relating to such rules.
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Owners are advised to consult with their tax advisors as to the possibility that the Mortgage
Loans could be treated by the IRS as a collection of “stripped bonds” and “stripped coupons” within
the meaning of section 1286 of the Code. A debt obligation becomes a “stnipped bond” within the
meaning of section 1286 of the Code when the ownership of the right to receive some or all of the
interest payments thereon is separated from the ownership of the nght to receive some or all of the
principal. Interest payments with respect to a stripped bond are “stmpped coupons” within the
meaning of section 1286 of the Code. The Mortgage Loans could be treated as a collection of
“stnipped bonds” and “stripped coupons” if the Corporation’s servicing compensation applicable to a
particular Pool were considered by the IRS to exceed reasonable compensation for the services
performed and the “excess” portion of such compensation were recharacterized as a separate, retained
right to receive a portion of the interest payments to be made by mortgagors pursuant to the Mortgage
Loans. If the Mortgage Loans were so treated, one consequence may be, in effect, to require the
current accrual of market discount and permit the amortization of premium on the Mortgage Loans
(to the extent not otherwise allowable under section 171). Another consequence, if they are so
treated, would be that the “excess” portion of such compensation would be excluded from the income
of the Owners of Certificates and thus would not be subject to the limitations on the deductibility of
miscellaneous 1temized deductions (discussed above). However, absent Treasury regulations, it is not
clear what the applicable rules would be. There are also other possible ways to characterize the
“excess’” portion of servicing compensation. For example, 1t is possible that the IRS would
recharacterize such a portion as additional purchase price paxd under a deferred payment obligation
incurred by an Owner at the time such Owmer purchased its Certificate representing 1ts individual
interest in the Mortgage Loans. In this event, the Owner’s initial deductions could be less than the
deductions that would have been allowed if the portion of the servicing compensation had not been so

recharactenzed.

The Corporation will furmsh to each holder of record with each distribution a statement setting
forth the amount of such distribution allocable to principal and to interest. In addition, the
Corporation will furmsh or make available, within a reasonable time after the end of each calendar
year, to each holder who at any tume during such year received a distribution from the Corporation, a
statement setting forth such holder’s pro rata share of interest received and administrative expense for

such calendar year. !

Payments of interest and principal, as well as payments of proceeds from the sale of Certificates,
may be subject to the “backup withholding” tax under section 3406 of the Code at a rate of 20 percent
if the recipient of such a payment 1s not an “exempt recipient” and fails to furmish certain
information, including 1ts taxpayer 1dentification number, to the Corporation or its agent, or otherwise
fails to estabhsh an exemption from auch tax. Any amounts deducted and withheid from such a
payment would be allowed as a credit against the Owner’s federal income tax. Furthermore, certain
penalties may be imposed by the IRS on a holder or Owner who 1s required to supply information but
who does not do so in the proper manner.

Payments made to, or on behalf of, an Owner who 1s not a U.S. Person (a “Non-U.S. Person”) on
a Certificate that represents an undivided interest 1n a Poocl of Mortgage Loans all of which were
ongnated after July 18, 1984 generally will be exempt from U.S. federal income and withholding
taxes, provided the following conditions are satisfied: (a) such Owner does not hold the Certificate in
connection with the conduct by such person of a trade or business in the Umted States, (b) the Owner
is not, with respect to the United States, a personal hoiding company or a corporation that
accumulates earnings 1n order to avoid U.S. federal income tax, {¢) the Owner is not a U.S. expatriate
or former U.S. resmident who 1s taxable in the manner provided 1n section 877(b) of the Code, (d) the
Owner 1s not an “excluded person” (e, a 10 percent shareholder of the Corporation within the
meamng of section 871(h)(3) (B) of the Code or a “controlled foreign corporation” related to the
Corporation within the meaning of section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code)}, (e) the Owner signs a
statement under penalties of perjury that certifies that it 18 a Non-U.S. Person or, in the case of an
individual, that the Owner 18 neither a citizen nor resident of the United States, and provides the
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name, address and taxpayer 1dentification number, if any, of the Owner and (f) the last U.S. Person in
the chain of payment to the Owner (the “Withholding Agent”) receives such non-U.S. beneficial
cwnership statement from the Owner or a financial institution holding on behalf of the Owner and
cdoes not have actual knowledge that such statement 1s false. That portion of interest income of an
Owner who is a Non-U.S. Person on a Certificate that represents an interest 1n one ot more Mortgage
Loans originated before July 19, 1984 will be subject to a U.S. withholding tax at the rate of 30 percent
or lower treaty rate, if applicable. Regardless of the date of origination of the Mortgage Loans, backup
withholding will not apply to payments made to an Owner that is such a Non-U.S. Person 1f the Owner
or a financial institution holding on behaif of the Gwner provides the non-U.S. beneficial ownership
statement to the Withholding Agent.

The non-U.S. beneficial ownership statement referred to in the preceding paragraph may be made
on an IRS Form W-8 or substantiaily similar substitute form. The Owner or financial institution
holding on behalf of the Owner must inform the Withholding Agent of any change in the information
on the statement within 30 days of such change. In all cases, the Form W-8 or substitute form must be
filed by the Withholding Agent with the IRS. “U.S. Person” means a citizen or resident of the United
States, a corporation, partnership or other entity created or organmized m or under the laws of the
United States or any political subdivision thereof, or an estate or trust that 1s subject to U S. federal
income tax regardless of the source of its income.

LEGAL OPINION

Any purchaser of Certificates will be furnished upon request an opinion by Caryl S. Bernstein,
Esq., Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary of the Corporation, as to the valdity
of the Certificates, the applicable Trust Indenture. and the relevant Issue Supplement.

ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

The Department of Labor issued a final regulation on November 13, 1986, which provides that 1n
‘he case where an employee benefit plan (“plan”) subject to the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) acquires a “guaranteed governmental mortgage pool certificate”
:hen, for purposes of the fiduciary responsibility provisions of ERISA and the prohibited transaction
orovisions of the Code, the plan’s assets include the certificate and all of 1ts rights with respect to such
certificate under applicable law, but do not, solely by reason of the plan’s holding of such certificate,
include any of the mortgages underlying such certificate. Under the regulation, the term “‘guaranteed
governmental mortgage pool certificate” is specifically defined to inciude a certificate “backed by, or
pvidencing an interest in specified mortgages or participation interests therein” and with respect to
which interest and principal payable pursuant to the certificate are guaranteed by the Corporation.
The effect of such regulation s to make clear that the sponsor (that 1s, the entity that organizes and
services the pool, in this case the Corporation), the trustee, and other persons, in providing services
with respect to the mortgages in the pool, would not be subject to the fiduciary responsibility
provisions of Title I of ERISA, nor be subject to the prohibited transaction provisions of section 4975
of the Code, merely by reason of the plan’'s investment in a certificate. The Corporation has been
advised by its counsel, Brown & Wood, that, on the basis of the final regulation and class exemptions
previously 1ssued by the Department of Labor, the acquisition from the Corporation and holding of
the Certificates by plans are not prohibited either by ERISA or related provisions of the Code.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

The Federal National Mortgage Association (the “Corporation” or “Fannie Mae”) 13 a federally
chartered and stockholder-owned corporation organized and existing under the Federal National
Mortgage Association Charter Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1716 et seg. (the “Charter Act”). See “Government
Regulation and Charter Act.” It 1s the largest investor in home mortgage loans in the United States,
with a net portfolio of $110.9 billion of mortgage loans as of September 30, 1990. The Corporation
was ongmally established in 1938 as a Umited States government agency to provide supplemental
liqudity to the mortgage market and was transformed mto a stockholder-owned and privately
managed corporation by legslation enacted 1n 1968.

The Corporation provides funds to the mortgage market by purchasing mortgage loans from
lenders, thereby replemshing their funds for additional lending. The Corporation acquires funds to
purchase loans from many capital market investors that may not ordinarily invest in mortgage loans,
thereby expanding the total amount of funds available for housing. Operating nationwde, the
Corporation helps to redistribute mortgage funds from capital-surplus to capital-short areas.

The Corporation also 1ssues mortgage-backed secunties (“MBS”). The Corporation receives
guaranty fees for 1ts guaranty of timely payment of principal of and interest on MBS certificates. The
Corporation 1ssues MBS pnimanly in exchange for pools of mortgage loans from lenders. The 1ssuance
of MBS enables the Corporation to further s statutory purpose of increasing the liquidity of
residential mortgage loans. MBS outstanding as of September 30, 1990 totaled $281.8 billion.

The principal office of the Corporation 18 located at 3900 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, Washington,
DC 20016 (telephone: 202-752-7000).

Copies of the Corporation’s most recent annual and quarterly reports and proxy statement are
availabie wathout charge from Paul Paquin, Senior Vice President—Investor Relations, Fanme Mae,

3900 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20016 (telephone’ 202-752-7115).
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CAPITALIZATION
The following table sets forth the capitalization of the Corporation as of September 30, 1990.

Average Average
Maturity Cost(3) QOutstanding
{ Dollars 1
millions)
Dehentures, notes, and bonds(1)
Due wathin one yvear
Short-term notes 3 mos. R.11% § 12,322
Debentures 6 mos 8 41 14,422
Subordinated capital debentures 2 mos. 9.15 400
Other(2) — 820 8,284
Total due within one vear 35,428
Due after one vear
Debentures 5 yrs. 6 mos 911 76,198
Subordinated capitat debentures 14 vrs. 5 mos.  9.24 1,891
Other 6 yrs. 1 mo 8.46 _5.007
Total due after one year 83,398
Total debentures. notes, and bonds 118,826

Stackholders’ equity ] 3,727
(1) See "‘Business—Corporate Indebtedness” for a description of certain hmitations applica-
ble to debt 1ssued by the Corporation. Amounts shown are net of unamortized discount.
(2) Average maturity 18 indeterminate because the outstanding amount includes investment
agreements that have varying maturties
{3) The average cost includes the amortization of discounts, issuance cOsts, hedging results,
and the effect of foreign currency swaps

The Corporation 1ssues debentures, notes, and other debt obhgations frequently. The amount of
debentures, notes, and bonds outstanding on any date subsequent to September 30, 1990 may differ
from that shown in the table above.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data for the years 1385 through 1989 (which data are not covered
by the report of independent certified public accountants) have been summarized or derived from the
audited financial statements. The financial data for the nine months ended September 30, 1930 and
1989 are unaudited and include, in the opimon of management, all adjustments {consisting of normal
recurning accruals) necessary for a fair presentation. The results of operations for the nine months
ended September 30, 1990 are not necessarily indicative of the resulis expected for the entire vear. All
per share information reflects the three-for-one stock split that occurred in Qctober 1988, These data
should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes to financial statements
and the unaudited interim financial statements and related notes that are presented elsewhere herein.

NlnEe hg:gths
D I o mounts) September 30, Year Ended December 31,
1990 1988 1989 1988 1987 1986 19856
Income Statement Data:
Net interest income 2 1,178 $ 839 § 1,191 § 837 & 830 $ 384 % 139
Guaranty fees 388 297 408 328 263 175 112
Net income (loss) 866 570 807 507 376 106 (7)
Per Share
Earmings (loss) (fully
diluted) 3.31 217 3.10 2.11 1.54 47 (.03)
Cash dividends a0 29 43 24 .12 07 05
Balance Sheet Data (as of end
of period):
Mortgage portfolio, net 110,939 104,017 107,756 99 867 93,470 93,049 94,497
Total assets 128,355 119,533 124,315 112,258 103,459 99,621 99,076
Total borrowings 118,826 111,507 116,064 105,459 97,067 93,563 93,985
Stockholders’ equuty 3,727 2,749 2,891 2,260 1,811 1,182 1,009
Other Data:
Net interest margin 139% 1.12% 1.16% 0.89% 1.00% 0.40% 015%
Ratio of earmings to fixed
charges(1} 1151 110.1 1.11.1 1071 1.06.1 102:1 1.00:1
Mortgage purchases $ 17,394 $ 14,893 § 22,518 § 23,116 $ 20,531 $30.,826 $21,510
MBS 1ssued 72.408 44,294 69,764 54,878 63,229 60,566 23,649
MBS outstanding at penod
end(2) 281,806 208,894 228,232 178,250 139,960 97,174 54,987

(1) For the purpose of calculating the ratio of earmngs to fixed charges, “earnings” consists of
income (loss) before federal income taxes and fixed charges. “‘Fixed charges’ consists of
interest expense and interest capitalized on real estate owned.

{2) Inciuded are Fannie Mae MBS held in the mortgage portfolio totaling $11.5 billion and
$10 7 bithon at September 30, 1990 and 1989, respectively, and $11.7, $8.1, $4.2, $1.6, and
$0.4 bilhon at December 31, 1989, 1988, 1987, 1986, and 1985, respectively.



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Annual Periods

Results of Operations

In 1989, Fannie Mae had the most profitable year in its history. The Corporation earned net
income of $807 million 1n 1989, compared with $507 million 1n 1988, and $376 million in 1987. The
growth in net income 1n 1989 resuited primarily from a continued increase m the spread between the
yield on the Corporation’s mortgage and other investments and 1ts cost of debt and from growth in the
size of the average investment balance. Other factors that contributed to the higher net income n
1989 include increased guaranty fee income resulting from the growth 1n Mortgage-Backed Securities
(“MBS”) outstanding and a reduction 1n the provision for losses as the Corporation expenenced a
decline in foreclosures and related losses.

Net income in 1988 surpassed 1987 net income mainly because of increased interest spread and a
larger earning asset base. Other reasons for the higher net mncome in 1988 include increased guaranty
fee 1ncome, a gain on sales of mortgages, and a lower effective federal income tax rate. In 1987, a
cumulative adjustment to reflect revised mortgage yields, described under ‘‘Financial Accounting
Standard No. 91,7 net of certain actions taken by management, added $423 miilion to net interest
income and $134 million to net income.

A summary of selected financial information for the years 1987-1989 follows.

Selected Financial Information: 1987-1989

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

_ Change
1989 1988
Over Over
1989 1988 1987 1988 1987
Operating Resuits for the Year
Ended December 31,
Net interest income . . $ 1,191 ¢ 837 % 890 (1)$ 354 $(53)
Guaranty fees . 408 328 263 80 65
Gam (loss) on sales of mortgages . 9 12 {81) (3) g3
Miscellaneous income, net . 60 69 53 (9) 16
Provision for losses ... . (310) {365) (360) 55 (5)
Admnistrative expenses. . {254) (218) (197) {(36) (21)
Income before federal income taxes. 1,104 663 568 441 95
Provision for federal income taxes..... (297} {156) (192) (141) 36
Net income $ BO7 % 507 $ 376 (1)8 300 $131
Per share:(2)
Earnings:
Primary L ... .% 314 § 214 $ 155 $1.00 $ .59
Fully diluted 3.10 2.11 1.54 .99 .57
Cash dividends . 43 .24 12 .19 12
% Change
1988 1988
Over Over
1989 1988 1987 1888 1987
Financial Condition at December 31,
Mortgage portfolio, net ..... NP $107,756 § 99,867 $ 93,470 8% 7%
Total assets . L el e 124,315 112,258 103,459 il 9
Borrowings:
Due within one year . ........ .. .. 36,346 36,599 29,718 (1) 23
Due after one year..  .... .. e 79,718 68,860 67,339 16 2
Total liabilities . .... ... - 121,324 109,998 101,648 10 g
Stockholders’ equity . ... A 2,991 2,260 1,811 32 25
MBS outstanding(3} ....... ....... . 228,232 178,250 139,960 28 27

(1) The 1987 financial information reflects the retroactive implementation of a change in
accounting discussed in the Notes to Financial Statements, “Commitment Fees and
Mortgage Prepayments.” Results for 1987 also include a cumulative adjustment for
additional interest income associated with a higher level of mortgage repayments, net of
adjustments for certain actions taken by management. Without these items, 1987 net
interest income would have been $467 million and net income would have been $242 mil-
lion ($.99 per share fully diluted).

(2) All per share information reflects a three-for-one stock split effective in October 1989.

(3) Included in MBS outstanding are $11.7 billion, $8.1 billion, and $4.2 billion of Fannie Mae
MBS held in the mortgage portfolio at December 31, 1989, 1988, and 1987, respectively.
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Net Interest Income

A major source of earnings is net interest income, which represents the income from the mortgage
portfolio and other investments, minus the interest paid on borrowings and related costs. Net interest
mcome was $1,191 million 1n 1989 compared with $837 million in 1988 and $880 million n 1987
($467 million before the adjustments mentioned above).

The followmng table presents selected average balances, effective interest rates earned and paid,
and interest income and expense for 1989, 1988, and 1987.

Net Interest Income and Average Balances
(Dollars in millions)

1988 1988 1987
Effective Effective Effective
Average Interest Average Interest Average Interest
Balance Interest Rate(i) Balance Interest Rate(1l) Balance Inierest Rate{1)

Interest-earning assets
Mortgage portfohio, net(2) £101,714 $10,103 10.01% $ 98,012 $ 9,629

Investments and cash

90% $91,514 $9,586(3) 10.51%

w

eguivalents 10,732 977 9.51 7,585 597 835 3 681 257 7.63
Total interest-earning assets 3112 446 $11,080 9 96% $105,597 $16,226 9_'1’8°1- $95 195 $9,B43 10.40% (4}
Interest-beanng habihties
Borrowings due within 1 vear $ 22,800 $ 1,875 8.66% $ 20,532 § 1,726 841% $11.196 § 973 8.69%
Borrowings due after 1 year 85,002 7,214 9.31 81,228 7,663 943 80,524 7,980 9.91
Total interest-bearng
habuilities $107 802 $ 9,889 3.17% $101 760 $ 9389 923% $91,720 88953 9 76%
Net 1interest mcome $ 1,191 $ 937 $ 890
Interest spread 79% 55% 54%(4)
Net yield on interest-earning
1 16% B9% 1.00%(4)

assets(5)

(1) Tax equivalent basis using the respective statutory federal tax rate. Also includes the
amortization of issuance costs, hedging resultd, and the effect of currency and interest rate
swaps.

(2) Includes average balance of nonperforming loans of $0.8 billion, $1.1 billion, and $1.5 bil-
lion 1n 1989, 1988, and 1387, respectively.

(3) Includes a cumulative adjustment of $478 million related to implementation of FAS 91 and
a reduction of $55 milhon principally due to a revision in the method of estimating
uncollectible interest.

(4) Includes .44% relating to the adjustments described above.

(5) Represents the difference between the rate of interest on earning assets and the effective
rate paid on both interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing funds.

Net interest income was higher in 1989 than in 1988 because of an increase in the interest spread
and a larger earmng asset base. The increase 1n the interest spread for 1989 pnmarily was attributable
to a nse in the average portfolio vield and, to a lesser extent, a decline in the cost of debt outstanding.

The increase 1n net interest income in 1988 compared with 1987, excluding the $423 million
adjustment related to Financial Accounting Standard No. 91 (“FAS 917) and certain management
actions, for the most part was due to the reduction in the cost of debt outstanding. The average
mortgage portfolio yield deciined in 1988 compared with 1987. The dechne 1n yeld was caused by the
high level of prepayments mn 1987 of high-vielding mortgage assets and the increase in purchases of
adjustable-rate mortgages (“ARMs”), whnch have a lower 1nitial yield than fixed-rate mortgages. Net
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interest income also increased in 1988 compared with 1987 due to growth in the size of the investment
portfolio.

Net interest income does not include accrued interest on nonperforming loans. A loan 13 classified
as nonperforming and accrued interest is reversed out of income when a payment 18 90 days or more
past due. If nonperforming assets had been fully performing, they would have contnbuted an
additional $48 million to mnterest income in 1988, $89 million 1n 1988, and $200 million {including
$55 million principally due to a change in the method of estimating uncollectible interest) in 1987.
The amounts of nonperforming loans outstanding at December 31, 1989, 1988, and 1987 were
$0.7 billion, $0.9 billion, and $1.3 billion, respectively.

The following rate/volume analysis shows the relative contribution of asset growth and interest
rate changes to changes in net interest income for the years ended December 31, 1989, 1988, and 1987.

Rate/Volume Analysis

(Dallars in millions)

Attributable to
Changes in{1)

Increase
{ Decrease) Volume Rate
1989 vs. 1988
Interest income . . . $ 854 $ 672 $ 182
Interest expense . . 500 554 (54)
Net interest income .- $ 354 $ 118 $ 236
1988 va. 1887
Interest income § 806 $1,011 $(205)
Interest expense .. 436 944 {508)
370 67 303
Effect of accounting changes(2) (423) e (423)
Net interest income $( 53) $ 67 %(120)

(1} Combined rate/volume variances, a third element of the calculation, are allocated to the
rate and volume variances based on their relative size

(2) Includes a cumulative adjustment of $478 million related to implementation of FAS 91 and
a reduction of $55 million prnncipally due to a revision n the manner of estimating

uncollectible interest.

Financial Accounting Standard No. 91

In 1987, management elected to implement, on a retroactive basis, Financial Accounting
Standard No. 91. Under FAS 91, commitment fees are deferred and, together with purchase discount,
are amortized over the estimated life of the related mortgages using the interest method. Prior to
implementation of the new standard, Fannie Mae recogmzed fee income 1n the peniod 1in which the
commitment was issued.

During 1987, management determined that actual and projected mortgage prepayments substan-
tially exceeded the rates assumed previously 1n calculating the effective yield on mortgage loans.
Accordingly, the Corporation recorded additional interest income of $478 mllion 1n the fourth quarter
of 1987 to reflect actual experience and expectations for future prepayments. Under the prior method
of accounting, adjustments to purchase discount to refiect revised prepayment estimates would have

been made prospectively.
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Other Income

Guaranty fee income ncreased in 1989 compared with 1988 and 1987 due to the growth in the
amount of MBS outstanding. These fees are earned for guaranteeing the timely payment of principal
and interest to 1nvestors in MBS.

The foliowing table shows guaranty fee income as a percentage of the average balance of MBS
outstanding 1n 1989, 1988, and 1987.
Dollars in millions

1989 1988 1987
Guaranty fee income .. . . 3 408 $ 328 3 263
Average balance of MBS outstanding (1) . . $191,037 $152,107 $119,184
Effective guaranty fee rate . e .21% 22% 22%

(1) Excludes $9 8 billion, $6.4 biilion, and $2.2 billion in 1989, 1988, and 1987, respectively, of
average balance of Fanme Mae MBS held in the mortgage portfolio.

A major reason for the decrease 1n mscellaneous income 1n 1989 was a $13 milhon loss mcurred
on the repurchase of $94 miliion of high-cost debt at a premium over the 1ssue price. There was also a
net decrease of $17 million attributable to a decline 1n fees from unexercised commitments and from
other sources of misceilaneous income. A $21 million increase in fees earned for 1ssuing real estate
mortgage investment conduit (“REMIC™) secunties partially offset these decreases. The Corporation
1ssued $37.6 billion of REMICs in 1989 compared with $11.2 billion 1n 1988, and the related fees were

$37 million and $16 mallion, respectively.

The increase in miscellaneous income mn 1988 compared with 1987 was due partially to
unfavorable adjustments of $28 milhon 1n 1987 resulting from the adoption of FAS 91 and the
repurchase of high-cost debt. In addition, no REMIC fees were earned 1n 1987.

Credit Risk Management

Management evaluates the nsk of loss on the mortgage loan portfolio and MBS outstanding based
on recent expenence, current economic conditions and estimates of future losses on senously
delinquent and foreclosed loans. During 1989 the Corporation expenenced a decline in the number of
foreclosed properties acquired. The following table shows for 1989, 1988, and 1987 the number of
single-family foreclosed properties acquired during the year and in inventory at year end.

Number of Properties(1) 18989 1988 1987
Acquired . .. 10,048 14,334 16,676
In inventory at vear-end 4,975 7,458 9,434

{1) Includes properties acquired from foreclosures of single-family loans in portfolic or
backmmg MBS.

Fewer acquisitions led to a decline in total charge-offs to $243 million in 1989 compared with
$315 mllion 1 1988 and $285 million 1n 1987, Management responded to this moderation in the level
of foreclosures by reducing the provision for losses to $310 miilion in 1989 from $365 million and
$360 million in 1988 and 1987, respectively. Because the provision exceeded charge-offs in these
years, the allowance for losses increased to $463 mullion at the end of 1989, compared with $396
milhon and $346 million at the end of 1988 and 1987, reapectively. Management mamntains the
allowance for losses at a level 1t believes is adequate, considering current and anticipated charge-offs
and the higher amount of portfolio and MBS outstanding.

Included in 1989 and 1988 charge-offs were $13 million and $28 million, respectively, relating to
pending mortgage insurance claims with Ticor Mortgage Insurance Company, Ine. (“TMIC”) on
foreclosures that occurred between late 1985 and April 1988, and on TMIC-insured Icans in
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foreclosure or seriously delinquent as of Apnt 1988. TMIC is now 1n hquidation. Charge-offs in 1988
also included $17 million to write down to net realizable value foreclosed properties related to loans
purchased from Equity Programs Investment Corp. (“EPIC")

In late 1985, the Corporation revised its underwriting guidelines and credit requirements.
Management believes these revisions contributed to 1mproved loan loss expenence. As of Decem-
ber 31, 1989, 85 percent of the Corporation’s conventional single-family mortgage portfoho and MBS
outstanding consisted of loans purchased since January 1, 1986. The revised guidelines resulted in
lower loan-to-value ratios on many loans purchased for portfolio or backing MBS. At December 31,
1989, 74 percent of the conventional single-family loans in the Corporation’s portfolio or backing
MBS had an onginal loan-to-value ratio not higher than 80 percent (32 percent not higher than 70

percent).

A comparison of the delinquency trends of conventional single-family loans purchased in 1985
with the trends for conventional single-family loans purchased i 1986 and 1987 revealed that
approximately two years after origination, the 1987 and 1986 loans had a serious delinquency rate of
0.30 percent and 0.38 percent, respectively, compared with 2.31 percent for the 1985 loans. (Sertous
delinquency ncludes loans 90 or more days delinquent, in foreclosure, or 1n relief.) Management
attributes this downward delinquency trend primanly to the change in underwnting guidelines,
ymproved economic conditions 1n certain geographic regions, and a favorable loan-to-value distnbu-
tion in 1986 and 1987 that resulted partly from increased refinancing activity in those years.

Seriously delinquent conventional loans 1n the portfolio or backing MBS for which Fannie Mae
Lears the primary default nsk have steadily decreased from 1.48 percent at December 31, 1985 to
(.69 percent at December 31, 1989,

Administrative Expenses

Increased salanes and compensation-related expenses were the prnimary reasons for the higher
zdministrative costs 1n 1989 compared with 1988. In 1988, admimistrative expenses included the costs
of consolidating corporate headquarters into two adjacent buildings. The ratio of total admimstrative
expenses to average mortgage portfolio plus average MBS outstanding was 0.08 percent in 1989 and

1988 and 0.09 percent 1n 1987.

Income Taxes

The effective federal income tax rate 1n 1989 was 27 percent compared with 24 percent in 1988
and 34 percent in 1987. The effective tax rate increased 1n 1989 compared with 1988 primanly due to
growth 1n taxable income without a proportionate increase In tax-advantaged investments The
decrease in 1988 compared with 1987 was due to a reduction in the federal corporate income tax rate
from 40 percent in 1987 to 34 percent in 1988 and to increased income from tax-advantaged

investments.
As discussed 1n the Notes to Financial Statements, “Income Tazes,” the Corporation and the

Internal Revenue Service appealed a March 1988 Tax Court decision. The appeal was heard in
January 1990 and the decision, when announced, will have no adverse 1mpact on earnings.

In December 1987, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Financial Accounting
3tandard No. 96, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“FAS 86"), which requires a change in the method
of providing for income taxes. Subsequent amendments have postponed the required change at least
until the begnning of 1992, Because of unresolved tax 1ssues, 1t 18 not possible at this time to
Jetermine whether FAS 96, when adopted, will have a material effect on Fannie Mae.

Mortgage Portfolio

The net mortgage portfolio totaled $107.8 billion at December 31 1989, compared with $99.9 bil-
lion at December 31, 1988 and $93.5 billion at December 31 1987 The vield on the net mortgage
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portfolio at December 31, 1989 was 10.03 percent. compared with 9.84 percent at December 31, 1988
and 9.98 percent at December 31. 1987. The increase in yield 1n 1989 compared with 1988 pnmanly
was due to the upward adjustment of ARMs n portfolic and to a decrease in purchases of ARMs,
which have a lower nitial yvield than fixed-rate mortgages. Similarly, the decrease in yield in 1988
compared with 1987 was attributable, in large part, to the increase in ARM purchases in 1988 and to
the high level of prepayments in 1987 of high-yielding mortgages.

As indicated in the following table, mortgage purchases m 1989 were $22.5 billion compared with
$23 1 billion and $20.5 billion 1n 1988 and 1987, respectively. ARMs represented a lower percentage
of the Corporation’s mortgage purchases in 1989 compared with 1988. Declining spreads between
Interest rates on fixed-rate mortgages and imtial rates on ARMs led to an increase i ongmations of
fixed-rate mortgages and fewer ARM ornginations in 1989. Multifamily loan purchases rose sigmifi-
cantly 1n 1989. 1n large part reflecting increased use of Fanme Mae's delegated underwriting and
servicing (“DUS”) program, which was first adopted in 1988. Under DUS, selected lenders are
permitted to sell to the Corporation multifamily loans that meet published guidelines wathout the
Corporation’s prior approval of the underwnting, provided that the lenders agree to share in a portion
of any subsequent losses on such loans.

The pnmary reason for the increase 1n purchases in 1988 compared with 1987 was the increase 1n
the Corporation’s ARM market share coupled with an increase 1 the proportion of ARMs sold in the

secondary market

Mortgage Purchases

{Dollars in millions)

% Change
1989 1988
Over Over
1989 1988 1887 1988 1987
Mortgage type
Single-family
FHA/VA $ 940 42%% 503 22%% 1,784 8.7% 87% (12)%
Conventional:
30-year fixed-rate 11,813 525 8957 38.7 9223 449 32 {3)
Intermediate-term fixed-rate 3.306 14.7 2,933 127 6,552 319 13 (B6B)
ARMs 4,492 19.9 9,862 42.7 2,512 12.2 (b4) 293
Second mortgages 406 1.8 433 1.9 139 7 {6) 212
Total single-famly 20957 93.1 22688 982 20,210 984 (8) 12
Multifarmiy 1.561 6.9 422 1.8 321 1.6 270 31
Total $22.518 100.0% $23,110 100.0% $20.531 100.0% (3) 13
Average net purchase yeld 9.88% 9 40% 9.63% 5 (2)

Mortgage repayments, which include prepayments and normal prnincipal amortization, totaled
$11.0 billion 1n 1989, compared with $10.7 billion 1n 1988 and $15.4 bilhon 1n 1987. The mgh level of
repayments 1n 1987 compared with 1989 and 1988 was the result of the large number of refinancings
that occurred through the first half of 1987 1n response to dechming mortgage interest rates. In
general, when nterest rates dechne significantly. the rate of prepayment increases, although the rate
of principal prepayments also 1s influenced by a vanety of economic, geographic, and other factors.

When the Corporation sells from portfolio 1t generaily does so to support structured transactions,
such as REMICs, or to improve the portfolio’s expected performance. Sales from portfolio totaled
$3.0 hillion 1n 1989 compared with $5.0 bilhon 1n 1988 and $5.2 billion 1n 1987. Sales were lower 1n
1989, n part, because dollar rolls supported more structured transactions. Dollar rolis involve the sale
and repurchase of substantially the same secunties and are accounted for as collateralized borrowngs.
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The sale of $1.6 billion of low-yieiding loans in 1987, which was made to mmprove future interest
spreads on the portfolio, resulted in a before-tax loss on the sale of mortgages of $128 mullion that
year.

Mortgage-Backed Securities

During 1989, MBS outstanding surpassed the $200 billion mark. At December 31, 1989, there
were $228.2 billion of MBS outstanding. MBS are backed by loans from one of three sources: a single
lender, multiple lenders, or the Corporation’s portfolio. Single-lender MBS generally are 1ssued
through lender swap transactions in which a lender exchanges pools of mortgage loans for MBS,
Multiple-lender MBS allow several lenders together to pool mortgage loans and, in return, receive
MBS representing a proportionate share of a larger pool. MBS may back other securities, including
Megas, Stripped MBS (“SMBS”), and REMICs.

MBS are not assets of the Corporation, except when acquired for investment purposes, nor are
the related outstanding securities liabilities of the Corporation. However, the Corporation 1s hable
under its guaranty to make timely payments to investors of principal and interest on the mortgage
loans in the underlying pools. The 1ssuance of MBS enables the Corporation to further 1ts statutory
purpose of increasing the liquidity of residential mortgage loans and creates a source of guaranty fee
income without assuming any debt refinancing nsk on the underlying pooled mortgages.

Sellers of pools of mortgage loans may retain the primary default nsk on loans comprising the
pools or they may elect to transfer this credit risk to Fannie Mae for a higher guaranty fee. The
Corporation, however, assumes the ultimate risk of loss on all MBS.

The following table summarizes MBS activity for the years ended December 31, 1989, 1988, and
1987

Summary of MBS Activity

(Dollars in millions)

% Change

1989 1988
Over Over
1989 1988 1987 1988 1987
MBES Issued:
Lender originated . . $ 64,396 92% $ 48,942 89% § 57,078 90% 32% (14)%
Fannie Mae originated. . 5,368 8 5936 11 6,151 10 (10} (3)
Total . .. $ 69.764 100% $ 54,878 100% § 63,220 100% 27  (13)
MBS Outstanding(1):
Lender risk(2).... .... $ 94,343 41% § 84,143 47% § 62,402 45% 12 35
Fannie Mae nsk(3) 133,888 59 94,107 53 71,558 55 42 21
Tot_al(4) .. ... $228,232 1_00% $178,250 g% $139,960 LOO% 28 27

(1) This table classifies MBS outstanding based on primary default nsk category; however,
Fannie Mae bears the ultimate risk of default. MBS outstanding includes MBS that have

been poocled to back Megas, SMBS, or REMICs.

(2) Included in lender risk are $30.6 billion, $23.8 billion, and $10.2 billion at December 31,
1989, 1988, and 1987, respectively, on which the seller agreed to bear default risk limited to
a certain percentage of the loans delivered and, in some cases, pledged collateral to secure

that obligation.

(3) Included are $11.1 billion, $11.2 billion, and $12.2 billion at December 31, 1989, 1988, and
1987, respectively, which are backed by government insured or guaranteed mortgages.
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(4) Included are $11.7 buliion, $8.1 billion, and $4.2 billion at December 31, 1989, 1988, and
1987, respectively, of Fanme Mae MBS 1n portfolio.

Fannie Mae issued more MBS 1n 1989 than in 1988, primarily due to an increase in the volume of
fixed-rate mortgages available in the secondary market to form MBS. In addition, in 1989 a higher
proportion of fixed-rate ortginations were securitized than m 1988, partly 1n response to new capital
standards for financial institutions. See “FIRREA and Risk-Based Capital.” Fewer MBS were 1ssued
10 1988 than 1n 1987, maimnly because in 1988 the availability of fixed-rate mortgage loans decreased as
the populanty of ARMs rose. In general, the number of qualifying ARMs available for secuntization
has been more limited than the number of qualifying fixed-rate mortgage loans.

During 1989, mternational investors, who are becommng familiar with the mortgage-backed
securities market, invested in MBS directly as well as through private mutual funds, structured and

managed by third parties.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The role of hquidity management at Fannie Mae 1s to ensure that funds are available to meet the
Corporation’s regular business obligations and to take advantage of market opportunities. Fanme
Mae's pnimary sources of cash are 1ssuances of debt obligations, mortgage loan repayments, interest
income, fees, and proceeds from the sale of mortgages. In addition, Fanme Mae has a portfolio of cash
equivelents and short-term 1nvestments totaling more than $10 billion. Primary uses of cash include
the purchase of mortgages, repayment of debt, and payment of interest expense.

Fannie Mae's statutory mission requires that it buy mortgage assets from ending institutions on
an ongoing basis. The Corporation, therefore, must fund itself continually to support this mortgage
purchase activity. The U.S. marketplace traditionally has treated the Corporation’s obligations as
“federal agency” debt. As a resuit, even though its debt 1s not guaranteed by the U.S. government, the

Corporation has had ready access to funds.

Most long-term funding has been obtained through a regular monthly debenture sale. The
Corporation raises short-term funds primarily through short-term discount notes and residential
financing securities. Residential financing secunties are six-month, one-year, or two-year unsecured
general obligations bearing interest at fixed rates. The Corporation has sought to diversify further its
funding sources. Nearly one-quarter of the debentures 1gsued in 1989, or approxmmately $5 billion,
were sold to overseas 1nvestors.

Although Fannie Mae has a high debt-to-capital ratio, it continues to add to 1ts capital account,
pnimanly through retamned earnings. In addition, the possible conversion of 34.5 million common
stock warrants 1n 1990 and 1991 could contnbute up to $509 mullion to stockholders’ equity.
Management beheves the Corporation’s capital base, inciuding the allowance for losses, 15 appropnate
relative to the financial risks assumed 1n 1ts operations.

At December 31, 1989, the Corporation had outstanding mandatory delivery commitments and
standby commitments to purchase $2.3 bilhon and $3.7 billion of mortgage loans, respectively,
compared with $1.1 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively, of such commitments at December 31, 1988.
As 1n the past, the Corporation expects to fund mortgage purchases pursuant to such commitments
through the sources of cash noted above.

Management of Interest Rate Exposure

Recent financing strategies employed by the Corporation to respond to changing interest rates
inchude the 1ssuance of Indexed Sinking Fund Debentures (“ISFDs”) and callable debt. Dunng 1989,
Fanme Mae 1ssued $4.0 bilhon of callable debt and 1ssuances of ISFDs grew to $2.0 billion from
$1 7 bilion 1n 1988. The 1ssuance of these types of obligations reflects management'’s behief that the
early redemption features of callable debt and ISFDs make them desirable tools for managing the
interest rate nsk associated with mortgage loan prepayments on the Corporation’s mortgage portfolio.
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In addition to 1ssuing debt that closely matches asset matunties. management controls exposure
to interest rate nsk by acquinng shorter term assets, such as adjustable-rate and mtermediate-term
mortgages, and by increasing the amount of MBS outstanding. MBS creates an income source
without the debt refinancing risk associated with portfolio investing activities.

The sensitivity of earnings to changes mn mnterest rates can be measured by the duration gap, or
the difference between the estimated durations of the mortgage assets and those of the habihties that
fund the mortgages. Duration represents the estimated weighted-average maturity of the present
values of future cash flows. The Corporation has reduced its duration gap from 18 months at the end
of 1985 to an estimated 6 months at the end of 1989, compared with 29 months at the end of 1984.

Another measure of the Corporation’s exposure to interest rate nsk is the one-year matunty gap
or the difference between the amount of assets and the amount of habihities expected to mature.
liquidate or reprice over the next year. A positive one-year maturity gap occurs when more nterest-
sensitive assets than liabilities are expected to mature, liquidate, or reprice 11 one year. From the end
of 1985 to the end of 1989, the one-year maturnty gap moved from a negative 2 percent to a positive 4
percent, compared with a negative 16 percent at the end of 1984.

Financing Activities
Debt Issued and Outstanding

The average cost of debt outstanding at December 31, 1989 decreased compared with Decem-
ber 31, 1988 and 1987. This decrease was the result of higher cost debt maturmg and being replaced
with lower cost debt Lower mterest rates 1n recent years have allowed the Corporation to reduce the
average cost of debt outstanding while maintaining the desired average maturity.

The average maturty of debt outstanding at December 31, 1989, compared with December 31,
1988, increased as the Corporation acquired longer term assets and 1ssued debt that closely matched
the expected matunties of the assets being financed. The average maturity of debt outstanding at
December 31, 1988, compared with December 31, 1987, decreased as the Corporation acquired more
shorter term assets and funded them with debt of comparable matunties.

The following table sets forth the amount, average cost, and average maturity of debt issued and
redeemed during the last three vears, and of debt outstanding at the end of each of those years.

% Change
1988 1988
Over Over
1989 1988 1887 1988 1987
(Dollars 1n millions)
Debt Issued Durnng Year
Amount . $ 78,568 $ 64,260 $45,726 22% 41%
Average cost(1) 8.60% 7.84% 7 49% 10 5
Average maturity (months) . 28 20 36 40 (44)
Debt Redeemed During Year
Amount . . .. $ 68,043 $ 55,766 $42 519 22 31
Average cost(l) . ... .. 8.77% 8.18% 8.42% 7 (3)
Debt Outstanding at Year-end
Amount, net .. ... . $116,064 $105,459 $97,0567 10 9
Average cost(1) - 9.04% 9.20% 9.46% (2) (3)
Average matunty (months) .. 47 43 48 9 (10}

(1) Includes commssions, hedging costs, and the effect of currency and interest rate swaps.

The Secretary of Housing and Urban Development requires that the Corporation’s debt-to-capital
ratio not exceed 20:1 (25:1 in 1988 and 1987). Capital, for this purpose, also includes subordinated
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capital debentures, convertible capital debentures, and mortgage portfolio and MBS loss allowances.
The Corporation also 1s subject to a restriction in certain subordinated capital debenture agreements,
which limits the amount of such debentures cutstanding to not more than two times the sum of
common stock, additional paid-in capital, and retained earnings.

Presented 1n the following table are the aforementioned capital ratios at December 31, 1989, 1988,
and 1987.

1989 1988 1987
Debt-to-capital 19.7:1 19.1:1 22.2:1
Subordmated debt-to-equity . 0.8:1 1.2:1 1.2:1

The increase in the debt-to-capital ratio at December 31, 1989 compared with December 31, 1988,
was due largely to a net decrease of $361 million in outstanding subordinated capital debentures.

Common Stock
In September 1989, the Board of Directors authorized a three-for-one split of the Corporation’s
common stock and common stock warrants, effective in October 1989. The primary purpose of the
stock sphit was to broaden distribution and improve marketability of the shares by reducing the per
share market price. On the same date, the Board also voted to increase the quarterly cash dividend for
the sixth time 1n three years from ten and 2/3 cents to fourteen cents per share on a post-split basis.

FIRREA and Risk-Based Capital

In 1989, Congress enacted the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act
(“FIRREA”) FIRREA requires the newiy created Office of Thnft Supervision (“OTS”) to set new
caprtal standards for savings and loan associations that are at least as stringent as those apphcable to
national banks, and the OTS 1ssued regulations that became effective n December 1989, Federal bank
regulators in 1989 promulgated stncter capital guidelines for banks and bank holding companies,
which will be phased in over a two-vear pertod. Under both regulatory schemes, in addition to
maintaining minimum levels of core and tangble capital, financial institutions are required to
maintan capital levels based on a percentage of risk-adjusted assets. In general, the risk-based capital
requirement for MBS 1s lower than for mortgage loans. Management expects that some savings and
loan associations and commercial banks will sell or securitizé a portion of their residential mortgage
assets 1n the secondary market over the next several years in an effort to meet the new capital
requirements. In addition, the assets of financial institutions 1n recewvership are expected to be sold by
federal regulators, and a substantial portion of such assets are mortgage loans and mortgage-backed
secunities that could be sold 1nto the secondary market.

The new capital requirements may result 1n increased concentration 1n the financial services
industry through closures or mergers and may cause substantial changes in the operation of that
industry Because of capital requirements apphcable to asset sales or swaps with recourse, savings and
loan associations may be less able or willing to enter into these transactions with the Corporation 1n
the future. At this time, 1t 1s unclear what the overall impact, if any, of FIRREA and the new capital
requirements will be on the Corporation’s business volumes, growth, and profitability.

FIRREA also requires studies by the General Accounting Office (“GAO") and the U.S. Treasury
of a vanety of government-sponsored enterpnses (“GSEs”), including Fannie Mae. These studies
will examine and evaluate the financial soundness of GSEs, their impact, if any, on federal borrowing,
the nsks associated with their operations, the capitalization of each GSE, and, in the case of the GAO
study, the appropnateness of applying a nsk-based capital standard to each GSE. See “Recent
Legislative and Regulatory Developments.”

Proposed Accounting Guidance

The Accounting Standards Executive Commuttee (“AcSEC”) of the American Institute of CPAs
inmtiated a project dunng 1989 to draft uniform guidance on accounting for debt securities held as
assets by financial instituttons. Under current accounting practice, debt secunties held for investment
are recorded at thewr mstonical cost, adjusted for the amortization of any purchase discount or
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premium. Draft guidance produced to date by AcSEC restricts the situations in which debt securities
can be sold from an investment pottfolio without calling into question the cost method of accounting
for all such securities remaining in the portfolio. Under certain circumstances, the remaining
securities may have to be recorded at either market or the lower of cost or market. Based on AcSEC
drafts reviewed to date, management does not expect that any change in accounting guidance in this
area, if it occurs, will have a significant impact on either the financial condition of the Corporation or
its operations.

Interim Periods
Results of Operations

Fannie Mae’s net income for the first nine months of 1990 was $866 million compared with $570
million for the first nine months of 1989. Net income increased primarily as a result of increases in
net interest income, guaranty fees, and miscellaneous income.

Net interest income for the first nine months of 1990 was $339 million higher than for the
comparable period in 1989. The increase in net interest income was primarily due to growth in both
the average investment balance and the net interest margin (i.e., the net yield on interest-earning
" assets).

Income on the average investment balance of mortgage and other investments increased primarily
due to an increase in the size of the average mortgage portfolio. The average cost of debt outstanding
decreased because, as high-cost debt matured, it was refinanced at more favorable rates.

Presented in the following table are selected average balances, interest rates earned and paid, and
interest income and expense for the nine months ended September 30, 1990 and 1989.

Net Interest Income and Average Balances

(Dollars in millions)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
1990 1989
Effective Effective
Average Interest Average Interest
Balance Interest Rate(1) Balance Interest Rate(1l) -
Interest-earning assets
Mortgage portfolio, net(2) ........ $109,787 $8,184 10.02%  $100,344 $7,467 9.99%
Investments ..................... 12,783 811 8.72 10,075 696 9.65
Total interest-earning assets....... $122,570 $8,995 9.89% $110,419 $8,163 9.96%
—_— P — pre _= —_—
Interest-bearing liabilities
Borrowings due within 1 year...... $ 22,029 $1,359 8.23% $ 22,747 $1,485 8.70%
Borrowings due after 1 year ....... 94676 6,458 9.09 83,224 5,840 9.35
Total interest-bearing liabilities.... $116,705 $7,817 8.93% $105,971 $7,325 9.21%
Net interest income .................. $1,178 $ 838
Interest spread ....................... ' 96% .75%
Net yield on interest-earning assets(3) 1.39% 1.12%

(1) Tax equivalent basis. Also includes the amortization of issuance costs, hedging results,
and the effect of currency and interest rate swaps.

(2) Includes the average balance of nonperforming loans of $0.7 billion and $0.8 billion for
the nine months ended September 30, 1990 and 1989, respectively.

(3) Represents the difference between the rate of interest on earning assets and the effective
rate paid on both interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing funds.
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The rate /volume analysis below shows the relative contributions of asset growth and interest rate
changes to changes in net interest income for the nine months ended September 30, 1990 and 1989.

Rate/Volume Analysis

(Dollars in miliions)

Attributabie to
Changes in{1}
Nine months ended Increase
1990 vs. 1989 { Decrease) Volume Rate
Interest income . . e $831 $891 $ (80)
Interest expense . . ... 492 724 {232)
Net 1nterest mncome . . . .. $339 $167 $ 172

(1) Combined rate/volume variances, a third element of the calculation, are allocated to the
rate and volume vanances based on their relative size.

Guaranty fee income increased to $388 million in the first nine months of 1990 from $297 million
for the same penod in 1989. The increase in guaranty fee income was pnmarily due to the increase in
the amount of MBS outstanding.

Gain on sales of mortgages for the first nine months of 1990 and 1989 was $5 miilion and
$6 mullion, respectively. Sales from portfoho totaled $5.0 billion for the first nine months of 1990
compared with $2.3 bullion for the first nine months of 1988. The increase in sales reflects the
Corporation’s heightened use of MBS buy-seil activities 1n 1990 due to narrow spreads between

Treasury and MBS vields.

Miscellaneous income ncreased to $83 million for the first nine months of 1990 compared with
$50 million for the first nine months of 1989. The increase primarily was due to a $33 milhon increase

1in REMIC and SMBS fees. .

Despite an mcrease of $5 mllion 1n the provision for lgsses for the third quarter of 1990 from the
previous quarter, due to growth in business volumes, the Corporation reduced the prowision to
2930 million 1n the first nine months of 1990, down from $235 million in the first nine months of 1989.
This decrease was due to moderation in the level of foreclosure activity. The number of properties
acquired through foreclosure was 6,890 1n the first mne months of 1990, down from 8,454 1n the first
nine months of 1989. Total foreclosure losses charged off for portfolio and MBS were $177 muiilion 1n
the first mine months of 1990 compared with $187 mllion in the first mine months of 1989

Admimstrative expenses were 16 percent higher 1n the first nine months of 1990 compared with
the first nine months of 1989, pnmarily due to business expansion.

The effective federal income tax rates for the first nine months of 1990 and 1989 were 23 percent
and 27 percent, respectively. The effective federal income tax rate increased in the first nine months
of 1990 prnmarly due to an increase in taxable income without a proportionate increase in tax-

advantaged mvestments.

Mortgage Portfolio

The Corporation purchased $17.4 billion of mortgages at an average yield of 9.87 percent 1n the
first nine months of 1990, compared with $14.9 bilhon of mortgages at an average yreld of 9.98 percent
it the first nine months of 1989. The increase 1n mortgage purchases was pnmarily due to an increase
in the number of mortgages offered for sale 1n the secondary market.
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ARMs represented 11 percent of the Corporation’s mortgage purchases 1n the first nine months of
1990, compared with 25 percent in the first nine months of 198¢ The decrease 1n the percentage of
ARMs purchased was primanly the result of narrower spreads between interest rates on fizxed-rate
mortgages and initial interest rates on ARMs, which led to an increase 1n the percentage of
onginations of fixed-rate mortgages and a lower percentage of ARM ongnations.

Multifamily loans accounted for approximately 10 percent of the Corporation’s mortgage

purchases 1n the first nine months of 1990 compared with & percent in the first nine months of 1989.
The increase n multifamily loan purchases reflects, 1n large part. increased use of the Corporation’s

DUS program.

Mortgage repayments during the first nine months of 1990 totaled $9.4 bilhon compared with
$8.5 billion m the first nine months of 1989.

At September 30, 1990 and 1089, the net mortgage portfolio {mortgage loans less the allowance
for losses and less unamortized discount and fees) was $110.9 billion with a yield of 9.97 percent and
$104.0 billion with a yield of 10.01 percent, respectively.

Mortgage-Backed Securities

The Corporation issued $72.4 billion of MBS during the first nine months of 1990. compared with
$44.3 billion 1n the first mne months of 1989. The increase 1n 1ssuance was pnmarily due to an
increase 1n the volume of fixed-rate mortgages available in the secondary market to back MBS and an

increase 1n the Corporation’s market share.
The following table summanzes MBS activity for the mne months ended September 30, 1990 and
1989:
Summary of MBS Activity

{Dollars 1n millions)

% Change
September 30, September 30, 1990 Over
1990 19889 1989
MBS Issued:
Lender originated $ 67754 94% $ 40543 92% 67%
Fanme Mae onginated .. 4654 6 3,751 8 24
Total $ 72,408 100% § 44.294 100% 63
MBS Outstanding(1):
Lender nsk(2) . .- . 3 97,157 34% § 94,215 45% 3
Fannie Mae risk(3) 184,649 66 114 679 55 61
Total(4). . $281,806 100% $208 894 100% 35

(1) Ths table classifies MBS outstanding based on prnimary default rsk category; however,
Fannie Mae bears the ultimate risk of default. MBS outstanding includes MBS that
have been pooled to back Megas, SMBS, or REMICSs, but does not include the resulting
Megas, SMBS, and REMICs.

(2) Included in lender nsk are $33.2 billion and $30 3 billion at September 30, 1990 and
1989, respectively, on which the seller agreed to bear default risk limited to a certain
percentage of the loans delivered and, in some cases, pledged collateral to secure that
obligation.

(3) Included are $10.2 billion and $11.1 billion at September 30, 1990 and 1989, respec-
twvely, which are backed by government msured or guaranteed mortgages.

(4) Included are $11.5 billion and $10.7 billion at September 30, 1990 and 1989, respec-
twvely, of Fannie Mae MBS in portfolio.
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The increase in MBS outstanding where Fannie Mae has primary default nsk is primarily due to
lender reaction to new capital rules that require more capital for MBS where the lender bears default

nsk.

Megas, SMBS, and REMICs 18sued durmng the first nine months of 1990 aggregated $12.2 billion,
$6.2 billion, and $48.8 billion, respectively. The mcrease in REMIC volume was prnimarily due to

heightened mnvestor demand for such secunties,

At September 30, 1990, the Corporation had outstanding $6.1 billion of mandatory delivery
commitments to 18sue and guarantee MBS compared with $8.9 billion at September 30, 1989, At
September 30, 1990, the Corporation had optional delivery commitments outstanding to 1ssue and
guarantee $65.1 billion of MBS compared with $31.4 billion at September 30, 1989.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

The Corporation’s shareholders’ equity was $3.7 billion at the end of the first nine months of
1990, compared with $3.0 bilhon at December 31, 1989. This increase in equity was primarily due to
the increase 1n retained earnings generated by net income. In addition, the Corporation’s aliowance
for losses was $516 million at September 30, 1990, compared with $463 million at December 31, 1989.

Total commitments outstanding to purchase mortgages were $10.1 billion and $5.9 billion at
September 30, 1990 and 1989, respectively.

In May 1990, representatives of the Treasury and the GAO testified before Congressional
subcommittees on the first of their two annual studies of GSEs (including the Corporation) pursuant
to FIRREA, and the Treasury and the GAO released the first of their two stuches 1n May and August
1990, respectively. A new budget law also requires the Congressional Budget Office to study the
financial nsk of the GSEs and directs the appropriate congressional committees to report possible
legislation regarding GSEs by September 15, 1991. See ‘“Recent Legisiative and Regulatory

Developments.”

Financing and Other Activities

In the first nine months of 1990, the Corporation issued $70.9 billion of debt at an average cost of
8.20 percent, and redeemed $68.6 billion at an average cost of 8.44 percent. In the first nine months of
1989, debt 18sues totaled $53.6 billion at an average cost of 8.83 percent, and debt redemptions were
$47.7 hiilion at an average cost of 8.77 percent. The average cost of debt issued was lower in the firat
nine months of 1990 as compared with the same period mm 1989 because more short-term debt was
1ssued and interest rates were iower mn the 1990 period. The average cost of debt outstanding at
September 30, 1990 and 1889 was 8.90 percent and 9.20 percent, respectively.

The Corporation’s statutory debt-to-capital ratio at September 30, 1990 was 17.6:1, compared
with 18.6:1 at September 30, 1989. The Secretary of Housing and Urban Development requires that
this ratio not exceed 20:1. At September 30, 1990, the Corporation’s subordinated debt-to-equity
ratio was 0.6:1, compared with 0.9:1 at September 30, 1989,

On April 17, 1990, the Board of Directors voted to increase the dividend on the Corporation’s
common stock to 18 cents per share for the quarter ended March 31, 1990 from 14 cents. The
dividend was payable on May 25, 1990 to shareholders of record on Aprl 30, 1990. The Board also
approved an ncrease in the quarterly dividend to 22 cents per share for the quarter ended
September 30, 1990. The dividend wall be payable on November 25, 1990 to shareholders of record on

October 31, 1990.
On August 23, 1990, the corporation announced 1ts intention to repurchase its common stock and

warrants, in an amount up to the expected proceeds from the exercise of its warrants, approximately
$500 mullion. Dunng the quarter ended September 30, 1990, a total of 2.2 million shares of common



stock were repurchased of which 1.7 million shares settled before September 30, 1990. As of
September 30, 1990, there were outstanding 240 mallion shares of common stock and 34 million
common stock warrants.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION AND CHARTER ACT

The Corporation 1s a federally chartered and stockholder-owned corporation organized and
existing under the Charter Act (12 U.S.C. § 1716 et seq ) whose purpose 18 to (1) provide stability in
the secondary market for home mortgages, (2) respond appropnately to the private capital market by
developing new finance and mortgage products, and (3) provide ongoing assistance to the secondary
market for home mortgages {including mortgages securing housing for low- and moderate-income
families involving a reasonable economic return to the Corporation) by increasing the Lhiqudity of
mortgage investments and improving the distribution of mvestment capital available for home

mortgage financing.

The Federal National Mortgage Association originally was incorporated mn 1938 pursuant to
Title III of the National Housing Act as a wholly owned government corporation and in 1954, under a
revised Title III called the Federal National Mortgage Association Charter Act, became a mixed-
ownership corporate instrumentality of the United States. From 1950 to 1968, 1t operated in the
Housing and Home Finance Agency, which was succeeded by the Department of Housing and Urban
Development {“HUD”). Pursuant to amendments to the Charter Act enacted in the Housing and
Urban Development Act of 1968 (the «1968 Act”), the then Federal National Mortgage Association
was constituted as a federally chartered corporation and the entire equity interest 1n the Corporation
became stockholder-owned. The 1968 Act also partitioned that part of the Federai National Mortgage
Association that carried on certain special financing assistance and management and hquidation
functions nto a separate corporation, the Government National Mortgage Association, a wholly
owned corporate nstrumentality of the United States within HUD.

Although the 1968 Act eliminated all federal ownership interest in the Corporation, it did not
terminate government regulation of the Corporation. Under the Charter Act, approval of the
Secretary of the Treasury 1s required for the Corporation’s issuance of 1ts debt obligations and MBS,
and approval of the Secretary of HUD 1s required for the Corporation’s issuance of stock and
securties convertible into stock Oblgations of the Corporation 1ssued under section 304(b) of the
Charter Act are subject to limitations imposed by the Charter Act and regulations adopted by HUD

See “Business—Corporate Indebtedness.”

In addition to specific enumerated powers, the Secretary of HUD 1s granted general regulatory
power over the Corporation under the Charter Act, with authonty to promulgate rules and regulations
to carry out the purposes of the Charter Act Also, the Secretary may require, pursuant to the Charter
Act, that a reasonable portion of the Corporation’s mortgage loan purchases be related to the national
goal of providing adequate housing for low- and moderate-income families, but with a reasonable
economic return to the Corporation

While the Charter Act authorizes the Corporation to require entities selling mortgages to it to
make nonrefundable capital contrnibutions, as determined from time to time by the Corporation with
the approval of the Secretary of HUD and subject to Charter Act restrictions. the Corporation
currently imposes no such requirements on mortgage sellers.

The Charter Act requires that each servicer of the Corporation’s mortgages own a minimum
amount of common stock. The Secretary of HUD must approve stock holding requirements imposed
upon such mortgage servicers. The common stock ownership requirement currently is one share.

The Charter Act also gives the Secretary of HUD the authonty to audit and examine the books
and financial transactions of the Corporation, but this authority has never been exercised. The
Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 authonzes the General
Accounting Office to audit the Corporation’s mortgage transactions.
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Thirteen members of the Corporation's eighteen-member Board of Directors are elected by the
holders of the Corporation’s common stock, and the remaining five members are appointed by the
President of the United States. One such appointed director is required to be from each of the home
building, mortgage lending, and real estate industnes. Any member of the Board of Directors,
mncluding a member elected by stockholders, may be removed by the President of the United States for

good cause.

In addition to placing the Corporation under federal regulation, the Charter Act also grants to the
Corporation certain privileges and immumittes. For instance, securities issued by the Corporation are
deemed to be “exempt securities” under laws admimistered by the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion to the same extent as securities that are obligations of, or guaranteed as to principal and interest
by, the United States. Regstration statements with respect to the Corporation’s securities are not
filed with the Secunties and Exchange Commission. The Corporation aiso is not required to file
penodic reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

As described 1n “Business—Corporate Indebtedness,” the Secretary of the Treasury of the United
States has discretionary authonty to purchase obligations of the Corporation up to a maximum of
$2.95 billion outstanding at any one time. This facility has not been used since the Corporation’s
transition from government ownersinp in 1968, Neither the United States nor any agency thereof is
obligated to finance the Corporation’s operations or to assist the Corporation n any other manner.

The Corporation 1s exempt from all taxation by any state or by any county, municipality, or local
taxmg authonty except for real property taxes. The Corporation is not exempt from payment of
federal corporate 1ncome taxes Also. the Corporation may conduct its business without regard to any
qualification or similar statute 1n any state of the United States or the District of Columba.

The Federal Reserve Banks are authonzed to act as depositanes, custodians, and fiscal agents for
the Corporation, for 1ts own account, or as fiduciary.
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BUSINESS

The Corporation purchases and holds in portfolio mortgage loans on residential properties. The
Corporation obtains funds to putchase mortgage loans from vdrious capital markets. The Corporation
also issues MBS.

In this document, both whole loans and participation interests in loans are referred to as “loans,”
“mortgage loans,” and “mortgages.” The term “mortgage” also is used to refer to the security
instrument securing a loan rather than the loan itself, and when so used also refers to a deed of trust.

Spread

The table below reflects the spread between effective interest rates earned on total interest-
earning assets and effective interest rates paid on total interest-bearing liabilities.

Interest-earning Assets Interest-bearing Liabilities
Effective Effective
Interest Interest Interest
For the Month Amount Rate(1) Amount Rate(1) Spread
(Dollars in millions)
December 1985 $ 96,352 10.85% $ 93,738 10.77% .08%
December 1986 96,303 10.12 92,962 10.04 .08
December 1987 99,142 9.87(2) 95,774 9.49 .38(2)
December 1988 108,879 9.77 104,424 9.16 .61
1989
March 108,092 9.88 103,685 9.20 .68
June 109,588 9.98 104,760 9.27 1
September 115,880 9.95 111,084 9.16 .79
December 120,994 9.92 115,945 9.01 91

(1) Average investment yield is calculated for the month shown and converted to an annual
interest rate using as the numerator interest income on a tax equivalent basis (excluding
out-of-cycle adjustments), and as the denominator the average outstanding unpaid invest-
ment less unamortized discount and fees. Similarly, the average cost of interest-bearing
liabilities is calculated using net interest expense (including the amortization of issuance
costs, hedging results and the effect of currency and interest rate swaps) and the average
outstanding applicable net indebtedness during the month.

(2) Excludes the cumulative adjustment under FAS 91 to refiect prepayment experience. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Opera-
tions—Annual Periods— Results of Operations—Financial Accounting Standard No. 91.”

The Corporation is managing the effective maturities and repricing characteristics of its assets
and liabilities and has developed its MBS business to reduce its sensitivity to increases in interest
rates. The operations and earnings of the Corporation continue to be influenced, however, by the level
of interest rates and the availability of alternative sources of mortgage credit.

One of the factors affecting spread is the rate obtained by the Corporation on its refinancing of
maturing debt. Approximately $11.5 billion of debt obligations, net of discounts and premiums, with
an original term of one year or longer (having a weighted-average cost of 9.50 percent at December 31,
1989) will mature during the 12 months following December 31, 1989. Further information on the
maturity profile of the Corporation’s debt obligations with an original term of at least one year is
contained in “Corporate Indebtedness.”
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Mortgage Loan Portfolio
Mortgage Loans Purchased

The Corporation purchases pnmanly single-family, conventional, fixed- or adjustable-rate, first
mortgage loans, but 1t also purchases other types of residential mortgage loans for 1ts loan portfolio,
including mortgage loans nsured by the Federal Housing Admimstration (“FHA”), mortgage loans
guaranteed by the Veterans Administration (“VA”), muitifamily mortgage loans and second mortgage
loans. The Corporation’s purchases have a vanety of matunties. The Corporation’s purchases of
adjustable-rate mortgage loans (“ARMSs”), fixed-rate loans with intermediate terms (20 years or
less), loans secured by second mortgages, and muitifamily loans are designed to assist in mitigating
the risks associated with rsing interest rates, to match more closely the generally shorter maturities of
1ts borrowings, and to provide a secondary market for a variety of loans that may be attractive to

potential homeowners.

The composttion of the Corporation’s loan portfolio and of its loan purchases dunng the last five
years is shown 1n the table in “Portfolio Composition and Purchases.” Of the single-family mortgage
loans that the Corporation purchased in 1989, approximately 39 percent were from mortgage banking
companies, 28 percent were from savings and loan associations, 15 percent were from commercial and
mutual savings banks, and 18 percent were from other companies.

Principal Balance Limits  Maximum principal balance limits apply to the Corporation’s mort-
gage loan purchases. The Corporation may not purchase conventional mortgage loans on one-family
dwellings 1f the loan’s ongmal principal balance exceeds $187,450, except for loans secured by
properties in Alaska and Hawan Higher principal balance hmits apply to loans secured by properties
in those states or secured by two or more family dwelling units. The maximum principal balance
limits apphcable to such conventional mortgage loans secured by one- to four-family dwellings can be
adjusted annually based on the national average price of a one-family dwelling as surveyed by the
Office of Thnft Supervision. On January 1, 1890, the himitation for one-farmly dwellings was lowered
from $187,600 to the current level.

Under the Charter Act, maximum principal balance limits also apply to the Corporation’s
purchases of conventional multifamily mortgage loans. Such limits are affected by the location of the

unit and other factors.

FHA-insured mortgage loans are subject to statutory maximum amount hmitations. The
Corporation will not purchase VA-guaranteed mortgage loans that have pnncipal amounts in excess of
amounts the Corporation specifies from time to time.

Conventional/FHA/VA In recent vears the Corporation has purchased predormnantly conven-
tional mortgage loans (1 e, mortgage loans that are not federally insured or guaranteed). In 1989,
96 percent of the total amount of the loans purchased by the Corporation were conventional mortgage
loans. The remamning 4 percent were msured by the FHA or guaranteed by the VA.

Fixed-Rate/Adyustable-Rate  The interest rate on fixed-rate mortgage loans 1s fixed for the term
of the loan. Substantially all fixed-rate mortgage loans purchased by the Corporation provide for level
monthly instaliments of principal and interest. The Corporation also purchases some growing-equity
mortgage loans and graduated-payment mortgage loans (one percent of loans purchased in 1989),
which are fixed-rate loans with planned annual increases in the monthly payments over a specified
period of time. With a growing-equity mortgage loan, the increase 1n the payment generally applies
imitaily to interest and then later to the onginal principal balance, resulting in faster amortization. To
the extent scheduled payments are less than the interest accruing on the mortgage loan initially, the
difference 1s paid from a subsidy account established at the time the mortgage loan is originated. With
a graduated-payment mortgage loan, payments during the early years do not cover the full amount of
Interest on the loan at the fixed interest rate, and the increases in the payments apply solely to interest
and additions previously made to the onginal principal balance; therefore, the payment increases do
not resuit in faster amortization.
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The Corporation also purchases fixed-rate balloon mortgage loans with balioon payments due
after 7 or 10 years, but with monthly payments based on 30-year amortization schedules. Some of the
7-year balloon mortgage loans permit the borrower to refinance the balloon payment at maturity with
a 23-year fixed-rate mortgage loan. During 1989, the Corporation’s purchases of balloon mortgage
loans represented 3 percent of its purchases.

In February 1988, the Corporation commenced purchasing conventional fixed-rate loans with
biweekly payments and original maturities of up to 30 years. During 1989, biweekly fixed-rate loans
constituted 3 percent of the Corporation’s purchases.

The interest rates on ARMs are determined by formulas providing for automatic adjustment, up
or down, at regular mntervals in accordance with changes 1n a specified index. Substantially all ARMs
provide for adjustments (up or down) 1n the amount of monthly installments when the interest rate
on the loan is adjusted because of changes in the applicable index. The Corporation purchases ARMs
only if the ARMs have a cap on the amount the interest rate may change. The volume of the
Corporation’s purchases of ARMS has fluctuated, in part, because the level of interest rates and the
difference between the interest rates on fixed-rate loans and the initial interest rates on ARMs with
the same maturity influence the number of ARMs originated. As a result of the relatively lower
interest rate environment and the narrower interest rate spread between fixed interest rates and initial
interest rates on ARMs, the Corporation’s purchases of ARMs in 1989 constituted 20 percent of the
total amount of loans purchased, compared with 43 percent in 1988. ARM purchases were 12 percent
and 4 percent of the total amount of loans purchased in 1987 and 1986, respectively. A substantial
number of the ARMs purchased by the Corporation provide the mortgagor with the option, at
specified times or during specified periods of time, to convert the ARM to a fixed-rate mortgage loan
with payment of a small fee.

In March 1990, the Corporation began purchasing conventional mortgage loans that have one
interest rate for the first 7 years and then adjust automatically to another interest rate for the next
23 years. The loans, called Two-Step MortgagesS™, have 1nitial interest rates lower than those on
traditional 30-year fixed-rate mortgage loans.

Payments on both fixed-rate loans and ARMs consist primarily of interest during the early and
middle years, with the major portion of the onginal principal balance scheduled to be paid during the
years immediately preceding matunty.

First Mortgage/Second Mortgage In addition to mortgage loans secured by first liens on
residential properties (“first mortgage loans™), the Corporation also purchases fixed-rate, conven-
tional mortgage loans secured by second liens (“second mortgage loans”). The Corporation also has
purchased some conventional ARM second mortgage loans in negotiated transactions. Second
mortgage loans generally bear higher nterest rates and have shorter matunties than first mortgage
loans. During 1989, the Corporation’s purchases of second mortgage loans constituted 2 percent of
total loans purchased.

Whole Loan /Participation Interest In addition to purchasing the complete ownership interest
1n mortgage loans (typically called whole loans), the Corporation also purchases less than 100 percent
ownership of mortgage loans (typically called participation interests). The Corporation purchases
participation interests that range from 50 to 95 percent.

Single-Famly /Multifarmily. 'The mortgage loans secured by multifamily properties (: e., proper-
ties with more than four dwelling units) that the Corporation purchases are primanly conventional,
fixed-rate mortgage loans that typically have a shorter term than mortgage loans secured by one- to
four-family properties (*single-family” or “home" loans). During 1989, the Corporation’s purchases
of multifamily loans constituted 7 percent of the amount of loans it purchased, compared with
2 percent in 1988. The increase in multifammly loan purchases in 1989 largely reflects increased use of
the Corporation’s delegated underwniting and servicing program, which was adopted 1n 1988. See
“Mortgage Loan Portfolio—Underwnting Guidelines.”

Maturity. The Corporation currently purchases conventional, single-family fixed- and adjusta-
ble-rate mortgage loans with ornginal matunties of up to 30 years, with a mimimum of 10 years for
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ARMs. Pror to 1986, the large majorty of the Corporation’s single-family conventional mortgage
loan purchases were 30-vear loans. In 1985, the Corporation began to purchase actively 15-year,
conventional. fixed-rate mortgage loans In 1987, the Corporation also began to purchase actively 10-
and 20-year conventional, fixed-rate, first morigage loans and the conventional, fixed-rate mortgage
loans with 7- and 10-year balloon payments described above. During 1989 and 1988, the Corpora-
tion’s purchases of intermediate-term, fixed-rate, first mortgage loans constituted 15 percent and
13 percent, respectively, of its purchases.

The multifamily mortgage loans that the Corporation currently purchases generally have an
effective term not exceeding 15 vears. The Corporation owns a significant amount of FHA-nsured
multifamily loans that had an ongmnal maturity of 40 years.

Portfolio Composition and Purchases The following table shows the composition of the
Corporation’s mortgage loan portfolio, purchase activity, and the weighted-average yelds (net of
servicing) on the mortgage loan portfolio and mortgage loan purchases. The table includes mortgage
loans that back MBS held in the Corporation’s mortgage loan portfolio. At December 31, 1989, 1988,
and 1987, $11.7 billion, $8.1 billion, and $4.2 billion, respectively, of MBS were held in portfoho.

Mortgage Loan Portfolio Composition and Purchases

(Dollars 1o millions)

Year Ended December 31,
1989 1988 1987 1986 1985

Unpaid Principal Balances at End of Period
Single-Family: Government msured or

guaranteed $ 11,857 $ 12,235 $13,306 $15968 $27.414
Conventional* Fizxed-rate 66,804 60,997 61,314 58176 45,065
Adjustable-rate 22,020 21,040 13,722 14,343 16,955
Second mortgage 1,614 1,561 1,421 2,169 2,899
Multifammly: Government msured 4,361 4,397 4. 482 4,852 4,951
Conventional 4,065 2,783 2,501 2,325 1,365
Total unpaid balance $110,721 -$103,013 $96,746 $97.833 $98,649
Average net vield 10.03% 9.84% 998% 1017% _ 10.92%

Purchases During Period
Single-Family: Government insured or

guaranteed 3 940 § 503 $ 1.784 § 438 § 482
Conventional* Fixed-rate 15,119 11,890 15775 27.454 12,398
Adjustable-rate 4,492 9,862 2,512 1,108 7,066
Second mortgage 406 433 139 498 871
Mult:farmty: Government nsured 117 23 — — —
Conventional 1,444 399 321 1,328 693
Total mortgage loans purchased $ 22,518 3§ 23,110 $20.531 $30,826 $21,510
Average net yield 9.88% 9.40% 9.63% 968% 11.71%

At December 31, 1989, the weighted-average life of the mortgage loans 1n the Corporation’s
mortgage loan portfolio was approximately 20 years, assuming normal scheduled amortization and no

prepavments.

Underwriting Guidelines

The Corporation has established certain underwnting gmdelines for purchases of conventional
mortgage loans in an effort to reduce the nsk of loss from mortgagor defaults. These guidelines are
designed to assess the creditworthiness of the mortgagor as well as the value of the mortgaged home

B-23



relative to the amount of the mortgage loan. The Corporation, in its discretion, accepts deviations
from the guidelines. The Corporation generally relies on lender representations to ensure that the
mortgage loans it purchases conform to 1ts underwnting gurdelines, which the Corporation changes
from time to time.

In 1988, the Corporation introduced the delegated underwrniting and servicing (“DUS”) program
for multifamily loans. Under DUS, selected lenders are permitted to sell to the Corporation
multifamily loans that meet published guidelines without the Corporation’s prior approval of the
underwriting, provided that the lenders agree to share in a portion of any subsequent loss on such
loans and establish and maintain a reserve with a designated custodian to secure thewr loss-sharing
obligation. Previously, the Corporation required 1ts approval of the underwriting of all multifamily
loans before it would purchase such loans. It continues to require such prior approval for multifamily
loans that it purchases from non-DUS lenders.

The Corporation generally requires that the unpaid principal amount of each conventional first
mortgage loan it purchases not be greater than 80 percent of the value of the mortgaged property
unless the excess over 75 percent 1s insured by a mortgage mnsurance company acceptable to the
Corporation. Mortgage insurance is required for as long as the principal balance of the mortgage loan
1s greater than 80 percent of the original value (or of the appraised vaiue as determined by a
subsequent appraisal). Under the Charter Act, mortgage insurance 18 not required on mortgage loans
with loan-to-value ratios greater than 80 percent if the mortgage loan seiler retains a participation
interest 1n the loan of not less than 10 percent or the seller agrees to repurchase the ioan in the event
of default. The Corporation, however, 13 requinng mortgage wnsurance in cases where the lender
retamns a participation interest of 10 percent or more, except where the lender agrees to repurchase the
loan in the event of default or the lender agrees to bear a certain amount of losses, in which case the
Corporation generally requires the lender to pledge coliateral to secure such obligation. The
Corporation generally requires mortgage insurance for second mortgage loans if the combined loan-to-
value ratios of the first and second mortgage loans on the property exceed 70 percent. The
Corporation bears the risk that 1n some cases mortgage insurers or lenders may be unable to satisfy
fully their obligations. See ‘“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Annual Periods—Results of Operations—Credit Risk Management.”

Because of their government backing, FHA-insured and VA-guaranteed mortgage loans involve
less nsk to the Corporation from a credit standpoint than conventional loans. The Corporation’s
basic eligibility criterion for the purchase of FHA/VA loans 1s simply the FHA 1nsurance or the VA

guaranty.

Commitments

The Corporation 1ssues commitments to purchase, at a later date, a specified dollar amount of
mortgage loans. The Corporation purchases mortgage loans through standard product commiments
with posted yields and through negotiated commitments. The Corporation’s standard single-famity
mortgage loan products currently include 10-, 15-, 20-, and 30-year fixed-rate mortgage loans, 7-year
fixed-rate balloon mortgage loans wath 30-year amortization periods, FHA-insured and VA-guaranteed
fixed-rate mortgage loans, many types of ARMs, and second mortgage loans. A negotiated commut-
ment is used when the mortgage loans or proposed commitment terms differ in some manner from the
Corporation’s standard mortgage loan products or standard commitments.

The Corporation purchases most of its mortgage loans pursuant to mandatory delivery commut-
ments. Under such commitments, lenders are obligated to sell loans to the Corporation at the
commitment yield. Mandatory delivery commitments are available for standard product and
negotiated transactions. If a lender is not able to deliver the mortgage loans required under a
mandatory delivery commitment, the lender may buy back the commtment at any time duning the
commitment term for a fee.

The Corporation also issues to lenders standard and negotiated standby commitments that
commut the Corporation to purchase a designated dollar amount of single-family mortgage loans from
the lenders if they convert their standby commitments to mandatory delivery commitments. Standby
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commitments do not obligate the lenders to sell the loans to the Corporation: they are obligated to do
3o only after such commitments are converted to mandatory delivery commitments. The vield on the
mortgage loans 15 established at the time of the conversion n the case of “market rate” standby
commitments and at the time the lender obtained the commtment in the case of “rate-lock” standby
commitments. The combined term of the standby and mandatory commitments currently can be up

to 14 months.

Pnor to October 1, 1987, lenders often paid fees for either of these commitments, but as of that
date the Corporation eliminated its requirement of “upfront” commitment fees on all mandatory
delivery transactions for its standard mortgage products. The Corporation does offer lenders
obtaimng mandatory commitments the choice of obtammng such a comrmitment without fees at
competitive yields or at lower yields with fees The Corporation subsequently eliminated such upfront
fees for standard product standby commitments and most negotiated standby commitments. Lenders
obtaining negotiated rate-lock standby commitments still are required to pay a nonrefundable fee at
the time of commitment, with the amount of the fee depending on market conditions, the type of
mortgage loan, and the length and charactenstics of the commitment. See “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations— Annual Periods— Results of Opers-
tions—Financial Accounting Standard No. 91" for a discussion of the standard the Financial
Accounting Standards Board 1ssued requiring a change in accounting for commitment fees.

Commitments outstanding at December 31, 1989 and 1988 were $6.0 billion and $2.1 billion,
respectively, inciuding standby commitments of $3.7 billion at December 31, 1989 and $1.0 billion at

December 31, 1988

Servicing

The Corporation does not service mortgage loans held in the portfolio, except for government-
insured multifamly loans, most conventional multifamily mortgage loans that are in defauit, and loans
that have been foreclosed. Fannie Mae morigage loans can be serviced only by a servicer approved by
the Corporation. Lenders who sell single-family mortgage loans and conventional multifamily loans to
the Corparation often retain the responsibility for servicing the mortgage loans sold, subject to the
Corporation’s guidelines. With the Corporation’s approval, sellers or servicers may transfer responsi-
bility for servicing loans to others Servicing includes the collection and remittance of principal and
mnterest payments, admimstration of escrow accounts, collection of insurance claims, and, 1f necessary,
processing of foreclosures. The Corporation compensates servicers by permitting them to retain a
specified portion of each interest payment on a serviced mortgage loan.

Repayments, Assumptions, and Sales

Mortgage repayments include mortgage loan prepayments, loans paid-in-full, normal amortiza-
tion, and foreciosures. As shown by the table below, repayments during 1989 compared wath 1988
decreased only shghtly, whereas repayments during 1988 were 29 percent less than in 1987. The
decrease 1n 1988 and the shght decrease 1n 1989 is primanly due to greater stability of interest rates.
The level of principal repayments 1n 1987 and 1986 substantially increased from the levels of previous
years. Because the majonty of mortgage loans n the Corporation’s portfolio are prepayable by the
borrower (in some cases with a small penalty), the dechine 1n mortgage interest rates expenenced in
1986 and during part of 1987 resulted 1n a significant increase in prepayments of the higher interest
rate mortgage loans in the Corporation’s loan portfohio In general, when the level of interest rates
declines sigmificantly below the interest rates on portfolio mortgage loans, the rate of prepayment is
likely to increase, although the rate of principal payments 1s nfluenced by a vanety of economic,
geographic, and other factors.
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Mortgage Loan Portfolio Repayments

{Dotlars 1n millions)

Year Ended December 31,

1989 1988 1987 1986 1985
Single-Family:

Government insured or guaranteed . $ 1,342 $ 1,425 § 2,011 3 2,876 32,090
Conventional: Fixed-rate .. 6,509 7,310 10,206 12,396 1796
Adjustable-rate 3,262 2,548 3,143 3,756 1,963
Second mortgage . . 354 293 887 1,228 788
Multifamily .. . . . . 320 229 270 481 154
Total mortgage loan repayments{1} $11,787 $11,805 $16,517 $20,737 §$9,791

Repayments as a percentage of total unpaid
pnncipal balance .. . .. 10.2% 11.7% 17.3% 21.1% 104%

(1) Repayments include $786 million, $1,115 million, $1,123 milhion, $1,142 milhon, and
$835 million in 1989, 1988, 1987, 1986, and 1985, respectively, of loans removed from
portfolio as a result of foreclosures. Foreclosures included 1in repayments for 1988
mnciude $92 mullion related to EPIC properties (see “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits of Operations— Annual Periods—Results of
Operations—Credit Risk Management”).

The following table shows the unpaid pnincipal balances of mortgage loans sold from portfoho for
the years 1985 through 1989 The Corporation sold $1.6 bilhon of low-yeiding loans in 1987 to
improve future nterest spreads on the portfolio. The sales in 1986 included a special $10 billion sale
of mortgage loans that were primanly assumable FHA/VA mortgage loans.

Mortgage Loan Sales from Portfolio

(Dollars in mallions)

Year Ended December 31,

1989 1988 1987 1986 1985

Single-Family:
Government nsured or guaranteed 3 - 3 150 $2.436 3 9,011 $ —
Conventional. Fixed-rate 3,038 4,897 2,528 1,946 1,319
Multifamily . ... .. . — — 250 —_ —
Total saies $3,036 $5,047 $5,214 $10,957 $1,319

Mortgage-Backed Securities

MBS are guaranteed mortgage pass-through trust certificates ssued by the Corporation that
represent beneficial interests in pools of mortgage loans or other MBS. The Corporation serves as
trustee for each trust. The pools of mortgage loans or MBS are not assets of the Corporation, except
when acquired for investment purposes, nor are the related outstanding securities liabilities of the
Corporation. The Corporation, however, 18 liable under its guaranty to make timely payments to
\nvestors of principal and interest on the mortgage loans 1n the pools. even if the Corporation has not
received payments of principal or interest on the loans. MBS enable the Corporation to further its
statutory purpose of increasing the liquidity of residential mortgage loans and create a source of
guaranty fee income to the Corporation without requiring that the Corporation take the debt
refinancing or “‘spread” risk on the underlying pooled mortgage loans.
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The Corporation 1ssues and guarantees several forms of MBS. With a standard MBS, an investor
has an undivided interest 1n a pool of underiying mortgage loans that generally are provided either by
one lender or by the Corporation out of the Corporation’s mortgage loan portfolio. Interests in the
pool are represented by a single class of certificates, so each investor receives a portion of the pnncipal
and nterest payments on the pool equal to his undivided interest 1n the pool.

Fanme Majors®, introduced in 1987, are MBS backed by large pools of mortgage loans from
multiple lenders. Interests in the pool are represented by a single class of certificates. so each investor
receives principal and interest payments proportionate to his undivided interest in the pool. Fanme
Majors 13sues totaled $14.0 billion in 1989 and $7 9 billion in 1988.

In 1988, the Corporation introduced Fanme Megas® (“Megas,” initially called MegaPools),
which allow investors to consohidate small or partially paid down pools of MBS of the same type (and
the same pass-through rate for fixed-rate Megas). In return for their MBS, investors receive Mega
certificates representing undivided interests in the consolidated pool.

There 15 no special allocation of the cash fiows from the mortgage loans underlying standard
MBS, Fanme Majors, and Megas, because in each case there 1s a single class of certificates with each
investor receiving a portion of the payments of principal and interest on the underlying mortgage
loans equal to 1ts undivided interest 1n the pool. In contrast, Stripped Mortgage-Backed Securities
(*SMBS”), which the Corporation introduced in 19886, are issued in senes, with two classes that are
entitled to different cash flows from the underlying mortgage loans, MBS or certificates guaranteed by
the Government National Mortgage Association (“GNMA”). Each class of SMBS receives a different
proportion of the principal and interest payments on the underlying mortgages: a class may represent
(a)} an undivided interest solely in the pnncipal payments, (b) an undivided interest solely in the
interest payments, or (c) different percentage interests in principal and interest payments, to be made
on a pool of mortgage loans, MBS or certificates guaranteed by GNMA.

Real estate mortgage investment conduit (“REMIC”') securnties represent beneficial mterests in a
trust having multiple classes of secunties. Cash flows from the underlying mortgage loans, certificates
guaranteed by GNMA or MBS (which may be standard MBS, Fannie Majors, Megas, or SMBS) are
allocated to the different classes. Some REMIC trusts are structured so the investors in any regular
class of the REMIC are paid interest currently on their prd rata share of the remaming principal, but
principal payments are made to the regular classes sequentially so the investors mn a regular class
receive principal payments only when all regular classes with a shorter matunty have been retired.
REMICs with different structures have baen offered, including REMICs wath (1) one or more accruail
or “Z” classes that accrue interest but receive neither interest nor principal payments until certain
other classes have been retired, (1) classes bearing interest at floating rates rather than fixed rates, or
{11i} planned or targeted amortization classes having a schedule of principal payments that wiil be met
under certain prepayment conditions but that is not guaranteed to be met. All REMICs include a
residual class. although the exact nature of the residual class depends upon the structure of the
REMIC. REMICs were authonzed by the Tax Reform Act of 1986, and the Corporation first 1ssued

these securities in 1987,

The following tables show the Corporation’s activity in MBS for the years 1985 through 1989.
MBS 1ssued may be exchanged subsequently for Megas, SMBS, or REMICs. The table below includes
MBS 1ssued and outstanding that underlie Megas, SMBS, and REMICs, but does not meiude the
resulting Megas, SMBS, or REMICs. Those resulting secunties are shown 1n the table entitled

“Summary of Mega, SMBS, and REMIC Activity.”
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MBS Issued and Outstanding

{Dollars in mllions)

Year Ended December 31,

1989 1988 1987 1986 1885
]ssued during period . $ 69,764 $ 54,878  § 63,229 $60,566 $23.649
Outstanding at penod end(1l) . 228,232 178,250 139,960 97,174 54,987

{1) Included in MBS outstanding are $11 7 billion, $8.1 billion, $4.2 billion, 31 6 billion. and
$0.4 billion of MBS 1n portfolio at December 31, 1989, 1988, 1987, 1986, and 1985.

respectively.

The following table summanzes Mega, SMBS, and REMIC activity 1n 1989, 1988, 1987, and
1986.

Summary of Mega, SMBS, and REMIC Activity

(Dollars in millions)

Year Ended December 31,

1989 1988 1987 1986

Issued during period:

Megas(1) - . $23,282 $ 9928 3 — $ —

SMBS(2) 4,132 5,056 9,001 2,400

REMICs 37.583 11,199 916 —
Outstanding at period end(3):

Megas(1) . 29,401 9,77 — —

SMBS(2) . 17,266 15,013 10,462 2,283

REMICs. . 47,560 11,647 897 —

(1) Megas can back SMBS or REMICs.

(2} SMBS can back REMICs.

(3) Includes $3.2 billion, $1.6 billion, and $0.1 tillion at December 31, 1989, 1988, and 1987,
respectively, held in the Corporation’s mortgage portfolio.

The Corporation issues MBS backed by single-farmly first or second mortgage loans, or multifam-
\ly first mortgage loans, with fixed or adjustable rates The mortgage loans may be either conventional
or FHA/VA mortgage loans. The conventional mortgage loans are subject to the maximum principal
balance lirmts apphcable to the Corporation’s purchases as described under “Mortgage Loan Port-
folio—Mortgage Loans Purchased— Principal Balance Limits.” The mortgage loans also are subject
to the same underwnting guidelines as those for mortgage loans purchased for portfolio as described
under “Mortgage Loan Portfolio— Underwriting Guidelines,” except to the extent compliance with
those guidelines 18 waived by the Corporation. The majonty of the Corporation’s MBS outstanding
represents beneficial \nterests in conventional fixed-rate mortgage loans on single-family dwellings.

Most standard MBS and Fanme Majors are issued 1n “swap” transactions in which lenders
exchange pools of mortgage loans for MBS. In addition to swap transactions, the Corporation pools
mortgage loans from its own portfolio or purchases mortgage loans from lenders in exchange for cash,
assembles the mortgage loans in a pool, and sells the related certificates.

The Corporation issues its MBS (other than Fannie Majors and Megas) pursuant to commit-
ments by which it agrees in advance to 18sue these securities 1n exchange for a specified dollar amount
of loans or MBS. Such commitments may be standard product commtments or negotiated
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commitments. Standard product commitments provide for optional delivery, while negotiated
commtments provide for either mandatory or optional delivery. Under optional dehvery commut-
ments, lenders generally have 180 days to deliver the mortgage loans, although the delivery period can
be extended by the Corporation for another 180 days. Under mandatory delivery commitments,
lenders must deliver the mortgage loans within specified time penods. SMBS and REMICs are 1ssued
only pursuant to mandatory delivery commitments. At December 31, 1989, the Corporation had
outstanding $8 4 billion of mandatory delivery MBS commitments and $34.2 billion of optional
delivery MBS commitments, compared with $7.2 billion of mandatory delivery commitments and
$14.5 billion of optional dehvery commitments at December 31, 1988,

MES carry the Corporation's guaranty of timely payment of principal and interest on the
underlying pooled mortgage loans, whether or not such payments are received from the mortgagor. In
addition, pursuant to 1ts guaranty of REMICs, the Corporation 1s obligated to make timely distribu-
tion of required installments of principal and interest and to distribute the pnincipal balance 1n full by
a specified date, whether or not sufficient funds are available n the related REMIC trust. Because of
the Corporation’s guaranties, 1t assumes the ultimate credit nsk of borrowers’ defaults on all mortgage
loans underlying MBS, as 1t does for portfolio mortgage loans. The Corporation’s nsk may be offset
somewhat to the extent sellers of pools of mortgage loans elect to remain at nisk on the loans soid to
the Corporation. Lenders are provided an option to assume the credit risk in exchange for paying a
lower guaranty fee. At December 31, 1989, $92.1 billion of conventional MBS pools had underlymng
mortgage loans where the Corporation has recourse to the sellers, third party credit enhancement
providers (through a letter of credit or pool msurance coverage), or other credit enhancement
structures in the event of default by the borrowers. For further information regarding the primary
foreclosure nisk category of mortgage loans underlying MBS outstanding at December 31, 1989, 1988
and 1987, see ‘“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations— Annual Periods—Mortgage-Backed Secunties.” If the loss rate on conventional mort-
gage loans 1n pools should appreciably increase, the Corporation’s losses could, to the extent not offset
by recourse to sellers or others, become significant. For mnformation on the Corporation’s loss and
delinquency expernence on mortgage loans underlying MBS, see “Portfolio and MBS Loan Losses.”

The Corporation receves guaranty fees for its standard MBS and Fannie Majors. Such fees are
paird monthly until the underlying mortgage loans have been repaid or foreclosed. For the years ended
December 31, 1989 and December 31. 1988, MBS guaranty fees totaled $408 miullion and $328 milion,
respectively,. The Corporation also recewves fees for swapping SMBS, REMICs and Megas for
standard MBS, except that no fee 15 charged for Megas swapped for standard MBS issued during the
same month as the Mega.

The aggregate amount of guaranty fees received by the Corporation depends upon the amount of
MBS outstanding and on the guaranty fee rate. The amount of MBS outstanding 1s influenced by the
repayment rates on the underlying mortgage loans and by the rate at which the Corporation 1ssues
new MBS. In general. when the level of interest rates declines sigmificantly below the interest rates on
loans underlying MBS, the rate of prepavment 1s likely to increase, although the rate of principal
Payments 13 influenced by a varety of economic, geographic and other factors.

Insurance companies, money managers, and commercial banks have been substantial buyers of
MBS. At times, thnft institutions also have been major purchasers of MBS, although they were less
significant purchasers 1n 1989, Durning 1989, international mvestors invested in MBS directly, as well
as through private mutual funds structured and managed by third parties,

In 1989, nisk-based capital standards were adopted by federal banking regulators, who assigned
the Corporation’s MBS to the 20 percent nsk category, except that SMBS and certain residual classes
of REMICs of the Corporation are assigned to the 100 percent category. It 1s unclear what the overall
umpact. if any, of the risk-based capital standards will be on the MBS market.

A supervisory policy statement issued by the Federal Financia! Institutions Examination Council
with regard to investments in various types of zero coupon and stnpped obligations and asset-backed
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securities residuals (or some variation thereof) has been adopted by federal banking regulators and
the National Credit Union Administration with respect to the depository institutions that they
regulate. The Office of Thrift Supervision also has guidelines and limitations on investment in such
securities by federal- and state-chartered savings nstitutions under its supervision. Furthermore, at
least three state regulators have adopted regulations designed to prohibit regulated institutions subject
to their jurisdiction from holding interest-only stripped mortgage-backed securities, inciuding
Iinterest-only securities previously purchased. It is unclear what overall impact, if any, such guidelines
and regulations have had or will have on the MBS market.

In most instances, the lenders that originated the loans in an MBS pool created from the
Corporation’s portfolio or the lenders that exchanged the loans for the MBS (in the case of a “awap”
transaction) initially service the loans. The Corporation, however, reserves the right to remove the
servicing responsibility from a lender at any time 1if it considers such removal to be in the best interest
of MBS certificateholders. In such event, the Corporation finds a replacement lender that will service
the loans. The lender also may subcontract servicing to another lender approved by the Corporation
as well as transfer servicing with the Corporation's prior approval. The Corporation ultimately 1s
responsible for the administration and servicing of mortgage loans underlying MBS, including the
supervision of the servicing activities of lenders, the collection and receipt of payments from lenders,
and the remittance of distmbutions and certain reports to holders of MBS certificates.

Portfolio and MBS Loan Losses

Allowance and Prouvision for Loan Losses

The Corporation reduced the proviston for loan losses 1n 1989 after increasing the provision
yearly since 1984. The increases prior to 1989 were primarily 1n response to an increase 1n actual and
anticipated charge-offs, whereas in 1989 there was a decrease in charge-offs. The allowance for losses
1s established by charges to expense (the provision for losses) and is reduced through charge-offs (net
of recovenes) of foreclosure losses. See also “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—
Allowance for Losses” in the notes to financial statements. The provision for losses for loans in the
portfolio and loans in MBS pools and the allowance for losses thereon are summarized 1n the following

table:

Portfolio and MBS Provisions and Allowances for Loan Losses

(Dollars in millions )

Year Ended December 31,
1989 1988 1987 1988 19856

Provision during period

Portfolio:
Government mnsured or guaranteed . .. . $ 5 $§ 6 $ 14 3 11 $ 16
Conventional . . 161 279 266 249 161
MBS . . .. . 144 80 R0 46 29
Total . $310 $365 2360 $306 $206
Allowance at end of period
Portfolio:
Government insured or guaranteed $ 13 $ 18 $ 24 $ 23 $ 26
Conventional . . . ) 220 228 191 169 107
MBS . . . 230 150 131 79 33
Total .. .. . . $463 $396 $346 $271 $166
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Charge-offs

As mortgage loans are foreclosed, the Corporation reduces the allowance for loan losses by the
amount of the estimated loss. The estimated losses are adjusted to actual losses when the underlying
properties are sold. In 1989 and 1988, total charge-offs (exclusive of $45 million in 1988 for estimated
losses related to TMIC Insurance Company, Inc. (“TMIC”) and EPIC) decreased as compared with
1988 and 1987, respectively, primarily due to a decrease in the number of loans foreclosed. In 1984
through 1987, the Corporation experienced a substantial increase in losses charged off on portfolio and
MBS mortgage loans. This increase resulted both from an increase in the number of loans foreclosed
and from a higher average loss per foreclosure. The losses charged off on the conventional loan
portfolio and MBS backed by conventional mortgage loans are summarized in the following two tables:

Portfolio Conventional Loan Charge-off Experience

(Dollars in millions)
Year Ended December 31,
1989 1988 1987 1986 19856
Single-Family Conventional Loans: '
Net losses charged off during period(1) ..... $ 129(2)% 195(2)8% 208 $ 173 § 143
Average principal balance during period.. ... $85,201 $81,249 $73,479 $68,0656 $59,965
Net loss charge-off Tatio . .................. 1514%  .2400%  .2831%  .2542%  .2385%
Muitifamily Conventional Loans:
Net losses charged off during period(1) ..... $ 18 $& 21 $ 21 § 5 -
Average principal balance during period. . . .. $ 3258 $ 2,575 $ 2469 $ 1932 § 1,007
Net loss charge-off ratio................... .5525% .8155% .8505%  .2588% -

(1) Estimated losses on acquired properties generally are charged to the allowance for losses
when properties are acquired.

(2) Includes $13 million and $28 million for 1989 and 1988, respectively, that represents the
estimated loss relating to mortgage insurance claims pending with TMIC, and also
includes a $17 million writedown to net realizable value on EPIC properties in 1988. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Opera-
tions—Annual Periods—Results of Operations—Credit Risk Management.”

MBS Conventional Loan Charge-off Experience
(Dollars in millions) '

Year Ended December 31,
1989 1988 1987 1986 1985
Single-Family Conventional Loans:
Net losses charged off during period(1) ...... $ 62 § 77 % 41 § 9 $ 19
Average principal balance during period(1) ... $95955 $71,627 $52,456 $25680 $10,155
Net loss charge-off ratio .................... .0646%  .1075% .0782%  .0350% .1871%

Multifamily Conventional Loans:

Net losses charged off during period(1)(2) ... $§ 20 § 9 3 2 -
Average principal balance during period(1) ... $§ 970 $§ 910 $ 723 $ 368 $ 64
Net loss charge-off ratio .................... 2.0619%  .9890% .2766% - —

(1) Excludes MBS backed by conventional mortgage loans where lenders have agreed to
retain the primary default risk or where lenders have agreed to bear default risk limited
to a certain percentage of the loans delivered. The average principal balance during the
period on such single-family MBS was $82.5, $67.7, $52.4, $40.7, and $30.1 billion in
1989, 1988, 1987, 1986, and 1985, respectively. On such multifamily MBS, the average
principal balance during the period was $6.1, $2.8, $0.7, $0.7, and gO.S billion in 1989,
1988, 1987, 1986, and 1985, respectively.

(2) ll\ggl;:ifamily losses relate to a credit enhancement product line that was discontinued in
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Delinquencies

Delinquencies of three months or more experienced on single-family conventional mortgage loans
in the Corporation’s loan portfolio and underlying MBS, for which the Corporation has the primary
risk of loss, are summarized in the following table:

Portfolio and MBS Single-family Conventional Loan Delinquency Experience

(Percent of portfolio by number of loans and percent of MBS by number of underlying loans)

December 31,
1989 1988 1987 1986 1985
Portfolio: ,
Three or more months delinquent........... o 42% .50% .59% .80% 15%
Inrelief .......covvviiiiii i / .33 35 46 .30 .28
In foreclosure ...l /.o _.35 45 .62 .63 54
Total............... e i 1.10% 1.30% 1.67% 1.73% 1.57%
_ E————§ == p———rd e~
MBS(1):
Three or more months delinquent........... 17% 20% 20% .33% 42%
Inrelief(2) .....ovviiiiiiiiiiiiiee .08 - .08 .03 .04 q1
Inforeclosure ...........coviiiiiieeiennns 11 .18 .23 24 42
TOtal. ..\ oveeeee e 36%  _.46% 46%  _61%  _.95%
Total Portfolio and MBS (1):
Three or more months delinquent........... .28% .35% .42% 65% 70%
Inrelief(2) ......coviiiiiii i .19 22 .26 22 .26
In foreclosure ..............oooooiiiiiiiin .22 31 44 .51 _.52
Total(2) ..ot .69% _.88% 1.12% 1.38% 1.48%

(1) Only includes MBS where Fannie Mae has primary default risk.

(2) MBS data for years prior to 1988 for loans in relief only includes loans pooled from
portfolio, as such data for loans pooled from MBS lenders is not available. For 1989 and
1988, MBS loans in relief represented .04 percent of combined total loans.

REO

When a mortgage loan is liquidated by foreclosure, the Corporation acquires the underlying
property (“REQ”) and holds it for sale. The number of REO increased significantly in 1985, 1986,
and 1987. The incidence of foreclosures increased sharply in economically distressed areas that have
been dependent upon the oil exploration and services industry. The average loss per foreclosure also
increased in these areas as property values declined. In addition, the number of foreclosures increased
somewhat due to significant growth in the number of portfolio and MBS loans. The number of REO
declined significantly in 1989 and to a lesser extent in 1988 as a result of a slowdown in foreclosures
and as dispositions of REO exceeded acquisitions.
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Information as to the number of REQ properties owned by the Corporation and the carrving value
of the properties 1s contained 1n the following table:

REO Experience

{ Dollars in thousands)

December 31,

JELT] 1988 1987 1986 1985
Single-Family
Number of REQ(1) 4,975(3) 7,458 9,434 8,104 7,701
Aggregate carrving value{2) $172.000 $250,000 $312,000 $294,000 $298,000
Average carrying value(2) 8 35 $ 34 $ 33 $ 36 $ 39
Multifamily
Number of REO 33 41 16 1 —
Aggregate carrying value(2) $ 84,000 $ 89,000 $ 30,000 $ 2,000 —
Average carrying value(2) $ 2,500 $ 2,200 $§ 1,900 $ 2,000 —

(1) The number of REQ for 1986 and 1985 excludes properties acquired upon foreclosure of
loans where the Corporation had a participation interest. In 1987, the Corporation
began acquinng and managing such properties. As of December 31, 1989, the Corpora-
tion held 339 properties in which 1t had a participation mnterest. The Corporation
beheves that the addition of such properties in 1986 and 1985 would not have increased
the inventory by more than 15 percent.

(2) The carrving value of a property 1s the lower of the Corporation’s net investment (after
deducting any mortgage msurance proceeds) or current estimated net realizable value.

(3) Includes 321 EPIC properties, 80 of which were in Fannie Mae’s active inventory and
being marketed for saie. The remaimng 241 properties were mcluded 1n the EPIC
reorgamzation plan, which envisions their sale over a period of several years

Competition

The Corporation competes, within the limits prescribzad by its Charter Act, in the purchase of
mortgage loans for portfolio and the 1ssuance of mortgage-backed securities in the secondary mortgage
market. The Corporation competes pnmanly with savings and loan associations, savings banks,
commercial banks, mortgage bankers, government-sponsored corporations, and compantes that pool
mortgage loans (“conduns™) for sale to nvestors as whole loans or mortgage-backed securities.

The Corporation’s market share of loans purchased for portfolio 18 affected by the volume of
mortgage loans offered for sale in the secondary market by loan originators and other market
participants, the amount purchased by other market participants that compete with the Corporation,
and the adequacy of funds to meet the demands of the housing industry. In its purchase of mortgage
loans for portfolhio, the Corporation competes prnimaniy on the basis of yield, fees, and products and
services offered Competition has been particularly intense for ARMs because many savings and loan
associations and other market participants have purchased or retained such loans to better match the

terms of their assets and lhabilities.

In 1wsuing MBS, the Corporation competes primarily with other companies that issue mortgage-
backed secunties, including conduits, savings and loan associations, and commercial banks. The
Corporation’s primary competitor for mortgage-backed secunties 1s the Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation (“Freddie Mac”), whose pnmary business conssts of the 1ssuance of mortgage-backed
securities. The Corporation and Freddie Mac compete primarly on the basis of the amount of the
guaranty fee charged, the products offered, and differences in such matters as mortgage loan eligibility

standards and delivery requirements.
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The Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 gave HUD general
regulatory power over Freddie Mac and replaced its three-member Board of Directors {consisting of
the members of the former Federal Home Loan Bank Board) with eighteen members (consisting of
thirteen members elected by Freddie Mac’s common stockhoiders and five members appointed by the
President). Also, dunng 1989, Freddie Mac's outstanding common stock became voting stock and
broadly available for purchase. It is unclear what impact, if any, these changes will have on
competition between the Corporation and Freddie Mac.

Corporate Indebtedness

Although the Corporation 1s stockholder-owned and its obligations are not backed by the United
States or any agency or instrumentality thereof other than the Corporation, the Corporation’s debt
has traditionally been treated as “Federal Agency” debt in the U.S. marketplace. The Corporation, as
a resuit, has historically enjoyed ready access to funds in the U.S. credit markets at rates that are
slightly higher than the vields on U §. Treasury obligations of comparable maturities.

The following table sets forth at December 31, 1989 the maturity profile of the Corporation’s debt
obligations that were onginally 1ssued with a maturity of one vear or longer

Average
Maturing Within Book Value Cost(1l)
(Dollars 1n mllions)

One year 811,457 9 50%
One to two years 15,351 8.49
Two to three years 12,083 9.14
Three to four years 8,751 8.98
Four to five years 7,350 9.11
Over five years 34,620 9,20

(1) Includes the amortization of issuance costs and hedging results, and the effect of
currency and interest rate swaps.

The outstanding indebtedness of the Corporation consists of general unsecured obligations issued
under section 304(b) of the Charter Act, subordinated capital debentures (including convertible
capital debentures), which are unsecured subordinated general obligations issued under sec-
tion 304 (e) of the Charter Act, mortgage-backed bonds 1ssued under section 304(d) of the Charter

Act, and securities sold under agreements to repurchase.

Section 304 (b) of the Charter Act provides that the aggregate amount of obligations outstanding
under such subsection shall not exceed, at any one time, fifteen times the sum of the capital
(including, for this purpose, capital debentures), capital surplus, general surplus, reserves, and
undistributed earnings of the Corporation unless a greater ratio 18 fixed by the Secretary of HUD.
From 1968 to 1982 this ratio was set by the Secretary of HUD at 25:1. In 1982, the Secretary of HUD
increased this ratio to 30:1, but in April 1987 the Secretary advised the Corporation that he would
immediately lower the debt-to-capital ratio to 25:1, wath the intention of further lowering this ratio to
20:1 by December 31, 1988 Regulations adopted by HUD provide that this ratio is, in the event of a
reduction in the Corporation’s capital, automatically increased to such ratio as shall be necessary to
include all obligations cutstanding pursuant to section 304(b). At December 31, 1989, this debt-to-
capital ratio was 19.7:1, compared with 19.1:1 at December 31, 1988. At December 31, 1989, the
Corporation could have issued approximately $1.9 billion of obligations under section 304 (b) of the
Charter Act in addition to its then outstanding obligations under that section.

The Corporation is obligated to holders of certain outstanding 1ssues of subordinated capital
debentures to mantain the total principal amount of obligations 1ssued under section 304 (e) of the
Charter Act at any one time outstanding at a level not more than two times the sum of (i) the capital
of the Corporation represented by its outstanding common stock and (ii) its surplus and undistri-
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buted earnings at such time until such outstanding debentures mature or are redeemed. At
December 31, 1989 and 1988, the Corporation’s subordinated debt-to-equity ratio was 0.8:1 and 1.2:1,
respectively. At December 31, 1989, the Corporation could have 1ssued approximately $3.7 bilhon of
additional subordinated obligations and still have been in compliance with the 2:1 subordinated debt-
to-equity ratio. The latest matunty date of a seres of subordinated debentures containing the
subordinated debt-to-equity restriction 1s September 30, 2002, although that seres 18 caliable at the
Corporation’s option. No noncallable subordinated obligations containing the subordinated debt-to-
equity restriction remain outstanding. Regulations adopted by HUD provide that, at the matunty or
other event requiring the payment or redemption of obligations 1ssued under section 304(e) of the
Charter Act, the permitted debt-to-capital ratio is automatically increased as necessary to permit the
13suance of obligations under section 304 (b) of the Charter Act in an amount sufficient to provide the
proceeds required to pay the principal of and interest on the outstanding subordinated obligations

required to be paid at such time.

Issuances of indebtedness pursuant to section 304(b) of the Charter Act are also subject to the
condition that, at the time of any such 1ssuance, the ageregate amount of such indebtedness then
outstanding under such section 304(b), after giving effect to the indebtedness being 1ssued, is not
greater than the Corporation’s ownership, free from any liens or encumbrances, of cash, mortgages or
other security holdings and obligations, participations or other mmvestments. Unlike the debt-to-
capital ratio limitation described above, this section 304(b) limitation 1s statutory and may not be
warved or vaned by the Secretary of HUD For purposes of each of the foregoing calculations, the
Corporation accounts for debt obligations 1ssued at a discount or premm at their hook value (face
amount adjusted for unamortized discount or premium).

Section 304(d) of the Charter Act, pursuant to which MBS and mortgage-backed bonds are
outstanding, imposes a requirement with respect to securnties 1ssued thereunder that the mortgages
pledged or set aside must be sufficient at all times to make timely debt service payments on the
secunities. There is no other limitation on the amount of MBS and mortgage-backed bonds that may

be outstanding. .

Section 304 (c) of the Charter Act authorzes the Secretary of the Treasury, in his discretion, as a
public debt transaction, to purchase obligations of the Corporation up to a maximum of $2.25 billion
outstanding at any one time. This authonty has not been used since the Corporation’s transition from
government ownership. Although the Secretary of the Treasury 1s authonzed to purchase the
obligations of the Corporation, the Secretarv 1s under no requirement to do so. Any such obligations
purchased by the Secretary of the Treasury must be 1ssued pursuant to section 304 (b) of the Charter
Act and, accordingly, would be subject to the applicable hrutations and restrictions described above.
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The following table sets forth the Corporation’s borrowing activity and outstanding borrowings,
the respective costs of borrowings, ahd average maturities. The dmdunts given are book value (face
amount net of unamortized premium and discount) except for short-term notes, which, because they
have a maturity of less than one year, are reported at their face amount.

Debt
(Dollars in millions)
Year Ended December 31,
1989 1988 1987 1986 1985
Short-Term Notes, Master Notes, Securities
Sold under Agreements to Repurchase,
Residential Financing Securities, and
Short-Term Investment Agreements
Issued during period: .
AMOUNL . ... ov ittt $ 55,037 $ 50,180 $26,950 $22,066 $23.617
AVErage CoBL........vovniiiinreaniannns 8.46% 7.58% 6.84% 6.39% 8.47%
Average maturity—days(1) ............. 128 169 156 217 240
Outstanding at end of period:
ABOUNL ... vvh et i $ 24,753 $ 24,492 $15,986 $13,971 $17,427
Average cost....................o.ian 8.62% 8.33% 7.56% 6.40% 8.26%
Average maturity—days(1) ............. 87 137 149 161 121
Debentures, Medium-Term Notes, Bonds, and
Long-Term Investment Agreements
Issued during period: ‘
AMOUNL ..ot viennercr i niianses $ 23,595 $ 14,183 $18,776 $17.857 $24,569
AvVerage cost...........co.o.oiuiiniiianin. 8.90% 8.76% 8.39% 7.95% 10.47%
Average maturity—months.............. 84 68 75 85 67
Outstanding at end of period:
AIOUDL . ..o iviee v e caeneeninans $ 91,574 $ 81,371 $81,341 $79,745 $76,768
Average cost......... S PP 9.06% 9.32% 9.70% 10.41% 11.17%
Average maturity—months............ .. 57 53 54 49 42
Total Debt
Issued during period:
AIDOUNL . oottt ie e $ 78,632 $ 64,363 $45,726 $39.923 $48,186
Average cost(2)................... e 8.60% 7.84% 7.49% 7.10% 9.62%
Average matutity—months(1)(2) ....... , 28 20 36 47 46
Outstanding at end of period: »
AMOUNL ... i iviie i $116,327 $105,863 $97,327 $93,716 $94,195
Average cost(2)........ ..o i enann 9.04% 9.20% 9.46% 10.01% 10.79%
Average maturity—months(1)(2) ....... 47 43 48 46 40

(1) This is calculated exclusive of certain investment agreements for which the average
maturity is indeterminate because the balances associated with such investment agree-
ments fluctuate over the life of the agreement. ;

(2) Average cost and maturity of total debt issued and outstanding include the amortization
of issuance costs, hedging results, and the effect of currency and interest rate swaps.

Facilities

The principal office of the Corporation is located at 3900 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, Washington,
DC 20016 (telephone: 202/752-7000), in a building that the Corporation owns. The Corporation also
leases 368,680 square feet of office space at 4000 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, which is adjacent to the
Corporation’s principal office. The present lease, with annual rental expense in 1990 of approximately
$10.2 million, expires in 2001, but the Corporation has options to extend the lease for up to 15
additional years, in 5-year increments.

The Corporation also maintains regional offices in leased premises (with the approximate square
footage and year of lease expiration indicated) in Pasadena, California (69,000 square feet, 1999),
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Atlanta, Georgia (59,000 square feet. 1997); Chicago, lllinois (38,000 square feet, 1994); Philadei-
phia, Pennsylvama (56,000 square feet, 1996); and Dallas, Texas (57,000 square feet, 2000) The
regional offices negotiate mortgage loan and MBS business with lenders in their regions, assist in
supervising the servicing of the Corporation’s mortgage loan portfolio by lenders, assist In supervising
or managing the handling and disposition of REO, and provide training to the staff of lenders in their
region. The Corporation has options to extend the leases in Atlanta, Dallas, and Philadelphia for
5 years and the leases in Chicago and Pasadena for up to 10 years (1n 5-vear increments). The annual
rental cost in 1990 of each of the leases for the regional offices 1s between $1.1 and $1.5 millicn. The
annual rental cost for space leased by Fanme Mae 1n Washington, DC and its regional offices generally
1s subject to ncrease each year based, in part, upon increased costs related to the space leased,

including operating costs, taxes, and imsurance

Fanme Mae also leases much smaller amounts of office space in Anchorage, Alaska, Miami,
Florida, and Houston, Texas, for employees providing support services to the regional offices.

Employees
At September 30, 1990 the Corporation employed approximately 2,500 full-time personnel.
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RECENT LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS

Representatives of Congress and the Administration met earlier this year i a “budget summit”
seeking to reach agreement on the 1991 fiscal year budget. The Treasury and the Office of
Management and Budget submitted draft proposals to the budget summit that include requinng
government-sponsored enterprises (“GSEs”) to obtain a triple-A rating (absent any implicit or
explicit government guarantee and other federal benefits) from two nationally recogmzed private
credit rating agencies and gving Treasury strong safety and soundness oversight powers The
reconciliation bill (H.R. 5835) finally passed by the Congress and signed by the President (Public
Law No. 101-508) does not include any reforms to the charters of Fannie Mae or other GSEs, nor
does it endorse any particular reform proposals discussed to date, such as the Treasury proposal
described above. Rather, 1t apparently requires the second Treasury report due next year on the
financial soundness of GSEs to be submitted two weeks earlier than previously required, 1t calls for a
new Congressional Budget Office (“CBO”) report, and it directs the appropriate congressional
committees to “report legislation ensuning GSEs’ financial soundness’ by September 15, 1981. The
CBO report will consider the financial exposure of the government from GSEs, the effects of GSE
activities on Treasury borrowing, types of financial risks each GSE assumes and how Congress may
increase understanding of such risks, supervision of GSEs’ risk management, and alternative models
of GSE regulation. The new law also requires that the President’s annual budget include an analysis
of the financial condition of the GSEs and the financial exposure of the government, if any, because of

the GSEs.

On May 14 and 15, representatives of the Treasury and the General Accounting Office (“GAO”)
testified before Congressional subcommittees to report on the first of two annual studies of GSEs, such
as Fannie Mae, that Treasury and GAO were mandated to prepare pursuant to the Financial
Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989. The GAO testified that a better system
of oversight, some reasonable nsk-based capital rules, and appropnate enforcement authorities are
needed for GSEs. Treasury's recommendations included a proposal that each GSE obtain a rating
equivalent to triple-A, absent any imphcit government guarantee, from at least two of the nationally
recognized credit rating agencies. Ifa GSE failed to meet the triple-A rating requirement, 1t would be
required to adhere to a business plan designed to achieve a triple-A rating within five years from the
date of the legislative enactment imposing this standard, or lose its ties to the federal government.
Treasury also proposed that there be an independent regulator of financial safety and soundness for
each GSE. In May 1990, the Treasury submutted to Congress the first of its two studies of the GSEs,
which included these proposals. In August 1990, the GAO submutted to Congress 1its first report,
which included the general proposals noted 1n 1ts testimony. The GAO report also indicated that 1t
would be preferable that the safety and soundness regulation of the GSEs be handled by a regulator
other than that responsible for regulating GSE programs based upon public policy considerations.
The GAO intends to continue 1ts analysis and make specific recommendations regarding oversight and
capital 1n its 1991 report. The Treasury and GAO proposals would require legislation.

In June 1990, HUD submuitted its 1988-89 report on Fannie Mae to Congress. The report notes
that HUD as regulator of Fanme Mae and Freddie Mac will request both to submit mark-to-market
estimates of their book of business and that HUD will require additional reports so i1t can monitor
more closely any changes 1n therr practices likely to affect their interest nsk and credit nsk. HUD also
indicates in the report that 1t has created a regulatory board within HUD to oversee Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac, that it will create an analytical and policy support unit to support that board, and that it
will develop financial models, including stress models, for measuring GSE risk and the adequacy of

GSE capatal.

The Bush Administration’s recommendations for the 1991 fiscal year budget, as released on
January 29, 1990, contained a recommendation to require Fannie Mae and other GSEs to pay user
fees to the United States Treasury. The Bush Admunistration’s proposed 1991 fiscal year budget
package included a proposal to impose on Fannie Mae’s debt 1ssued after September 30, 1990 a 10
basis point fee 1n the government’s fiscal year 1991, which begins October 1, 1990; a 20 basis point fee
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1n fiscal year 1992; and a 30 basis pownt fee in fiscal year 1993 and beyond. In addition, the proposal
would impose on MBS 1ssued after Septerber 30, 1990 a 5 basis point fee 1n fiscal year 1991, a 10
basis point fee 1n fiscal year 1992, and a 15 basis point fee in fiscal year 1993 and beyond. Imposition
of such user fees would require legisiation. H.R. 5835 does not contain any housing user fees like those
in the President’s budget. The Reagan Admimstration’s 1986, 1987 and 1989 fiscal year budget
packages also included recommendations, which were not enacted, to require Fannie Mae and other
GSEs to pay user fees. The Housing and Community Development Act of 1987, signed by President
Reagan on February 5, 1988, prohibits the imposition of user fees on Fannme Mae.

As discussed in “Income Taxzes” in the notes to financial statements, Fannie Mae filed suit in the
United States Tax Court as a result of a formal deficiency notice filed by the Internal Revenue Service,
based on their examination of tax years 1979 through 1982. Fannie Mae has paid all amounts
assessed and the associated accrued interest on the remaining deficiencies; the suit was filed to recover
disputed income taxes. In March 1988, the U.S. Tax Court ruled in Fannie Mae’s favor on the 1ssue
relating to concurrent mortgage sales and for the IRS on the 1ssue relating to resale/refinance
transactions. In February 1990, the United States Court of Appeals for the Distnict of Columbia
Circutt {the “D.C. Circuit”) 1ssued its decision affirming the U.8. Tax Court’s decision. This decision
became final 1n April 1990 In June 1990, the IRS petitioned the United States Supreme Court for a
writ of certiorari on the final D.C. Circuit opinion. The Supreme Court has taken no action on that
petition, but on October 1, 1990, the Court agreed to hear the cases of two other taxpayers involving
the same tax 1ssue as that mvolving Fanme Mae. It 18 not clear how the decisions in those cases will
affect Fannie Mae's tax case. Because the matter 1s still subject to further legal proceedings, Fanmnie
Mae will not record any income relating to this matter until the result 18 more certain.
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MANAGEMENT
Directors

The age and background, as of November 1, 1990, of each of the members of the Board of
Directors of the Corporation are as follows:

First
Principal Occupation, Became Other
Name and Age Business Experience, and Residence Director Directorships{1)

Felix M. Beck, 64 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive 1985

Officer, Margaretten & Co, Inc, a mortgage

banking company, 1969 to present; Livingston,

New Jersey
Roger E  Burk, 60 President and Chief Operating Officer of the 1985 New Jersey Resources

Corporation, November 1987 to present, Chair- Corporation, Penske

man of the Board, International Securities Clear- Transportation

mg Corporation. November 1986 to
October 1987, Chairman of the Board. Janu-
ary 1981 to Apnl 1985, Chief Executive Officer,
January 1981 to July 1984, and President,
July 1976 to January 1982, Mernll Lynch & Co,
Ine . a financial services company, Rumson, New
Jersey and Chevy Chase, Maryland

Eh Broad, 57 Charrman of the Board, 1961 to present, and 1984 The Advest Group. Inc
Chief Executive Qfficer, 1976 to present, Broad
Inc (formerly Kaufman and Brosd, Inc ), a
financial services corporation, Chairman,
Kaufman and Broad Home Corporation,
June 1986 to present, Cheirman, 1987 to
present, and Chiel Executive Officer, 1983 to
present, SunAmenica Corporation, Chairman,
1987 to present and Premdent and Chief
Exzecutive Officer 1983 1o 1983, Sun Laife
Insurance Company of Amenca, Inc, Los
Angeies, Calforma

Alberto R Semor Partner, Greenberg, Traung, Hoffman, 1985
Cardenas(2}, 42 Lipoff Rosen & Quentel, PA, a law firm
practictng 1n Flonda, July 1987 to present,
Partner. Broad and Cassel, a law firm practicing
m Flornda and Georgia, 1983 to July 1987,
Miama, Flonda

Henry C Cashen, Partner. Dickstem, Shapiro & Monn, a law firm 1985
11¢2), 51 practicing 0 the District of Columba., New
‘lgo(r:k, and Virgmma, 1973 to present, Washington,
George L Clark, President, September 1987 to present, and Vice 1989(3)
Jr(2), 49 President, 1962 to September 1987, George L.
Clark, Inc., a real estate company: Brooklyn,
New York
J. Bnan Gaffney Partner, Gaffney, Pease & DiFabio, a law firm 1989
(2), 57 practicing m Connecticut, January 1989 to
present, Partner, Gaffney & DiFabio, a law firm
practicing 1n Connecticut, 1975 to
December 1988, New Bnitan, Connecticut
Joseph P Chairman of the Board and Chief Execunive 1969 Star Banc Corporation,
Havden, 61 Officer, 1980 to present, The Midland Company Star Bank, N A

and its subsicharies, businesses engaged
pnmarly 1n financing, wnsurance and rmver
transportation, Cincinnats, Ohio
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Name and Age

James A.
Johnson(4), 46

Dawid O
Maxweil(4}, 60

John M
(’'Mara, 63
Richard D
Parsons, 42
Chnistine D
Reed(2), 38
Sarmnuel J
Simmons, 63
Chnstopher J

Sumner, 44

Principal Occupation,
Business Experience, and Residence

First

Director

Vice Charman of the Corporation, Januan
1990 to present; Managing Director, Shearson
Lehman Hutton, Inc., an investment banking
firm, Apnl 1985 to December 1989, President,
Public Strategies, a Washington, D.C -based con-
sul(t:mg firm, 1981 to Aprd 1985, Washington,
DC.

Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief
Executive Officer of the Corporation, May 1981
to present; President and Chief Operating Officer
of the Corporation, 1981, Washington, D.C

Chairman of the Executive Committee, Quality
Care OSystems, Inc., a health care cost
containment corporation, May 1990 to present,
Presidgent, Chemvest International, Inc., an
international merchant banking corporation,
January 1980 to present: Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer, Global Natural
Resources, Inc., an independent o1l and gas
expioration and  production  company,
August 1988 to December 1989; Managing
Director, Chase Manhattan Bank, a banking and
investment banking corporation, Septem-
ber 1985 to August 1988, Greenwich.
Connecticut

President and Director, July 1988 to present,
Chief Exzecutive Officer, July 1990 to present,
and Chief Operating Officer, July 1988 to
June 1990, The Dime Savings Bank of New
York, FSB, a financial institution, Partner,
Patterson, Belknap, Webb & Tyler, a law firm
practicing 1n New York, May 1979 to June 1988,
Pocantico Hills, New York

Executrive  Director. Building  Industry _

Association of Southern Califormia, Crange
County Region. a building association, July 1989
to present, Director, January 1987 to June 1989,
and Acting Director, May 1986 to January 1987,
Cahforma Depariment of Housing and
Commumnity Development, a state housing
department, Deputy Secretary of Housing,
Calhfornia Business. Transportation and
Housing Agency. a business, transportation, and
housing agency, 1984 to May 1986, Santa Ana,
California

President and Chief Executive Officer, The
National Caucus and Center on Black Aged, Inc,
a non-profit organization, 1982 to present,
housing consultant, 1981 +to present,
Washington, D.C

Vice Chairman end Director, Apnl 1990 to
present, and President and Director, March 1987
to Apnil 1990, CrossLand Savings, FSB (Utah)
{formerly Western Savings and Loan
Company), a financial mstitution; President and
Director, CrossLand Morigage Corp., a mortgage
banking corporation, May 1988 to present,
President and Chief Executive Officer, Western
Savings and Loan Company, a fnancai
institution. 1980 to March 1987, Salt Lake City,
Utah
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1981

1970

1989
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1978

1985

Other
Directorships (1)

Broad Inc, Hechinger
Company; Kaufman and
Broad Home Corporation

Baidwin & Lyons, Inc.,
The Midland Company

Amencan Televimion and
Commumecations Co., College
Retirement Equity Fund,
M.S B Fund. Inc.



First

Principal Occupation, Became Other
Name and Age Business Experience, and Residence Director Directorships(1)
Richard C. Van Chairman, March 1986 to present, and 1981 CRI Insured Mortgage
Dusen, 65 Executive Partner, 1977 to February 1986, Association, Inc, CRI
Dickinson, Wright, Moon, Van Dusen & Liquidating REIT Inc,
Freeman, a law firm practicing in Michigan and MCN Corporation
the District of Columba Birmingham, Michigan
Mallory President., Chuief Executive Officer and Darector, 1981
Walker, 51 Walker & Dunlop, Inc.. 2 mortgage banking and

real estate company, 1976 to present,
Washmgton, D C

Karen Hastie Partner, Crowell & Monng, a law firm practicing 1988 Crestar Financial
Wilhams, 46 in the District of Columba, December 1982 to Corporation
present, Washmngton, DC

(1) Companies with a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securnties
Exchange Act of 1934 or subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of that Act or any
company registered as an mvestment company under the Investment Company Act of
1940. Certain directorships of other companies are also noted tn the occupation column.

(2) Appownted by the President of the United States, who has authonty to appoint five
directors.

(3) From 1986 to 1987, Mr. Clark also served as a director of the Corporation appointed by
the President of the United States.

(4) In September 1390. David Maxwell announced that he will retire as Chairman of the
Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation when his current
contract expires on January 31, 1991. The Board of Directors on September 18, 1980
elected James A Johnson to succeed Mr. Maxwell as Chairman of the Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Officer, effective February 1, 1991

Executive Officers

The age and business expernence, as of November 1, 1980, of each of the executive officers of the
Corporation, are as follows:

David O. Maxwell, 60, has been Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
aince 1981. (In September 1990, Mr. Maxwell announced that he wall retire as Chairman of the Board
of Directors and Chief Executive Officer when his current contract expires on January 31, 1991 )

Roger E. Birk, 60, has been President and Chief Operating Officer of the Corporation since
November 1987 and a director of the Corporation since 1985. Mr. Birk was Chairman of the Board of
International Securities Cleannng Corporation from November 1986 to October 1987. He was
Chairman of Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. from 1981 to Apnl 1985

James A. Johnson, 46, has been Vice Chairman of the Corporation since January 1990.
Mr. Johnson was a Managing Director in Corporate Finance at Shearson Lehman Hutton, Inc. from
April 1985 to December 1989 and was President of Public Strategies from January 1981 to April 1985.
(On September 18, 1990, the Board of Directors elected Mr. Johnson to succeed Mr. Maxwell as
Charrman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer, effective February 1, 1991.)

Caryl S. Bernstein, 56, has been Executive Vice President since February 1982, General Counsel
gince May 1981 and Secretary since July 1981.

J. Timothy Howard, 42, has been Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since
February 1990. Mr. Howard was Executive Vice President— Asset Management from December 1987
to February 1990, Executive Vice President— Economics, Strategic Planning, and Financial Analysis
from September 1987 to December 1987, Senior Vice President—Economics and Corporate Planning
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from November 1985 to September 1987, and Senior Vice President and Chief Economst from
October 1983 to November 1985.

Robert J. Levan, 35, has been Executive Vice President—Marketing since June 1930. Mr. Levin
was Semor Vice President—Marketing and MBS from June 1989 to Jume 1990, Semor Vice
President— Mortgage-Backed Securities and Portfoho Acquisition from February 1988 to June 1989,
Senior Vice President—Mortgage-Backed Secunties from February 1987 to February 1988, Senior
Vice President and Assistant to the Chairman of the Board from May 1986 to February 1987, Senior
Vice President—Corporate Finance from November 1985 to May 1986, and Vice President for
Corporate Finance from July 1984 to November 1985.

Dale P. Riordan, 42, has been Executve Vice President—Operations and Systems since
June 1990. Mr Riordan was Executive Vice President— Marketing from March 1989 to June 1990,
Executive Vice Prestdent—Pohcy and Public Affairs from October 1988 to March 1989, and Executive
Vice President—Admimstration and Corporate Relations from February 1986 to October 1988,

Michael A. Smilow, 53, has been Executive Vice President and Chief Credit Officer since
March 1989. Mr. Smilow was Executive Vice President—Marketing and Customer Services from
January 1988 to March 1989 and Executive Vice President—Mortgage Operations from July 1984
through December 1987.

Glenn T Austin. Jr., 42, has been Senior Vice President—Southeastern Regional Office since
May 1985. Mr. Austin was Regional Vice President from April 1982 untal his election as Semor Vice

President.

Douglas M. Bibby, 44, has been Semor Vice President—Administration since October 1988.
Mr. Bibby was Senior Vice President and Assistant to the Chairman of the Board from March 1987
until October 1988, and Semor Vice President—Corporate Affairs from October 1983 to March 1987.

Dennis G. Campbell, 41, has been Senior Vice President—National Accounts since May 1989.
Mr. Campbell was Semor Vice President— Marketing and Product Management from April 1987 to
May 1989, Vice President—Marketing from May 1985 to April 1987, and Senior Assistant Regional
Vice President—Marketing n the Northeastern Regional Office from February 1983 to May 1985.

Larry H. Dale, 44, has been Sentor Vice President— Marketing and MBS since June 1990. He
was Senior Vice President—Multifamily Finance and Housing Initiatives from May 1989 to
June 1990 and Senior Vice President—Multifamily Activities from June 1987 to May 1989. Prior to
his employment with the Corporation, Mr Dale was Vice President of Newman and Associates from
1984 to June 1987,

Judith Dedmon, 39, has been Semor Vice President—Southwestern Regional Office since
July 1987. Ms. Dedmon was Senior Vice President—Quality Standards from Apnl 1987 to July 1987,
and Vice President for Quality Standards from July 1985 to April 1987.

Robert J. Engelstad, 38, has been Senior Vice President—Mortgage and Lender Standards since
November 1989. Mr. Engelstad was Vice President—Morigage Standards from November 1987 to
November 1989, Director of Single-Family Standards from June 1986 to November 1987, Assistant
Director of Real Estate Sales from November 1985 to June 1986, Manager of Property Disposition
and Sales from July 1985 to November 1985, and Manager of Appraisal Standards from January 1385

to July 1985.

Hugh E. Flaherty, 59. has been Senmior Vice President—Editorial Services since June 1988,
Mr. Flaherty was Semor Vice President—Corporate Affairs from April 1987 to June 1988 and Vice
President— Pubhc Relations from August 1984 to April 1987.

John H. Fulford, ITI, 41. has been Semor Vice President-—Western Regional Office since
November 1985. Mr. Fulford was Regional Vice President— Western Regional Office from May 1985
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to November 1985 and Senior Assistant Regional Vice President—Marketing from February 1983 to
May 1985.

John R. Hayes, 51, has been Semor Vice President—Midwestern Regional Office smce Novem-
ber 1985. Mr. Hayes was Regional Vice President—Midwestern Regional Office from 1972 to
November 1985.

William E. Kelvie, 43, has been Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer since
Movember 1990. Pror to his employment with the Corporation, Mr Kelvie was a managing principal
wnth Nolan, Norton & Co. from March 1987 to November 1990, a branch manager of that firm’s New
York office from March 1986 to March 1987, and a principal of that firm as of March 1985

Thomas A. Lawler, 37, has been Senior Vice President—Portfolio Management since Novem-
ber 1989. Mr. Lawler was Vice President for Portfolio Management from January 1989 to
MNovember 1989, Vice President and Semor Economist from February 1986 to December 1988, and
Director of Financial Economics from January 1984 to February 1986

Ann D. Logan, 36, has been Senior Vice President—Northeastern Regional Office since
June 1989. Ms. Logan was Vice President for Regional Activities from May 1989 to June 1989, Vice
President for Mortgage Operations from November 1987 to May 1989, Executive Assistant to the
Jigecutive Vice President—Mortgage Operations from January 1986 to November 1987 and Semor
Financial Analyst from January 1985 to January 1986

Robert J Mahn, 62, has been Senior Vice President and Controller since June 1985. Mr. Mahn
was Sentor Vice President—Mortgage Operations from February 1982 to June 1885,

William R. Maloni, 45, has been Qenior Vice President— Policy and Public Affairs since
March 1989 Mr. Malom was Senior Vice President—Government Relations from Apnl 1987 to
March 1989, Vice President for Government Relations from February 1986 to April 1987, and Vice
President for Congressional Relations from March 1984 to February 1986.

Anthony F. Marra, 49, has been Senior Vice President and Deputy General Counsel since
April 1987. Mr. Marra held the position of Vice President and Deputy General Counsel from
November 1985 to Apnl 1987. Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Marra was Deputy
General Counsel with the Overseas Private Investment Corporation.

James P McMann, 52, has been Senior Vice President and Deputy General Counsel since
April 1987 and was Vice President and Deputy General Counsel from November 1982 to Apni 1987.

Patrick F. O’Neill, 49, has been Senior Vice President—Real Estate Sales since November 1987.
Mr. O'Neill was Vice President— Real Estate Sales from November 1986 to November 1987; Director,
Real Estate Sales from December 1985 to November 1986, and Director of Property Management
from March 1984 to December 1985.

Paul P. Paquin, 47, has been Senior Vice President—Investor Relations since November 1989.
Mr. Paquin was Vice President for Investor Relations from October 1985 to November 1989, and
Director of Investor Relations from March 1980 to October 1985.

Gary L. Perlin, 39, has been Senior Vice President—Finance and Treasurer since Novem-
ber 1985. Mr. Perlin was Vice President for Risk Management from October 1983 to November 1985.

David E. Roberts, 49, has been Semor Vice President—Corporate Information Services since
November 1985. Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Roberts was Vice President,
Information Management Systems, at Acacia Mutual Life Insurance Company from January 1983 to
September 1985.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockhoelders
Federal National Mortgage Association:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Federal National Mortgage Association as of
December 31, 1989 and 1988, and the related statements of income and cash flows for each of the years
w1 the three-year period ended December 31, 1989. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Corporation’s management. Our responsibility 1s to express an opinion on these financiai statements

based on our audits.

We conducted our audits 1n accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standardas
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
glatements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examiming, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our

opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, 1n all matertal respects, the
financial position of Federal National Mortgage Association at December 31, 1989 and 1988, and the
results of its operations and its cash Aows for each of the vears in the three-year penod ended
[ecember 31, 1989, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

KPMG PEAT MARWICK

Washington, DC
January 19, 1990
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31,
1989 1888 1987

{Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Interest mncome:

Mortgage portfolio, net of servicing fees . $10.103
Investments and cash equivalents . 977
Total interest income . 11,080
Interest expense . ... ... . . 9,889
Net interest income 1,191
Other income:
Guaranty fees ... .. . .. 408
Gain (loss) on sales of mortgages ] 9
Miscelianeous, net . . 60
Total other income 477
Other expenses:
Provision for losses R 310
Administrative . 254
Total other expenses . 564
Income before federal income taxes . 1,104
Provision for federal income taxes:
Current .. .o 358
Deferred . . . (61)
Total provision for federal income taxes . " 297
Net income § 807
Per share: (1)
Earnings:
Primary $3.14
Fully diluted 3.10
Cash dividends . .. . . 43

§ 9.629
587
10,226
9.389

837

328
12
69

408

$2.14
2.11
.24

(1) Per share amounts reflect a three-for-one stock split effective 1n October 1989.

See Notes to Financial Statements
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

BALANCE SHEETS

Assets
December 31
1989 1988
{Doliars 1n milhons)
Mortgage portfolio, net $107,756 $ 99.867
Investments 6.656 5,289
Cash and cash equivalents 5,214 2,859
Accrued nterest receivable 1,064 939
Receivable from currency swaps 1,796 1,717
Acquired property and foreclosure claims, net 448 418
Other assets 1,381 1,169
Total assets $124.315 $112.258
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Liabilities:
Debentures, notes, and bonds, net
Due wathin one year 3 36,346 $ 36,599
Due after one year - 79,718 68,860
116,064 105.459
Accrued interest payable 2,424 2,173
Payable from currency swaps 1,355 1,150
Mortgagors’ escrow deposits 346 353
Deferred federal income taxes ; 153 157
Other liab:lities . . . 982 706
Total liablities 121324 109,998
Stockholders’ Equity(1}):
Common stock, $2.10 stated value, no maximum authornzation,
issued —247,646,455 shares (1989) and 246,155,232 shares {1988) 520 517
Addit:onal paid-in capital . 787 777
Retained earnings . . . 1,771 1,067
3,078 2,361
Less treasury stock, at cost, 8,756,473 shares (1989) and 10,168,733
shares (1988} . .. . 87 101
Total stockholders' equity N . 2,991 2,260
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . . $124,315 $112,258

See Notes to Financial Statements
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Provision for deferred federal income taxes.
Provision for losses
Net cash (noncash) portion of amortization of
purchase discount and loan fees

(Decrease) 1ncrease 1n accrued interest payable.
{Increase) decrease 1n accrued interest recervable
(Gam) loss on sales of mortgages
Other increases (decreases}, net

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of mortgages
Proceeds from sales of mortgages
Mortgage principal repayments, net of
discount
Proceeds from disposition of foreclosed
properties
Net increase 1n investments
Net cash used 1n investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash proceeds from 1ssuance of debentures
Cash payments to redeem debentures
Cash proceeds from 13suance of short-term debt
Cash payments to redeem short-term debt, net of
discount . ..
Cash proceeds from 1ssuance of common stock
Cash payments for repurchase of common stock
Dividends pad

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase 1n cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginming of vear .

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Year Ended December 31,

1989

807

(61)
310

93
233
(125}
(9}

98

1,346

{22,293)
2,992

10,544

519

(1.366)
{9.604)

23,567
(12,698)
54,084

{54,241)
4

(103)
10,613

2,355

2,859
5,214

See Notes to Financial Statements
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1988
{Dollars 1n millions)

3 507

(129}
365

140
(2)
(128)
(12)

20

761

(22,795)
5,012

10.031

812
(1,821)

(8,761)

14,285
(14,002)
48,914

(40,732)
1

(7)

(57)
8,402
402
2,457

$ 2859

1887

$ 376

(11)
360

(118)

(179)
83
81

{8)
596

(20,170)
5,020

14,580

B30
{3,255)

(2,995)

17,641
(17,563)
27,421

{24,542)
378
(99}
(29}

3.207

808
1,649

$ 2457



FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fannie Mae is a federally chartered and stockholder-owned corporation operating in the residential
mortgage finance industry. Certain amounts in prior years’ financial statements have been reclassified to
conform with the current presentation All references to the number of common shares and per share
gmounts in the Notes to Financial Statements have been restated, unless otherwise noted, to reflect the
three-for-one split of the Corporation’s common stock and common stock warrants effective n

October 1989.

Mortgage Portfolio

Mortgages and mortgage-backed securities (“MBS™} acquired for investment are cartied at their
unpaid principal balances less unamortized purchase discount and deferred loan fees. Discount and
deferred loan fees are recogmized as income using the interest method over the estimated hfe of the
related mortgages. The accrual of interest on conventional mortgages, which are not federally insured or
guaranteed, is discontinued when the mortgages become 90 days delinquent. Interest income on such
rnortgages is recognized only to the extent that cash payments are received Any accrued but uncolilected
interest on mortgages that are 90 days delinquent 1s reversed against current period interest income.

Commutment Fees and Mortgage Prepayments

In 1987, the Corporation implemented Financial Accounting Standard No. 91 (“FAS 917), which
requires that most commitment fees be treated as an adjustment to interest income over the life of the
related mortgages. The effect of adopting FAS 91 on net interest income and net income 1n 1987 was as

follows:

1987

{ Dollars 1n millions,
except per
share amount}

Increase n:

Net interest income $ 570
Net income . .. . 290
Earmings per share {fully diluted)} 1.19

The Corporation uses actual principal prepayment experience and estimates of future principal
prepayments in the calculation of the constant effective yield necessary to apply the interest method 1n
the amortization of loan fees and discount. In evaluating prepayments, loans are aggregated by similar
charactenstics (e.g., loan type, interest rate, period of origination. and maturity). Factors used in
cletermining estimates of future prepayments include historical prepayment data and expected prepay-
rnent performance under varying interest rate scenarios.

Guaranteed Mortgage-Backed Securities

The Corporation guarantees the timely payment of principal and interest on MBS. These securities
represent beneficial interests in pools of mortgages or other MBS held 1n trust by the Corporation. The
pools of mortgages or MBS are not assets of the Corporation, except when acquired for investment
purposes, nor are the related outstanding secunties liabulities of the Corporation; accordingly, neither 1s
reflected in the accompanying balance sheets. The Corporation recerves monthly guaranty fees for each
MBS pool based on a percentage of the pool’s outstanding balance.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued)

Allowance for Losses

The allowance for losses on the conventional mortgage portfolio 1s maintamned at a level that, in
management’s judgment, 18 adequate to provide for estimated losses. This judgment 1s based on such
factors as economic conditions, geographic concentrations, mortgage charactenstics, and actual loan loss
expenence. The aliowance 1s increased by provisions charged to expense and decreased by chargeoffs, net
of recovenes.

The Corporation establishes an allowance for losses on U.S. government insured or guaranteed loans
when foreclosure appears probable. At that time, an allowance 1s recorded to provide for estimated
unreimbursable foreclosure losses

A lability for estimated losses 1s maimntained for MBS because the Corporation has assumed the
ultimate foreclosure loss nsk on the underlying mortgages. Provisions for losses are recorded to maintain
the liability at a level that, 1n management’s judgment, 1s adequate to provide for estimated losses. When
mortgages are securitized and sold from portfolio tnto MBS, the related allowance 1s transferred.

Acquired Property

Real estate acquired and held for sale as a result of foreclosure is carmed at the lower of the
\nvestment in the property or its estimated net realizable value. Interest carrying costs are deducted in
calculating the net reahzable value.

Gain (Loss) on Sales of Mortgages

The Corporation sells mortgages by placing them in MBS pools and selling the MBS. A gain or loss
on the sale of mortgages 15 recognized at the time of sale of the MBS to the extent the sale proceeds differ
from the book value of the assets sold. An adjustment to the gain or loss 18 recogmzed 1 an amount
measured by the present value of the effective mortgage interest rate received by the Corporation less the
sum of the pass-through rate paid to the investor and a normal guaranty fee.

Risk Management

The Corporation takes positions n financial markets to hedge against fluctuations 1n interest rates
that may affect the cost of certain planned borrowings or the yield on certain mortgage purchases.
Results of hedging activities are deferred and amortized against interest expense oOT 1nterest mcome over
the lives of the related borrowings or assets.

Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase

The Corporation enters into sales of securities under agreements to repurchase substantially similar
secunties at a later date. Such transactions are treated as financings. The obligations to repurchase
securities sold are reflected as liabilities on the balance sheets and the mortgage securities underlying the
agreements remain in the asset accounts. The counterparty to the repurchase agreement acquires legal

ownership of the securities transferred

Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign currency borrowings and the related receivables from currency swaps are translated at the
market rates of exchange as of the balance sheet date.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Corporation considers overmight federal funds and all highly liquid debt instruments with an
ongnal maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued)

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided for timing differences between financisl and tazable income.
Investment and other tax credits are deferred and amortized over the lives of the related assets.

Earnings Per Share

Earninge per share are computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstand-
ing, including dilutive common stock equivalents. Fully diluted earnings per share are computed on the
assumption that all outstanding subordinated convertible capital debentures were converted at the
beginning of the year, after increasing earnings for the related interest expense, net of federal income
taxes. The weighted-average shares outstanding used to compute fully diluted earnings per share were
260.3 miilion, 240.8 million, and 243.7 million for the years ended December 31, 1989, 1988, and 1987,

respectively.
Mortgage Portfolio, Net

The mortgage portfolio consisted of the following investments at December 31:

1989 1988

(Dollars in millions)

Single-family mortgages:
First mortgages:

Government insured or guaranteed .. .. . $ 11,857 $ 12,235
Conventional fixed-rate . . . ; 66,804 60,997
Conventional adjustable-rate . 22.020 21,040
Second mortgages .. .. 1,614 1,561
' 102.295 95,833

Multifamily mortgages:
Government insured ) . 4.361 4,397
Conventional. 4,085 2,783
8,426 7.180
Total unpaid principal balance(1) 110,721 103,013

Less:

Unamortized discount and loan fees 2,740 2,914
Allowance for losses . e e . 225 232

$107 756 $ 99,867

{1) Includes $11.7 billion and $8.1 billion of Fannie Mae MBS held 1n portfoho at December 31,
1989 and December 31, 1988, respectively.

The total unpaid pnncipal balance of loans in nonperforming status (those 90 days or more
delinquent) was $0.7 billion at December 31, 1989 and $0.9 billion at December 31, 1988.

Commitments and Contingencies
Portfolio

The Corporation had mandatory delivery commitments outstanding to purchase $2.3 billion of
mortgages at an average net yieid of 9.53 percent at December 31, 1989, compared with $1.1 billion at an
average net yield of 10.04 percent at December 31, 1988.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— ( Continued)

The Corporation also issues standby commitments, which must be converted to mandatory delivery
commitments in order for the seiler to deliver mortgages. The yield is set at the date of conversion. The
Corporation had $3.7 billion of such commitments outstanding at December 31, 1989, compared with

$1.0 billion at December 31, 1988.

At December 31, 1989, the Corporation had commitments outstanding to sell from portfolio $0.5
tallion of MBS with an average net yield of 9.60 percent, compared with $1.0 billion of MBS with an
average net yield of 10.23 percent at December 31, 1988.

Mortgage-Backed Securities

As 1ssuet and guarantor of MBS, the Corporation 1s obligated to disburse scheduled monthly
\nstallments of pnncipal and interest (at the certificate rate) and the full principal balance of any
“oreclosed mortgage to MBS mvestors, whether or not any such amounts have been received. The
Corporation also 1s obligated to disburse unscheduled principal payments. Either the Corporation or the
participating lender from whom the mortgages were acquired can assume the primary foreclosure loss
nsk on the mortgages n a pool. The Corporation, however, assumnes the ultimate nsk of loss on ail MBS.

The total outstanding principal balance of MBS guaranteed by the Corporation was $228.2 bilhon at
December 31, 1989, compared with $178.3 billion at December 31, 1988, These amounts include $133.9
milion at December 31, 1989 and $94.1 bilhon at December 31, 1988 of securities {of which $11.1 billion
and $11.2 billion, respectively, are backed by government nsured or guaranteed mortgages) for which
the Corporation has assumed the primary foreclosure loss nsk.

At December 31, 1989, the Corporation had outstanding $8.4 bilhon of mandatory delivery
commitments to 1ssue and guarantee MBS, compared with $7.2 billion at December 31, 1988. At
December 31, 1989, the Corporation alsc had commitments outstanding to 1ssue and guarantee $34.2
billion of MBS, upon dehvery of the related mortgages by participating lenders at their option, compared
w1th $14.5 hillion at December 31, 1988. ‘

Master Commitments

The Corporation had $16.6 biliion of master commitments outstanding at December 31. 1989 to
purchase loans for portfoho or 1ssue MBS. There were no outstanding master commitments at
December 31, 1988 Under a master commitment, a lender must convert to either a mandatory delivery
MBS or portfoho commitment with the vield established at the time of conversion.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued)

Allowance for Foreclosure Losses

The total allowance for foreclosure losses consists of an aliowance for portfolic loan losses, an
allowance for non-rexmbursable foreclosure costs on government claims, and a liability for estimated
foreclosure losses on MBS. Changes 1n the allowance for the vears 1987-1989 are summanzed below:

Mortgage Portfolio

Government
Insured or
Conventional Guaranteed MBS Total

(Dollars in millions}

Balance, January 1, 1987 . el $ 169 3 23 $ 79 $ 271
Provision . . el e 266 14 80 360
Net foreclosure losses charged-off . {229) (13) (43) (285)
Transfers . e . (15) —_ 15 —

Bailance, December 31, 1987 . 191 24 131 346
Provision . . 279 6 80 365
Net foreclosure losses charged-off (216} {12} (87) (315)
Transfers . (26) — 26 —

Balance, December 31, 1988 . .. 228 18 150 396
Provision . 161 5 144 310
Net foreclosure losses charged-of  ..... (147) (10) {86) (243)
Transfers .. .. {22} —_ 22 —

Balance, December 31, 1989 .. ; 3 220 $ 13 $230 $ 463

The total allowance for foreclosure losses at December 31 1s included in the following balance sheet

accounts:
4

1989 1988
{Dollars 1n millions)
Mortgage portfolio, net . $225 3232
Foreclosure claims, net 8 14
QOther habihities . _230 _150
3463 $396

Debentures, Notes, and Bonds, Net

The average cost of all debt outstanding at December 31, 1989 and 1988 (including the amortization
of issuance costs and hedging results, and the effect of interest rate and currency swaps} was 9.04 percent
and 9.20 percent. respectively The average effective matunty of all debt outstanding was 47 months at
December 31, 1989 and 43 months at December 31, 1988. This includes the effect of interest rate swaps
but exciudes $1.0 billion and $1.4 biilion of investment agreements at December 31, 1989 and
December 31, 1988, respectively. Investment agreements are general unsecured obligations that allow
the mnvestor to demand payment of all or part of the funds under agreed-upon circumstances. Because of
this call feature, the average maturity of investment agreements 1s indeterminate. Interest paid during
1989, 1988, and 1987 was $9.4 billion, $9.3 billion, and $9.1 billion, respectively.

Pursuant to the Corporation’s Charter Act and related regulations, no debt cobligations may be
1ssued without the approval of the Secretarv of the Treasury. The Secretary of Housing and Urban
Development (“HUD™) currently requires that the maximum amount of the Corporation’s general
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued)

obligations outstanding at any time, excluding those that are subordinated or secured, not exceed 20
times the sum of stockholders’ equity, subordinated capital debentures, and reserves. At December 31,
1989, this ratio was 19.7:1.

In addition to debt restrictions under the Charter Act, the Corporation is subject to a restriction set
forth in certain subordinated capital debenture agreements, which limits the amount of subordinated
capital debentures outstanding to not more than two times the sum of the Corporation’s common stock, -
additional paid-in capital, and retained earnings. At December 31, 1989, the ratio was 0.8:1.

Borrowings Due Within One Year
Borrowings due within one year at December 31 are summarized below:

1989 - 1988
bl Siiifar Ol U oding, N
Amount Cont (1) Amouar Comtl) Mo g aDece Cost(1) Amount Cost(l) Mowth Bod
(Dollars in millions)
Securities sold under agree- .
ments to repurchase(2) ... $§ 725 7.09%8$ 1,178 7.77% § 3,177 $ 1456 8.28%8% 372 5.78% $ 1,456
Short-term notes(3) ........ 14,760 - 8.56 ~ 12,684 8.67 14,760 14,340 8.30 13,742 7.56 16,275
Master notes ............... 132 8.20 171 8.62 345 186 8.70 144 7.19 267
Residential financing .
securities ................ 6,141 9.00 6,214 9.14 6,648 5,115 8.46 4,031 7.76 5,115
Other short-term debt. . ... .. 407 = 8.90 1,086 - 8.68 1,250 1,063 8.33 278 1.80 1,063
Current portion of borrow-
ings due after one year(4):
Mortgage-backed bonds . .. 9 9.02 11 9.02
Investment agreements.... 2,325 8.44 1939 8.16
Long term——other. ........ 5 10.20 —_ —
Debentures(5) ........... 10,401 9.56 41,262 10.30
Medium-term notes(6) . ... 1,006 8.60 599 8.68
Zero coupon securities(7) 35 8.49 . 3 1782
Subordinated capital
debentures ............. 400 9.15 635 12.99
Total due within one year ... $36,346  8.90% $36,599 9.03%
3 ——m Smemmem

(1) Cost includes the amortization of discounts, premiums, issuance costs, hedging resuits and
the effects of currency and debt swaps.

(2) MBS underlying repurchase agreements had a carrying value of $711 million and $1,468
million at December 31, 1989 and 1988, respectively, and a market value of $723 million and
$1,434 million at December 31, 1989 and 1988, respectively.

(3) Net of $263 million and $404 million of unamortized discount at December 31, 1989 and
1988, respectively.

(4) Information on average amount and cost of debt outstanding during the year and maximum
amount outstanding during the year is not applicable. See “Borrowings Due After One Year”
for additional information. :

(5) Includes unamortized premium of $5 million and $47 million at December 31, 1989 and 1988,
respectively.

(6) Includes unamortized premium of $15 million and $22 million at December 31, 1989 and
1988, respectively.

(7) Net of unamortized discount of $1 million and $0.2 million at December 31, 1989 and 1988,
respectively.
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The Corporation has long-term 1nterest rate swap agreements with vanous parties to extend the
effective maturity of its short-term debt obligations. Under these agreements, the Corporation makes
periodic payments, based on longer term fixed or vanable rates appled to a notional principal amount,
and in exchange receives payments based on short-term vanable or fixed rates. At December 31, 1989,
the Corporation had long-term interest rate swap agreements outstanding with an average remawning
term of four years on notional amounts totaling $2.1 billion, compared with an average remaining term of
five years on notional amounts totaling $2.4 billion for swap agreements outstanding at December 31,
1988. The weighted-average interest rate being received under these swaps was 8.20 percent and the
weighted-average interest rate being paid was 10.26 percent at December 31, 1989, compared with 8.44
percent and 10.71 percent, respectively, at December 31, 1988.



FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Borrowtngs Due After One Year

Borrowings due after one vear consist of the following at December 31:

1989 1988

Amount Average Amount Average

Matuzity outstanding cost outstanding cost
{Dollars 1n milhons)

Mortgage-backed bonds, 1990-2002 § 46 9.72% $8 56 9.71%
Investment agreements, 1990-2012 1,127 7.39 1,687 7.81
Residential financing securities 821 8.96 — —
Long-term —other, net of $70 mallion of discount

for 1989 376 9 84 — —
Debentures, net of $23 milhon of discount and

premium for 1989 ($95 million for 1988)-

1990 e — 10,116 9 57
1991 13,734 8.32 13,211 8.32
1992 . 11,554 9.14 9,228 9.30
1993 8,469 8.99 6,806 8.90
1994 7.227 9.12 3,189 a.01
1995 7.182 10.44 6.889 10.49
1896-2006 23,123 8.72 11.845 8.67
2007-2019 1.635 9.78 1,363 10.12

72,964 8.98 62,647 9.11

Mecium-term notes, inciudes $39 million of

premum for 1989 (325 milhon for 1988), .

1990-2019 . 1,014 8.85 935 8.76
Exchangeable debentures, 1991 450 ' 12.66 450 12.66
Zero coupon securities, net of $5,680 milhon of

discount for 1989 ($5.723 million for 1988),

1990-2014 621 10 41 540 10.45
Zero coupon subordinated capital debentures, net

of 6,403 muliion of discount for 1989 ($6.435

mllhion for 1988), 2019 347 10.22 315 10.22
Subordinated capital debentures, net of $14 million

of discount for 1989 (315 mllion for 1988).

1990 — — 400 9.15
1992 . 250 9.05 250 9.05
1997 250 T 44 250 7.44
1998 500 946 500 9.46
2002 266 9.21 265 9.21
2019 250 9.34 — —
1,516 5.00 1,665 8.98
Subordinated convertible capital debentures, 1996 1 4.43 11 4.43
79,283 9 00% 68,306 9.11%
Adjustment for foreign currency transiation 435 554
$79,718 $68,860
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The average cost includes the amortization of discotints, premiums, issuance costs, hedging results
and the effect of currency and debt swaps. At December 31, 1989, principal amounts of debt maturing in
the years 1991-1995 were $15.4, $12.2, $9.2, $7.4, and $7.4 billion, respectively.

The Corporation has swap agreements that are linked to a specific debt issue (debt swaps). These
swaps achieve a desired financing objective at a desired cost usually by converting floating-rate debt into
fixed-rate debt. The cost and term of the specific debt issues include the effects of the swaps. At
December 31, 1989, the notional amount of debt swaps outstanding totaled $0.9 billion compared with
$1.2 billion at December 31, 1988.

The Corporation has issued debt securities in which principal, interest, or both are payable in a
foreign currency. Concurrently, the Corporation has entered into currency swaps that convert the
proceeds of the borrowings into dollars and provide for scheduled future exchanges of the two currencies.
At December 31, 1989 and 1988, the U.S. dollar equivalent face amounts of these foreign currency
obligations, translated at the then-current exchange rates, were $1.8 billion and $1.6 billion, respectively.

The following summarizes debentures that are redeemable at par at the option of the Corporation:
$0.2 billion, redeemable currently; $1.3 billion, redeemable beginning in 1992; $1.0 billion, redeemable
beginning in 1993; and $2.1 billion, redeemable beginning in 1994.

At December 31, 1989, the Corporation had outstanding $3.7 billion of Indexed Sinking Fund
Debentures (“ISFDs”) at an average cost of 9.54 percent, compared with $1.7 billion at an average cost
of 9.30 percent at December 31, 1988. Such debentures are subject to mandatory redemptions after an
initial non-redemption period. The redemption amounts are tied to certain Treasury rates. As Treasury
rates decrease, the percentage of the outstanding principal amount of an ISFD to be redeemed generally
will increase; conversely, as such Treasury rates increase, the percentage to be redeemed generally will
decrease. .

In February 1986, the Corporation issued 500,000 units aggregating $500 million principal amount
of debentures due in 1996 with detachable warrants to purchase 34.5 million common shares. Each
warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of common stock at $14.75 until February 1991. A
portion of the proceeds from the issuance ($67.6 million) was allocated to the warrants and recorded as
additional paid-in capital. As of December 31, 1989, 9,835 shares had been issued upon exercise of the

warrants.

The Corporation issued $1.2 billion and $1.3 billion of medium-term notes in 1989 and 1988,
respectively, at an average cost of 8.70 percent and 8.65 percent, respectively. Medium-term notes may
be fixed rate, floating rate or zero coupon with maturities ranging from one day to thirty years. Interest
and principal may be payable in U.S. dollars or a foreign currency. Medium-term notes totaling
$0.1 billion are redeemable at par at the option of the Corporation beginning in 1994.

The Corporation may call for the conversion of the exchangeable debentures at any time on or prior
to March 15, 1991, in which case the debenture holders have two options. They may accept the
conversion and receive ten shares of adjustable-rate preferred stock, series A, for each $1,000 principal
amount of exchangeable debentures. Alternatively, they may reject the call for conversion by extending
the maturity date of those debentures to March 15, 1994. The Corporation may call for the conversion
only once and only on the entire issue.

The subordinated capital debentures due in 1997 and 2002 are redeemable at par, in whole or in
part, at the option of the Corporation, on any interest payment date.

The subordinated convertible capital debentures are convertible into 0.2 million shares of common
stock at a price of $6.54 per share, subject to adjustment in certain events. These debentures are
redeemable at par, at the option of the Corporation. During 1989, 1988, and 1987, $9.7 million,
$1.4 million, and $1.1 million of debentures were converted into common stock.
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Stockholders’ Equity

On September 19, 1989, the Board of Directors authorized a three-for-one split of the Corporation’s
common stock and common stock warrants effective in October 1989. All the Corporation’s employee
stock-related plans were adjusted to reflect the split.

Transactions in common stock, additional paid-in capital, retained earnings, and treasury stock for
the years 1987, 1988, and 1989 are summarized as follows:

Number of Additional Total
Shares Common Paid-in Retained Treasury Stockholders’
Outstanding(1) Stock Capital Eu'nin? (2) Stock Equity
(Dollars in thousands)

Balance, January 1, 1987....... 73,761,885 $461,026 $451,651 $ 269,432 $ (21)8$1,182,088
New shares issued ......... /8,000,000 50,000 324,400 — - 374,400
Shares repurchased ........ (3,271,200) —_ — —_ (98,752) (98,752)
Conversions of convertible

debentures .............. 54,655 342 737 — — 1,079
Treasury stock issued for

stock options and benefit

plans................... 180,388 658 31 —_ 3,589 4,278
Accrual for stock »

appreciation rights ...... —_ — 187 — — 187
Netincome ............... —_ — —_ 375,924 —_ 375,924
Dividends................. — — — (28,689) — (28,689)

Balance, December 31, 1987 .... 78,725,728 512,026 777,006 616,667 (95,184) 1,810,515
Shares repurchased . ... .... (231,600) — —_ —_ (6,913) (6,913)
Conversions of convertible

debentures .............. 71,405 446 966 - — 1,412
Treasury stock issued for

stock options and benefit .

plans................... 96,620 351 2,374 - 1,060 3,785
Accrual for stock ,

appreciation rights ...... —_ —_ 1,315 — — 1,315
Netincome ............... —_ — — 506,708 — 506,708
Dividends................. —_ — — (56,517) — (56,517)

Balance, December 31, 1988.... 78,662,153 512,823 781,661 1,066,858 (101,037) 2,260,305

Three-for-one stock split ... 157,324,306 4,123 (4,123) - —
Conversions of convertible
debentures.............. 1,481,388 3,090 6,660 —_ —_ 9,750

Treasury stock issued for

stock options and benefit

plans ................... 1,412,300 — 674 — 13,661 14,335
Stock warrants exercised . .. 5,835 21 125 — —_ 146
Tax benefit for 1988

Employee Stock Purchase

Plan ................... —_ — 2,437 — -— 2,437
Net income ............... —_ —_ — 807,344 - 807,344
Dividends................. — — — (103,110) — (103,110)

Balance, December 31, 1989 .... 238,889,982 $520,057 $787,434 $1,771,092 $ (87,376)$2,991,207
mmmm——— s SmmmmImmee Seesommmess seeseeeom—s | Semmemm—ouT

(1) Number of shares at December 31, 1987 ;uid 1988 reflect a pre-split basis.

(2) The balance of retained earnings as of January 1, 1987 was restated by a reduction of
$411 million to reflect the retroactive implementation of FAS 91.
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Pursuant to the Corporation’s Charter Act and related regulations, approval of HUD is required
prior to the 1ssuance of any stock of the Corporation or securnties convertible into stock. The
Corporation 18 authorized to issue a maximum of 4,500,000 shares of adjustable-rate preferred stock.
series A, $100 stated value. These shares may be issued only in exchange for the 12.50 percent
exchangeable debentures due 1991. No such shares have been issued.

The Federal National Mortgage Association Stock Compensation Plan was adopted for key
employees in 1987 and superseded previously existing plans of a similar nature Under this plan,
performance awards may be granted within an award period, which can range from three to five years.
The performance awards become actual awards only if the Corporation attains the financial goals set for
the award penod. At the end of such time, the awards generally are payable one-half 1n common stock
and one-half in cash. The contingent grants made for the 1990-1992, 1989-1991, and 1988-1990 award
penods were 122,600, 313,751, and 430,500 performance shares, respectively. Stock options also may be
granted under this plan. The options do not become exercisable until at least one year after the grant
date and generally expire ten years from the grant date. The purchase price of the common stock covered
by each option is equal to the fair market value of the stock on the date the option 1s granted.

The summary of stock option activity that follows includes options granted under the Stock
Compensation Plan and the previous stock option pian.

Number
of Shares Ovption Price
Balance, January 1. 1987 . ; 1,772,855 § 4.94-812.02
Granted in 1987 . 364,950 $ 9.44-314.40
Less: Exercised in 1987 (292.641) $ 4.94-% 7.98
Terminated 1n 1987 ] (239,535) & 4.94-$11.36
Balance, December 31, 1987 . T, 1.605,729 $ 5.38-314.40
Granted 1n 1988 .- 443,160 $11.98-$15.75
Less: Exercised 1n 1988 . (213,213) $ 5.38-$13.54
Terminated in 1988 (51.933) § 7.98-$12.02
Balance, December 31, 1988 . 1.783,683 § 5.38-$15.75
Granted in 1989 218,550 $40.56
Less: Exercised in 1989 {422 482) $ 5.38-$15.75
Terminated m 1989 . . (57,720) $ 9.44-$15.75
Balance, December 31, 1989 . 1,522,031 § 5.38-$40.56

At December 31, 1989 and 1988, stock options on 482,639 shares and 616,011 shares, respectively,
were exercisable.

In 1989, 4,173 shares of restnicted stock (12,000 in 1988) were awarded, 1ssued, and placed in
escrow under the Stock Compensation Plan and the Restricted Stock Plan for Directors, 16,404 shares
were recovered upon termination of nonvested participants, and 53,037 shares were released as vesting of
participants occurred. Compensation expense is being recorded over the vesting penod of the stock as

services are performed.

The Corporation has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan that allows the Corporation to issue up to
9,000,000 shares of common stock to qualified employees at a price equal to 85 percent of the fair market
value of the stock on the first day of the period in which employvees can elect to purchase the stock. In
1989, the Corporation granted each employee, excluding certain officers, the right to purchese in
January 1990 up to 900 shares of stock. Under the 1989 offening, 1,514.490 shares were purchased at
$14.27 per share compared with 955,350 shares purchased in 1989 at $9.08 per share under the plan’s
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1938 offering. The Board of Directors has approved a sumilar offering in 1890 for Fannie Mae employees
that limits the number of shares to 300 per ehigible employee at & price of $25.71 per share.

In 1987, the Corporation adopted an Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) for qualified non-
officer emplovees. The Corporation may contribute to the ESOP an amount based on defined earnings
goals, not to exceed 4 percent of the aggregate base salary for all participants. The contribution 15 made
in the subsequent year either in shares of Fanme Mae common stock or cash that is used to purchase
such stock. In 1989, the Corporation contributed $1.2 million to the ESOP and accrued $1.8 million that

w11l be contributed 1n 1990.

Investments

Investments are recorded at cost, which approximates market. A summary of 1nvestments held at
December 31 follows.

1089 1988

(Dollars 1n millions)

Federal funds (over 90 days) . . $5,158 $4,125
Asuset-backed secunties 1,107 481
Municipal bonds . 109 469
Other 282 214
Total . $6,656 $5,289

Income Taxes

Deferred federal income tax expense relating to timing differences consists of the following:

1989 1988 1987
(Dollare in millions)

Deferred commitment fees $ 22 $ 28 $ 76
Amortization of purchase chscount {59) {(72) 10
Losses (gamns) on dispositions of mortgages 10 (3 (16)
Proviston for losses . (58) (63) (89)
Risk management activities 17 {(24) 10
Benefits from tax-advantaged investments 13 13 14
Systems deveiopment costs . . — — (8)
QOther items, net . (6) {6) (8)
Total provision for deferred federal income taxes $(61) $(129) $(11)

The effective tax rates differ from the statutory rates as follows:

1988 1988 1887

Statutory corporate rate 34% 34% 40%
T'ax exempt interest and dividends receirved deductions . . LR (10) 6)
Effective rate . . . - 27% _24%  34%

The Corporation 1s exempt from state and local taxes, with the exception of real estate taxes. The
(lorporation made federal income tax payments of $222 million, $257 mllion, and $429 million in 1989,
1988, and 1987, respectively.
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In December 1987, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 1ssued Financial Accounting Stan-
dard No. 96 (“FAS 96”), which requires an asset and liability approach, as opposed to the income
statement approach, to financial accounting and reporting for income taxes. FAS 96 supersedes APB
Opinion No. 11 and is effective for fiscal years beginning in 1992. Because of unresolved tax issues, 1t 18
not possible at this time to determine if FAS 96, when adopted, will have a matenal effect on Fannie

Mae.
The Internal Revenue Service has completed its examinations of the Corporation’s federal mncome
tax returns through the year 1985. All 1ssues raised m years prior to 1979 have been settied.

With respect to the years 1979 through 1982, the U.S Tax Court ruled in March 1988 in the
Corporation’s favor on an 18sue relating to concurrent mortgage sales and for the IRS on an issue relating
to resale/refinance transactions. Both sides in the suit have appealed the decision, with oral arguments
held in January 1990. Even if the Corporation should lose both issues on appeal, which management
does not expect, there would be no material adverse mmpact on financial condition or results of
operations. The Corporation has paid all amounts assessed and the associated accrued interest on both

deficiencies.

The IRS has proposed certamn adjustments for the years 1983 through 1985. In the opwion of
management, the proposed adjustments will not have a material adverse impact on financial condtion or
results of operations. The years 1986 through 1989 are subject to IRS audit.

Retirement Plans

All regular, full-time employees of the Corporation are covered by the Corporation’s noncontributory
retirement plan or by the contnbutory Civil Service Retirement Law. Benefits payable under the
corporate plan are based on years of service and compensation using the average pay during three
consecutive highest paid years of empioyment. The Corporation’s policy 1s to fund the pension expense
accrued each year, up to the contribution that would be tax deductible for the year. Contnbutions to the
plan reflect benefits attributed to employees’ service to Hate as well as services expected to be earned in
the future. Plan assets consist prnimarily of listed stocks, fixed-income secunties, cash, and other liquid
assets. )

The following table sets forth the corporate retirement plan’s funded status and amounts recognized
in the Corporation's financial statements at December 31, 1989 and 1988:

1888 1988
(Dollars in milljons)
Actuanal present value of benefit obligations:
Accumulated benefit obhgation, inciuding vested benefits of
$23.9 milhon ($19.8 million 1n 1988) . $(29 4) $(24.2)
Projected benefit obligation for services rendered to date . $(607) $(49.2)
Plan assets at fair value ; 74.5 65.5
Excess of plan assets over the projected benefit obligation. 13.8 16.3
Unrecognized net gein from past expenence different from that
assumed and effects of changes in assumptions {(4.3) (3.3)
Unrecognized pnor service costs 2.1 1.7
Unrecogmzed net transition asset recognized over 18.25 years (17.1) (18.3)
Pension hability included 1n other liabilities % (5.5) $ (3.6)
Net pension cost included the following components:
Service cost-benefits earned dunng the period $ 5.2 $ 47
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation . .. 4.3 3.5
Actual return on plan assets. .. . . (9.7) (11.0)
Net amortization and deferral .. . . 2.1 4.4
Net periodic pension cost . . $& 19 $ 186
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The weighted-average discount rate and rate of increase in future compensation levels used for
determining the actuarial present value of the projected benefit obligation were 7.5 percent and 7.0
percent, respectively, in both 1989 and 1988. The expected long-term rate of return on assets was 10
percent m both years. The Corporation uses the straight-line method of amortization for pror service

costs and unrecogmzed gains and losses.

All regular, full-time employees of the Corporation are eligible to participate m the Corporation’s
Thnft and Savings Plan, which includes a 401 (k) option. Employees may contnbute up to the lesser of
i 2 percent of their base salary or the current annual dollar cap established and revised annually by the
IRS, with the Corporation matching such contributions up to 3 percent. The Corporation contributed
$2.2 million in 1989, compared with $2 1 million 1n 1988 and $1.7 mallion 1n 1987

The Corporation also has an Executive Pension Plan, which supplements for key senior officers the
benefits payable under the retirement plan. Estimated benefits under the supplementary plan are
accrued as an expense over the penod of employment. Accrued benefits are funded through a trust.

In February 1989, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued an Exposure Draft on
“Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions” The draft standard
requires that the cost of retiree medical and other benefits be accrued over employees’ working lives.
Most firms, ncluding Fannie Mae, currently record the cost of non-pension retiree benefits as they are
paid. For Fanme Mae, these costs totaled less than $1 million for each of the vears 1987 through 1989.
The draft standard requires a phased-in implementation beginning in 1992 and ending tn 1997 Because
of the relatively small size of the Corporation’s workforce 1n relation to 1ts assets and ncome,
management does not expect that future implementation of the final standard will have a material

aclverse effect on earnings.



FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

The foliowing unaudited results of operations include, in the opinion of management, all adjust-
ments necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations for such penods.

Net interest income

Guaranty fees . ...

Gamn on sales of mortgages
Miscellaneous income, net
Prowision for losses
Administrative expenses

Income before federal income taxes
Provision for federal income taxes

Net income

Per share: (1)
Earmings (fully diluted) (2)
Cash dividends

Net interest income
Guaranty fees . . .
Gain on sales of mortgages
Miscelianeous income, net
Prowvision for losses
Administrative expenses

Income before federal income taxes
Provision for federal income taxes
Net income
Per share: (1)

Earmings (fully diluted)

Cash dividends

1989 Quarter Ended

December September June March
{Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)
$ 352 $ 302 ¥ 284 $ 2563
111 104 99 94
3 3 — 3
10 22 20 8
{75) {75) (80) (80)
(74) (B63) (61) (56)
327 293 262 222
(90) (81) (69} {57)
$ 237 $ 212 $193 $ 165
$0 90 30.80 30.75 $0.66
14 .11 10 .08
1988 Quartier Ended
December September June March
(Doilars 1n millions, except per share amounts}
$ 240 $ 217 $ 209 $171
89 84 80 75
1 — 2 9
19 17 16 17
{85) (90} (95) (95)
{60) (55) {54) {49)
204 173 158 128
{b1) (41) (37) (27)
£153 $ 132 $121 $101
$0.63 $0.55 $0.51 $0.42
.08 06 06 .04

(1) Per share amounts reflect a three-for-one stock split that occurred 1in October 1989,

(2) The total of the four quarters does not equal the amount for the year because the amount for
each period 18 calculated independently based on the weighted-average number of shares

outstanding during that perod.

C-20



FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{Unaudited)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Interest income
Interest expense

Net interest mncome

Guaranty fees .

Gain on sales of mortgages
Miscellaneous 1- come, net
Provision for losses

Administrative expenses

Income before federal income taxes
Provision for federal income taxes

Net income

Earnings per share.
Primary
Fully diluted

(*ash dividends per share

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET

Assets
Mortgage portfolio, net
Other assets.
Total assets
Liabilities
Debentures, notes, and bonds, net:
Due within one year
Due after one year
Other liabilities .
Total habilities ... ...--
Stockholders’ equity .. .

Total habilities and stockholders’ equity
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Nine Months
Ended
September 30,

1980 1989

{Dollars 1o millions, except per

ghare amounts)

$8,995 $8,164

_1.8117 _1.325

1,178 839

388 297

5 6

83 50

(230) (235)

(209) (180)
1,215

&

—
o ke 3
-3 |S -1
O =3 =3

—

September 30,
1980

{ Dollars 1n millions)

$110,939
17,416

$128,355

$ 35,428
83,398
5,802
124,628
3,727

$128,355
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Nine Months
Ended September 30,
1990 1989
(Doilars 1n millions)
Net cash provided by operating activities: $ 1,323 & 1.120
Cash flows from 1investing activities
Purchases of mortigages (17.258) (14,708}
Sales of mortgages 4975 2.303
Mortgage principal repayments, net of discount 9,011 7,910
Net increase 1n other investments . (711) (649)
Net cash used by mvesting activities . {3.933) (5.144)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash proceeds from 13suance of debt . 70,263 52.953
Cash payments to retire debt (67,726) (46,823)
Other {133) (66)
Net cash provided by financing activities 2404 6.064
Net mcrease (decrease} 1 cash and cash equivalents (256) 2,040
Cash and cash equivaients at beginning of penod 5.214 2,859
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 4958 % 4.899

NOTES TO INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles for intenm firancial information. Accordingly, they do not
include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for
complete financial statements. In the opimon of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal
recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included Operating results for
the nine months ended September 30, 1990 are not necessanly indicative of the results that may be
expected for the vear ending December 31, 18990 For further information. refer to the audited financial
statements and notes to financial statements that are presented elsewhere herein

Commitments and Contingencies
The Corporation had outstanding commitments to purchase mortgages and to 1ssue MBS as shown

below"
September 30,

1990
(Dollars 1n billions)
Commitments to purchase mortgages:
Mandatory delivery . 3 2.1
Lender option 8.0
Commitments to 1ssue MBS:
Mandatory delivery
Lender option 6
Master commitments(1) . 3

ww o,
bt et

.

(1) Under a master commitment, & lender must convert to either a mandatory delivery MBS or
portfolio commitment with the yield established at the time of conversion.
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The Corporation also guarantees timely payment of principal and nterest on outstanding MBS as
summarized below:

September 30,
19980
{ Dolliars in billions)
Total outstanding .. . ] $281.8
Amount for which the Corporation has primary foreclosure loss nisk{1)"
Conventional .. 174.5
Government-insured or guaranteed 10.2

{1) The Corporation, however, assumes the ultunate risk of loss on all MBS.

Earnings Per Share

The weighted-average number of common shares outstanding used to compute fully diluted earnings
per share were 261.9 million and 263.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 1990 and 1989,

respectively.
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